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Resulting from the Department for Child Protection and Family 
Support becoming a part of the Department of Communities 
from 1July 2017, this is the Final Report for the Department 
for Child Protection and Family Support. This report is a way 
for us to inform Parliament and the public about our activities, 
challenges and performance in 2016-17.

In this Final Report you will find information about the Department 
for Child Protection and Family Support and the services we 
provided, or contracted to community sector organisations, to 
support children and families in Western Australia throughout 
2016-17. 

The report provides information about our staff and their 
professional development and details how the Department was 
governed. It provides information about our performance as 
measured against key indicators, as well as a comprehensive 
statement of our financials. 

Please note that although the Department for Child Protection 
and Family Support ceased on 30 June 2017, many of its 
goals and services continued. As a result, the present tense is 
sometimes used to describe goals and services throughout the 
report. 

This and previous annual reports for the Department for Child 
Protection and Family Support are available on the Department of 
Communities website: https://www.communities.wa.gov.au/ 

On request, we can deliver this report in an alternative format.

We welcome your feedback or suggestions about the reporting 
of child protection and family support activities. 

 

Welcome to our report

Acknowledgement of country and peoples 
We acknowledge the Aboriginal and 

torres Strait Islander peoples as traditional 

custodians of this land and pay respect 

to elders past, present, and future. 

We recognise the long history of Aboriginal 

and torres Strait Islander peoples on this 

land and acknowledge that the past is 

not just the past. the past, the present 

and the future are, as they always are, 

part of each other – bound together.
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responsible minister 
The Honourable Simone Frances McGurk was the Minister 
for Child Protection on 30 June 2017.

enabling legislation
The Minister for Child Protection is responsible for 
administering the following Acts and Regulations:

 y Adoption Act 1994

 y Adoption Regulations 1995

 y Children and Community Services Act 2004

 y Children and Community Services Regulations 2006

 y Working with Children (Criminal Record Checking) Act 
2004

 y Working with Children (Criminal Record Checking) 
Regulations 2005.

review of the children and 
community services Act 2004 
The Children and Community Services Act 2004 (the Act) 
was first reviewed in 2012 and further statutory review 
was required in 2017. A Review of the Children and 
Community Services Act 2004 Consultation Paper was 
released in December 2016 and interested individuals, 
service providers and other stakeholders were invited to 
provide submissions as part of the review process. The 
Review’s terms of reference are to examine the operation 
and effectiveness of the Act and in particular: 

1. changes to support the introduction of consistent 
high-quality foster carer standards through a single 
decision-maker for approvals and revocations;

2. the principles relating to Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander children in sections 12 to 14 and the 
consultation requirement in section 81;

3. any changes necessary to support the safety and 
wellbeing of adults and children subject to family and 
domestic violence;

4. the provisions relating to secure care arrangements 
for children at high-risk; and

5. issues relating to the intersection between child 
protection proceedings under Part 5 of the Act and 
proceedings in the Family Court.

We have received 37 written submissions and have 
undertaken community consultations to help inform the 
Review. A final report of the Review will be tabled in 
Parliament before the end of 2017.

purpose

outcomes

priorities

vAlues

our vision

A Western Australian child protection and family 
support system that works together so that:

 y Vulnerable children and young people are safe, 
thriving and valued by society.  

 y Children and young people who have 
experienced abuse and neglect receive quality 
responses to address their safety needs and 
prevent abuse from recurring.

 y Individuals and families who are in crisis are 
supported to overcome their circumstances and 
live safe and fulfilled lives.

strategic plan 2016-2019

OUR 
vision

our minister AnD legislAtion

strAtegies
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our purpose

To enable children and young people in the CEO’s care to live in safe, stable and nurturing 
environments, supporting them to achieve good life outcomes; to protect children and young 
people from abuse and neglect; and to support families and individuals who are at risk or in 
crisis.

our outcomes

our priorities
strengthening our capability 

 y Maintain a well-trained, flexible and diverse workforce, and a supportive and safe working 
environment.

 y Grow and strengthen our leadership.
 y Strengthen partnerships with government agencies and community sector service providers.
 y Use innovation and emerging technologies to deliver our services more effectively.

sustaining and building on our foundations

 y Maintain a strong, effective child protection and family support system.
 y Continuously improve programs and services to align with the needs of children and young 

people, families and individuals most at risk.
 y Grow and strengthen our learning capabilities.

 

meeting our challenges

 y Reduce the over-representation, and better meet the needs of Aboriginal children and families 
in the child protection system.

 y Provide an out-of-home care system that is responsive, meets the needs of children and 
provides stable long term placements.

 y Deliver integrated responses for family and domestic violence.  
 y Provide better targeted earlier intervention responses to support families and prevent children 

entering the child protection system.

our strategies

 y Develop the Workforce and Diversity Plan 2018-2022 and the Workforce Development Strategic 5 
Year Plan.

 y Continue to implement the Delivering Community Services in Partnership Policy and establish 
collaborative planning arrangements aligned with outcomes.

 y Deliver an Information Services Strategy.

 y Celebrate and learn from our achievements.
 y Strengthen: 

 ◦ the Signs of Safety Child Protection Practice Framework;
 ◦ implementation of therapeutic care Sanctuary Framework; and
 ◦ our responses to homelessness by developing a collaboratively-designed Strategic Homelessness 

Plan.
 y Implement the recommendations of the Review of Community Sector Services Expenditure through 

collaboration and co-design.
 y Complete the Department’s internal Budget and Expenditure Review. 

 y Implement:
 ◦ the Aboriginal Services and Practice Framework 2016-2018; and 
 ◦ the Building a Better Future: Out-of-Home Care Reform plan.

 y Continue to implement Western Australia’s Family and Domestic Violence Prevention Strategy to 2022.
 y Deliver:

 ◦ the Earlier Intervention and Family Support Strategy; and 
 ◦ the District Structures and Service Delivery Functional Review recommendations.

 y Develop a strategy to strengthen our partnership and engagement with Aboriginal Community 
Controlled Organisations (ACCOs).

 y Families and individuals are assisted to overcome their risks and crises, are kept safe and are 
diverted from the child protection system.

 y Children and young people needing protection are safe from abuse and harm.
 y Children and young people in the CEO’s care receive a high quality of care and have much 

improved life outcomes.
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orgAnisAtionAl structure

Emma White 
Director General

 y Non-Government Policy 
and Funding 

 y Standards and Integrity 

 y Out of Care Unit

 y Standards Monitoring 
Unit 

 y Child Advocate 

 y Districts:  
- East Kimberley   
- Goldfields  
- Great Southern  
- Murchison  
- Peel  
- Pilbara  
- South West  
- West Kimberley  
- Wheatbelt

 y Therapeutic Care Services

 y Aboriginal Student 
Accommodation Services

 y Districts:  
- Armadale 
- Cannington 
- Fremantle 
- Joondalup 
- Midland 
- Mirrabooka 
- Perth 
- Rockingham

 y ChildFIRST and Crisis Care 

 y Service Delivery Case 
Practice Unit

 y Child Death Reviews

 y Internal Audit and Performance Review 

 y Executive Services

Executive Director 
Julieanne Davis  
1 July 2016 – 2 May 2017

Andrew Geddes  
4 May 2017 – 30 June 2017 

Executive Director 
Cheryl Barnett  
1 July 2016 – 30 January 2017

Glenn Mace  
4 May 2017 – 30 June 2017 

Executive Director 
Damien Stewart 
11 July 2016 – 30 June 2017

Executive Director 
Mandy Gadsdon  
1 July 2016 – 29 June 2017

Executive Director 
Steve Glew  
1 July 2016 – 30 June 2017

 y Emergency Services

 y Financial and Business 
Services

 y Human Resources

 y Information Services

 y Working with Children 
Screening Unit 

Community and  
Business Services

 y Strategy and Reform Unit
 y Strategic Project Management

 
 

Strategy and Reform Service Standards  
and Contracting

Country Services Metropolitan  
Services

 y Consultation and Support 
 y Aboriginal Workforce Development 
 y Government Coordination 
 y Aboriginal Program Development 
 y Aboriginal Practice Development
 y Policy 

- Children in Care  
- Child Protection 
- Individual and Family Support 
- Family and Domestic Violence Unit 

 y Information, Research and Evaluation 
 y Legal Services  
 y Learning and Development 
 y Corporate Communications  

Aboriginal Engagement and 
Coordination & Policy and 

Learning

Executive Director 
Kay Benham  
1 July 2016 – 27 January 2017

David Harrison  
28 January 2017 – 30 June 2017

The Strategy and Reform directorate was a 
temporary structure created to oversee the 
Department’s reforms. 



9  |  Department for Child Protection and Family Support

chilD protection timeline 
The Department for Child Protection and Family Support traces its roots back to the first Western Australian government department established to protect the welfare of children in 
1908. However, from the time of early settlement of the Swan River Colony during the 1800s there were many government interventions that sought to help families and children, such 
as the appointment of the Guardian of Juvenile Immigrants in 1842. From the turn of the 1900s, the Aborigines Act 1905 legalised the removal of Aboriginal children from their natural 
families and restricted the rights of Aboriginal people. The Chief Protector of Aborigines became the legal guardian of `every Aboriginal and half-caste child’ under 16 years of age. The 
impact of early settlement and the Aborigines Act 1905 led to intergenerational trauma for Aboriginal families. 

1908 public charities and state children’s 
Department
The Public Charities and State Children’s Department, the 
first government department for children’s welfare, was 
established with the State Children Act of 1907. 

1917 state children’s Department 
The State Children’s Department became one department 
to focus more on protecting children.

1927 child Welfare Department
Known as the CWD or ‘the welfare’, the Child Welfare 
Department was responsible for the welfare of children in 
out-of-home care for much of the twentieth century.

1972 Department for community Welfare 
The Department for Community Welfare was an 
amalgamation between the Child Welfare Department and 
the responsibilities of looking after Aboriginal children held 
by the Department of Native Welfare and the Commissioner 
of Native Welfare. 

1985 Department for community services
The Department for Community Services replaced the 
Department for Community Welfare following the Welfare 
and Community Services Review.

1992 Department for community 
Development
The Department for Community Services was reviewed 
by the Social Advantage Restructure Implementation 
Committee resulting in a restructure and change of name.  
The former Office of the Family was integrated into the 
Department, and the Youth Justice Bureau and its Young 
Offenders Program was transferred to the new Ministry of 
Justice.  

1995 Department for family and children’s 
services
The Department for Community Development was 
re-named following internal restructure resulting from 
recommendations of the McCarrey Report Agenda for 
Reform: Report of the Independent Commission to Review 
Public Sector Finances.

2001 Department for community 
Development
The Department for Community Development 
amalgamated the Department of Family and Children’s 
Services, the Family and Children’s Policy Office, the Office 
of Seniors’ Interests, the Women’s Policy Office and the 
Office of Youth Affairs.

2007 Department for child protection
The Department was established in response to a 
review conducted by Ms Prudence Ford in 2006, 
which recommended the establishment of a dedicated 
Department for Child Protection, with the Offices for 
Children and Youth, Seniors Interests and Volunteering, 
Women’s Policy and the Family and Domestic Violence Unit 
transferred to the Department for Communities.

2013 Department for child protection and 
family support
The Department for Child Protection added ‘Family 
Support’ to its name to better reflect its core activities and 
the agency’s functions remained unchanged.

2017 Department of communities
The Department for Child Protection and Family Support 
amalgamated with the Housing Authority, Disability Services 
Commission, Youth Justice Services from the Department 
of Corrective Services and the ‘Communities’ functions of 
the Department of Local Government and Communities.
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Welcome to the Department’s Final Report for 2016-17; 
outlining a year of significant reform and achievement. 
After 13 rewarding years of being part of this solid 
organisation, this year also marks the end of my time with 
the Department. 

I am pleased that throughout this year, the Department 
advanced a critical program of reform. These reforms 
are especially critical for Aboriginal children, families and 
communities, as over the past 10 years, the number of 
Aboriginal children in care has increased from 1,107 
in 2007 to 2,603 in 2017. Improving outcomes for 
Aboriginal children and families in the child protection 
system is an established priority. 

The Building Safe and Strong Families: Earlier Intervention 
and Family Support Strategy provides an important plan for 
how we will focus our practice, workforce and funding to 
safely reduce the need for children to enter out-of-home 
care. Achievements include the introduction of a consistent 
intake process and dedicated Intensive Family Support 
teams in each district office.

In its first year of Building a Better Future: Out-of-Home 
Care Reform in Western Australia has given rise to a 
number of impressive outcomes, including the state-wide 
introduction of the Needs Assessment Tool for children in 
care.

Amidst change, we have continued to deepen our core 
child protection practice through the Signs of Safety 
research program and the release of a Signs of Safety film, 
Keeping Children Front and Centre as an invaluable training 
resource.

Our partnerships have been critically important.  Staff 
and carer partnerships continue to improve through the 
introduction of the Care Team Approach.  Throughout 
this year of reform we have engaged and consulted our 
stakeholders at every step. Our reforms are ambitious 
and aim for system-wide shifts. We are dependent on our 
partnerships across government and the community sector 
to achieve the system changes needed to better align and 
coordinate services for vulnerable children and families, 
particularly Aboriginal families. 

Some highlights include the joint consultation held with 
the CREATE Foundation (WA) and the Commissioner for 
Children and Young People seeking the views of children in 
care on barriers to them raising complaints. The inaugural 
Young People in Care Sector Summit held with the Youth 
Affairs Council of WA and the CREATE Foundation (WA) 
was a significant achievement to give children in care a 
platform to talk about their experiences. 

performAnce overvieW
Director general’s report

emma White



11  |  Department for Child Protection and Family Support

The extensive metropolitan and regional consultations that 
were held for the Earlier Intervention and Family Support 
Strategy, the mapping of homelessness service priorities, 
the review of the Children and Community Services 
Act 2004 and the Aboriginal Community Controlled 
Organisations Strategy were also very successful.  

The year ahead invites us to further implement and 
consolidate the reforms already underway, while also 
seizing the opportunities for innovation that will arise 
from an amalgamated human services agency. The new 
Department of Communities will be more integrated, 
localised, and outcomes-focussed. Bringing human 
services together breaks down the silos that emerge in 
stand-alone organisations and will allow our clients to 
access the range of services they need through one point 
of contact. For staff, this offers a chance to enjoy diversified 
career pathways within a broader human services agency. 

Moving forward there will be a new executive leadership 
team that I know have the experience and energy needed 
to guide the Department into the future. Service integration 
will not change the fundamentals of child protection work 

Emma White 
Director General

or our focus on child and family-centred practice. The work 
we do is vital and unique and there is much opportunity to 
be seized to strengthen this focus in the future. 

We work with some of the most disadvantaged and 
vulnerable people in the State. Individuals, families and 
children that come into contact with the child protection 
system have lives full of volatility and fragility. They often 
live with an unacceptable absence of personal safety, 
a day to day experience that is not comprehensible to 
many people. Children in care are in situations not of their 
making, and their wellbeing is our highest moral and legal 
responsibility. 

I would like to thank the many foster and family carers 
across the State who have taken children into their 
care and offered them a home, nurturing, a chance to 

build meaningful relationships and have improved life 
opportunities. The role you play for our most vulnerable 
children is often difficult, but at the same time rewarding.  
You are an inspiration to us. 

Lastly, I want to thank all staff for their hard work and 
resilience. It has been a privilege being your Director 
General and to have worked alongside all of you. Your 
perseverance and efforts make a great difference. 
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Workforce overvieW
employees by equal opportunity group 

2,2402,741

Women Culturally diverse  
people

Aboriginal 
people

Young  people 
(<25 yrs)

People with 
disability

218

71%

4%

12%

12%

41.4%

11.1%

0.5%
3.2%

39.2%

4.3%
0.4%employee Distribution

The following graph shows the 
workforce distribution across each 
of the Department’s directorates.  
Approximately 32 per cent of our 
workforce was employed in regional and 
remote locations throughout the State.

employees by fte

On 30 June 2017, 83 per cent of our 
workforce were permanent full-time or 
part-time employees.  Twelve per cent 
were employed on fixed-term contract 
and approximately four per cent casual. 

fte
Full-time permanent
Part-time permanent
Fixed-term contract
Casual

Division
Office of the Director General 
Policy and Learning 
Service Standards and Contracting 
Aboriginal Engagement and Coordination
Community and Business Services 
Country Services
Metropolitan Services

464 110 50

Staff

82% 17% 8% 4% 2%
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the yeAr At A glAnce

Contacts to Crisis Care 

Homelessness service 
clients 

Hardship Utility Grant 
Scheme grants 

People helped in 
emergencies 

Responsible Parenting 
Services  

4,795

19,758

12,954

1,093

2,689

9,976

33,486

15,227

39,012

210

1,109

1,269

50,755

123,383

85,025 

194

2,762

3,874

377

Children in care 

Children with  
complex needs 

Foster carer households 

Children in foster/ 
family care 

Children in residential 
care 

Viewpoint surveys 
completed by children  
in care

Contacts to the Department

 
Child protection notifications

 
Safety and wellbeing 
assessments

 
Protection orders  
granted
 
Family and domestic 
violence incidents  
with and without children

Clients accessed family and 
domestic violence specialist 
homelessness services 

Mandatory reports

Working with Children Check 
applications 

families and individuals are assisted 
to overcome their risks and crises, are 

kept safe and are diverted from the 
child protection system

children and young people 
needing protection are safe 

from abuse and harm

children and young people in the chief 
executive officer’s (ceo’s) care receive 
a high quality of care and have much 

improved life chances

!

!

!
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Demand for child protection services in Western Australia 
continues to grow:

• In 2016-17, we responded to 19,758 notifications 
relating to 18,438 children at risk of abuse and harm; 
an increase of 2.58 per cent from the preceding year. 

• Increasing community awareness of family and 
domestic violence has created a sharp rise in reports 
to the Department. In both the 2015-16 and 2016-
17 financial years over 50,000 incidents of family 
and domestic violence were reported to us,  
an increase of 25 per cent since 2014-15. 

In addition, an increasing number of children are being 
placed in care for their safety:

• The number of children in out-of-home care has 
increased from 2,630 in 2007 to 4,795 in 2017;  
an 82 per cent increase.   

• The number of Aboriginal children entering care 
has been growing at a much higher rate than non–
Aboriginal children. On 30 June 2017 there were 
4,795 children living in out-of-home care in Western 
Australia; 54.3 per cent of these children were 
Aboriginal. 

Children are entering care earlier, staying longer and 
exhibiting increasingly complex behaviours. There is extra 
pressure on the capacity of the Department, and the 
community services sector, to recruit and support foster 
carers.  The pressure is particularly notable for Aboriginal 
children who are mostly cared for by extended family 
members, who need wide-ranging supports and services. 

To address these significant issues, the Department has 
spent the past two years undergoing the most significant 
period of review and reform since 2007.  These reforms 
centre on two strategic priorities:

• Earlier and more targeted supports to Aboriginal 
children and families to prevent Aboriginal children 
from entering care.

• More effective supports for children in out-of-home 
care to improve their life outcomes.

The in-progress reforms involve far-reaching changes to 
the Department’s operations and structure.  They aim to 
create system-wide shifts and rely on partnerships across 
government and the community sector, to better align and 

coordinate services to high risk children and families with 
multiple and complex needs, particularly Aboriginal families.  

Following the election of a new State government in 2017, 
the Department began planning to implement various 
election commitments including: 

• Eight new family and domestic violence initiatives and 
services and becoming a member of the national Our 
Watch program.

• An Aboriginal short-stay facility in Broome 
(procurement phase).

• Target 120 - a scheme targeting the most prolific 
120 juvenile offenders by applying assertive outreach 
to address family dysfunction.

The implementation of these election commitments 
amidst a period of wide-ranging reforms requires intensive 
across-agency planning, consultation, coordination and risk 
management. 

significAnt issues impActing on the Agency
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Government goal Agency Level Outcomes Services

Greater focus on achieving results in key 
service delivery areas for the benefit of all 
Western Australians.

Families and individuals are assisted to overcome their 
risks and crises, are kept safe and are diverted from the 
child protection system.

Children and young people needing protection are safe 
from abuse and harm.

Children and young people in the Chief Executive 
Officer’s (CEO’s) care receive a high quality of care and 
have much improved life chances.

1.  Homelessness Services
2.  Responsible Parenting Services
3.  At Risk Youth Services
4.  Family Support Services

5.  Family and Domestic Violence Services
6.  Working with Children Checks
7.  Child Protection Assessments and  

Investigations
8.  Child Centred Family Support Services

9.  Care Arrangements for Children in the 
CEO’s Care

10.  Support Services for Children in the CEO’s 
Care

performAnce mAnAgement frAmeWork

The Western Australian government aims to deliver services for the benefit of all community members.  Government agencies fulfil this core goal of government through an Outcome 
Based Management (OBM) framework, which contains the outcomes they aim to achieve and the services they provide to achieve them.  The Department focuses on achieving three 
outcomes and, to achieve these outcomes, provides services to the community under ten key service areas.

This reporting framework is measured through the following Key Performance Indicators.
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key performAnce inDicAtors summAry

outcome: Families and individuals are assisted to overcome their risks and crises,  
are kept safe and are diverted from the child protection system

Key effectiveness indicators:

Key efficiency indicators:

Percentage of clients with some or all goals achieved at the completion of a homelessness service support 
period 

Percentage of Parent Support clients who demonstrated positive gains in their parenting skills that resulted in 
improved child behaviour

Average cost per homelessness client

Average cost per Responsible Parenting case

Average cost per at risk youth client

Target (1) Actual Variance (2)

85%

80%

$11,040

84%

79%

$12,533

 1%

1%

 $1,493
 $50

Percentage of at risk youth clients who reported that their needs were met as a result of receiving services 90% 89% 1%
Percentage of family support service clients who reported confidence to manage as a result of receiving services 95% 94% 1%

Average cost per family support case  $525

$3,713 $3,329  $384

$933
$1,495

$983
$970

(1) As specified in the 2016-17 Budget Statements.
(2) Material variations greater than or equal to ten per cent are described in greater detail in section 4 of this report.
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(1) As specified in the 2016-17 Budget Statements.
(2) Material variations greater than or equal to ten per cent are described in greater detail in section 4 of this report.

2%

 $90

outcome: Children and young people needing protection are safe from abuse and harm

Key effectiveness indicators:

Key efficiency indicators:

Improved safety – Proportion of clients who were assessed and received a response as a result of a family and 
domestic violence (FDV) incident and did not require another FDV related response within 12 months

Proportion of Working with Children Cards issued within 30 days of lodgement where the applicant had no 
criminal record

Average cost per family and domestic violence services client

Average cost per Working with Children Check application processed

Average cost per Working with Children Check screening completed

Target (1) Actual Variance (2)

90%

90%

$44

76%

98%

$37

 14%

8%

 $7
 $14

Proportion of decisions finalised within 60 days where the applicant for a Working with Children Card had a 
criminal record 90% 97% 7%
Improved safety – Proportion of children not subject to a subsequent substantiation of harm within 12 months of 
a previous substantiation of harm 95% 90%

2%

Average cost per child involved in child protection case

$3,639 $3,488  $151

$66
$4,299

$52
$4,389

Improved safety – Proportion of children not subject to a substantiation of harm 12 months after an assessment 
of harm that was unsubstantiated 95% 93%
Proportion of children who received a Child Centred Family Support (CCFS) service and did not enter care within 
12 months of service completion 90% 88%

5%

Average cost per child centred family support service  $1,251$8,546 $9,797
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 $207

Key efficiency indicators:

Average cost per day of a foster care arrangement

Average cost per day of a residential care living arrangement

Average cost per day of an exceptionally complex needs care living arrangement

$1,235 $1,535  $300
 $370

Average cost per day of a secure care living arrangement

$123 $123  $0

$1,987
$3,541

$1,617
$3,748

Average cost per day to plan for and support a child in the CEO’s care  $3$52 $55

outcome: Children and young people in the CEO’s care receive a high quality  
of care and have much improved life chances

Key effectiveness indicators:

Proportion of Aboriginal children in the CEO’s care placed in accordance with the Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander child placement principle

Proportion of children and young people in care who felt safe in their care arrangement

Target (1) Actual Variance (2)

80%

95%

64%

96%

 16%

1%
Proportion of children in the CEO’s care with comprehensive care planning undertaken within set timeframes 90% 80% 10%
Proportion of children and young people in care who felt supported in their care arrangement 90% 83% 7%

(1) As specified in the 2016-17 Budget Statements.
(2) Material variations greater than or equal to ten per cent are described in greater detail in section 4 of this report.
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Total cost of services (expense limit) 
(details from Statement of Comprehensive Income)

640,173 643,054  2,881

Net cost of services 
(details from Statement of Comprehensive Income)

594,386 591,505  2,881

Total equity 
(details from Statement of Financial Position)

153,441 154,963  1,522

Agreed salary expense level 218,183 215,682  2,501

Actual Variation (2)Target (1)

$’000 $’000 $’000

(1) As specified in the 2016-17 Budget Statements, except for the agreed salary expense level, which is specified in the Department’s 
Resource Agreement.

(2) Further explanations are contained in Note 39 ‘Explanatory Statement’ of the financial statements on pages 123-127.

finAnciAl results summAry 

financial targets

total and net cost of services
The Department’s approved total cost of services was revised during the year to $644.686 million, due primarily 
to additional funding increases of:

 y $2.639 million following the revised timeframes for the 2015-16 Commonwealth payments under the 
National Partnership Agreement on Pay Equity for the Social Community Service Sector;

 y $1.048 million in additional Commonwealth funding for the Women’s Safety Package under the National 
Initiatives Program; and

 y $0.932 million due to the October 2016 transfer of five youth drop-in centres previously contracted by the 
Department of Corrective Services.

These increases, along with the higher expenditure arising 
from the significant increase in the number of Hardship 
Utility Grants Scheme (HUGS) grants, was partially offset by 
the lower than anticipated expenditure in community sector 
child placement services.

The variance of $2.881 million in the net cost of services 
was due to the above movements in the total cost of 
services as well as a higher than anticipated increase in 
other revenue due to the return of unspent funds from 
2015-16 contracted services. 

total equity
The $1.522 million variance in the Department’s total 
equity was primarily due to lower expenditure resulting 
in a higher than anticipated accumulated surplus being 
achieved, offset by a reduction in reserves due to the 
devaluation of property assets.

Agreed salary expense level
The Department’s 2016-17 salary expense level was 
$2.501 million under the agreed target due to the 
unexpected delays in filling vacancies that occurred during 
the 2015-16 recruitment freeze and from the restructure 
of the Responsible Parenting Service. The Department’s 
targeted scheme to reduce excess accrued leave over a 
two-year period also contributed to salary expense savings. 
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Agreed working cash limit  
(at Budget) 31,440 31,440           N/A

Agreed working cash limit  
(at Actual) 31,654 19,400 12,254

Target (a) / 
Actual (b) Variation

Agreed 
Limit

(a) Target reflects the anticipated working cash as specified in the 2016-17 Budget Statements.
(b) Actual reflects the actual working cash held at the close of the 2016-17 financial year.

$’000 $’000 $’000

Agreed working cash limit

Agencies are required to operate within an agreed cash 
limit defined as five per cent of budgeted cash payments. 

The Department’s working cash was within the agreed 
working cash limit at 30 June 2017.
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Agency 
performAnce 
outcome:  fAmilies 
AnD inDiviDuAls 
Are AssisteD to 
overcome their 
risks AnD crises, 
Are kept sAfe 
AnD Are DiverteD 
from the chilD 
protection system
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In this Outcome Area we report on the following four 
service areas:

 y Homelessness Services. 

 y Responsible Parenting Services. 

 y At Risk Youth Services.

 y Family Support Services.

These services are ordered in accordance with our 
Outcome Based Management Framework. We also provide 
an update to the Building Safe and Strong Families: Earlier 
Intervention and Family Support Strategy. The strategy has 
driven significant reforms in these service areas.

We launched the Earlier Intervention and Family Support 
Strategy in September 2016. The Strategy: 

 y Reprioritises the provision of earlier and more intensive 
support to the families most at risk of their children 
coming into care, especially Aboriginal families. 

 y Aims to divert families from having contact with the child 
protection system and safely reduce the number of 
children entering out-of-home care. 

Informed by a number of reviews and consultations, the 
Strategy involves large-scale interdependent projects and 
reforms to many of our services, especially those in this 

performance outcome area. Our reviews and consultations 
consistently found support for realigning the delivery of 
services with more collaborative efforts across government 
and the community services sector. This in turn can 
improve outcomes for children and families through 
targeted investment, culturally secure practice and shared 
outcomes measurement. 

A key initiative of the Earlier Intervention and Family 
Support Strategy is the development of a shared outcomes 
framework for all earlier intervention and family support 
programs in Western Australia. The shared outcomes 
framework for the government and community sector 
organisations aims to refocus resources towards achieving 
outcomes to improve the lives of the most vulnerable 
families in the community. This project was established 
under the auspices of the Western Australian Partnership 
Forum. In the second half of 2016, two across-sector 
workshops were attended by senior representatives from 
government, community and peak body organisations, to 
decide on a set of high-level outcomes and generate ideas 
for indicators and measures.

In December 2016, three service-user consultations also 
provided feedback from Aboriginal parents, family and 
community members, Aboriginal service workers and 
young people with a lived experience of out-of-home-care. 
Work on the outcomes framework is ongoing in 2017. 

We have been committed to developing 
a culturally competent service system 
which is safe and responsive to the needs 
of Aboriginal families. This was being 
progressed through a range of strategies 
including: 

 y Building the capacity of Aboriginal 
Community Controlled Organisations 
to increase their opportunity to deliver 
contracted child protection and earlier 
intervention and family support services 
to their communities. 

 y Workforce development plans to recruit 
Aboriginal staff.

 y Increasing the cultural competence of 
all staff to work with Aboriginal families. 
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An Earlier Intervention and Family 
Support Strategy Discussion 
Paper was released early in 2016 
and found overwhelming support 
amongst our stakeholders for 
prioritising earlier intervention 
and family support services to 
vulnerable Aboriginal families to 
reduce the number of Aboriginal 

children entering care.

We launched the Building Safe and Strong Families: Earlier 
Intervention and Family Support Strategy (the Strategy) 
in September 2016. The Strategy aims to divert families 
from the child protection system and to safely reduce the 
number of children entering out-of-home care, especially 
Aboriginal children. 

While most Aboriginal families in the State are thriving, 
there are a significant number struggling with structural 
disadvantage and intergenerational poverty, trauma and 
abuse. As a result, a significant number of Aboriginal 
people are experiencing poor life outcomes, including the 
unacceptably high number of Aboriginal children in contact 
with the child protection system. Despite comprising only 
6.3 per cent of the child population in the State, Aboriginal 
children account over 50 per cent of children in care 
(including approximately one in ten Aboriginal children in 
the metropolitan area). 

 The Strategy focusses on four key areas:

1.  Delivering shared outcomes through collective effort – 
A system that is aligned and accountable to achieving 
shared outcomes for vulnerable families, with a focus 
on Aboriginal children and families. 

2.  A culturally competent service system –  
A system that is safe and responsive to the needs of 
Aboriginal families. 

3.  Diverting families from the child protection system –  
A system that identifies families that are vulnerable to 
involvement with the statutory child protection system, 
and provides early and intensive support.

4.  Preventing children entering out-of-home care –  
A system that prioritises and aligns the Department’s 
workforce and resources to prevent the most 
vulnerable children from entering out-of-home care.

Through this Strategy, and an allocated $21 million 
for its implementation over four years, we are working 
toward system-level redesign. In the past 12 months, we 
started large-scale interdependent reforms to many of the 
Department’s service areas including:

 y Realigning the Department’s workforce to develop a 
consistent central intake process, creating dedicated 
Intensive Family Support teams in each district office, 
and strengthening existing family support programs, 
such as Best Beginnings.

 y Redesigning enhanced Family Support Networks to 
provide intensive case management and co-ordination 
for families vulnerable to involvement with the child 
protection system.

 y Developing a Shared Outcomes Framework for 
the government and community sector to focus on 
achieving joint outcomes for the most vulnerable families 
in the community.

 y Planning towards improved District Leadership Groups 
or local human service manager forums to better identify 
and refer vulnerable families for intensive and tailored 
support services.

 y Designing four new pilot Aboriginal In-Home Practical 
Support Services in partnership with Aboriginal 
community members and organisations to deliver 
practical parenting support.

 y Working towards an Aboriginal Community Controlled 
Organisation Strategy through a series of state-wide 
consultations involving Aboriginal Community Controlled 
Organisations and Aboriginal community leaders – to 
grow the Department’s partnership ties with Aboriginal 
services and create culturally responsive service models 
for earlier intervention and family support services.

case study building safe and strong families: earlier intervention and family support strategy

The drivers for child protection in Western Australia are family violence, drug and alcohol abuse, poor mental health and homelessness. 
We are committed to addressing these complex and often co-occurring problems with earlier, more intensive supports. 
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1. homelessness services
We have been the lead agency responsible for the 
coordination of homelessness services in Western Australia. 
Homelessness arises from complex and interrelated 
personal, social and economic factors. However, family and 
domestic violence is a significant cause of homelessness.

The not-for-profit community sector provides critical 
homelessness accommodation and support programs for 
the most vulnerable people in Western Australia including 
young people, women and children escaping family and 
domestic violence, single adults and families.  In 2016-17, 
we provided funding of approximately $83 million to 206 
homelessness services.  

Following the release in early 2016 of Homelessness in 
Western Australia – A Snapshot of the State Government’s 
role in Homelessness Policy Services and Future Directions, 
we began a far-ranging review of homelessness services. 
We also commenced the implementation of the updated 
Western Australian Specialist Homelessness Services 
Standards. The revised Standards provide a framework to 
promote best practice with the aim of improving long-term 
outcomes for people who are homeless.

As part of the review process, stakeholders have been 
consulted about how to improve service design, delivery 
and outcomes for people experiencing, or at risk of, 
homelessness. Regional homelessness forums were held 
in country regions and across the Perth metropolitan area 
between July and November 2016. The feedback received 
from consultations is being used to inform the development 
of a long-term strategic homelessness plan beyond 30 June 
2018. 
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Current strategic directions arising from the review focus 
on: 

 y Strengthening homeless networks and service 
integration. 

 y Improving and expanding services for Aboriginal families 
and women and children at risk of homelessness due to 
family and domestic violence.

 y Young people. 

responsible parenting services
In 2016-17, the Intensive Family Support Services 
approach was launched. This was informed by a number 
of reviews, including a District Structural Review Project. 
This project recommended the establishment of Intensive 
Family Support teams in line with the key priorities of 
developing more targeted earlier intervention services for 
Aboriginal children and families. The teams are made up of 
multidisciplinary staff who deliver family support functions 
that include Parent Support, Best Beginnings Plus and 
Youth and Family Support Workers. 

parent support

Parent Support worked with hard-to-reach parents of 
school aged children aged up to 18 years who are 
involved in antisocial behaviour, criminal activity and 
truancy. Parent Support worked with parents in their home 
for up to six months to help them to regain control of 
their child’s behaviour. This included working with parents 
to improve their relationship with their child, supporting 
parents to improve their parenting skills and confidence or 
helping parents to learn new techniques for establishing 
healthier boundaries. The service uses Responsible 
Parenting Agreements as a tool to achieve this. 

Parent Support services maintained a strong focus on 
stakeholder collaboration with Western Australia Police, 
Youth Justice, Education and the Housing Authority, and 
prioritising families with younger siblings.

In 2016-17, the Parent Support service had 274 new 
referrals. We commenced 245 Responsible Parenting 
Agreements. Approximately 45 per cent of all Parent 
Support cases involved Aboriginal families.

2. best beginnings plus
The Best Beginnings service, first introduced in 2000, 
worked with parents of infants to improve parenting skills 
so parents could form a secure attachment to their children 
and improve parent/child wellbeing, family functioning and 
social connectedness. 

As part of the Earlier Intervention and Family Support 
Strategy and a review of Best Beginnings by the Berry 
Street Childhood Institute in 2016, the model was revised 
and realigned to work more with the most vulnerable 
families and children to prevent them entering out-of-
home care. This includes working with parents who may 
be experiencing alcohol and other drug issues, family and 
domestic violence and mental health issues. 

The revised service, Best Beginnings Plus began operating 
from January 2017. The revised service runs over one 
year, rather than a two year period, and works more 
intensively with families to improve parent/child safety and 
wellbeing. Best Beginnings Plus is only available for open 
child protection cases and forms an integral part of the 
new Intensive Family Support teams. Priority of access 
is given to Aboriginal families, children in care who are 
parents or expectant parents, and families involved in a 

child protection pre-birth case. Previously delivered in 
partnership with the Department of Health, Best Beginnings 
Plus is now being delivered solely by the Department with 
planning for new collaborative working arrangements with 
the Department of Health underway.

In 2016-17, 190 new referrals were made to the service, 
with 518 families receiving a service. 

3. At risk youth services
The At Risk Youth Strategy 2015-2018 outlines our role in 
planning and delivering services that support young people 
to reach their potential and promote community safety. 
We worked across government and in partnership with the 
community services sector and focussed on addressing 
the overrepresentation of Aboriginal youth who are involved 
in the juvenile justice system, particularly those who were in 
care or were open child protection cases.

Internal coordination of service delivery and funding 
has been a focus in 2016-17 and we have actively 
participated in cross-government youth reforms aiming 
for integrated and sustainable service delivery. The Earlier 
Intervention and Family Support Strategy will refocus youth 
services to young people who have repeated contact 
with child protection and youth justice systems, Aboriginal 
young people and their families, out-of-home care leavers, 
and young people experiencing homelessness. In 2016-
17 we provided over $11 million in funding to community 
sector organisations to provide services for at risk youth. 
Improving outcomes for young people, particularly 
Aboriginal young people, has been a priority.  
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4. family support services

family support projects 
Two geographic-based projects emerged in 2016-17 that 
were incorporated into the Earlier Intervention and Family 
Support Strategy.

Led by the Department and Western Australia Police, 
an earlier intervention and family support service was 
established in Kalgoorlie-Boulder. This service provides 
intensive case management to families with complex 
needs in Kalgoorlie and aims to address juvenile antisocial 
behaviour and prevent children being removed from their 
families. 

We also led an intensive family support project in 
Kununurra in a partnership with Empowered Communities 
and the Regional Services Reform Unit. The primary aim 
of the Kununurra Earlier Intervention & Family Support 
service model is to work alongside parents, families and 
communities to keep children safe and prevent them 

from needing to enter out-of-home care.  This will be 
realised through broader societal change, championed 
by East Kimberley Indigenous Leaders, that results in real 
and lasting positive change in the day-to-day lives of the 
Kununurra families the program works with. 

The model builds on a strengths-based approach and 
recognises that the experts are the family themselves and 
by working collaboratively, capacity can be built to improve 
the life outcomes of children and their families. The primary 
goals of the model are to:

 y Protect children. 

 y Maintain and strengthen family bonds. 

 y Stabilise the housing and other critical basic 
requirements.  

 y Increase the family’s skills and competencies. 

 y Facilitate the family’s use of a variety of formal and 
informal helping.

strong families
In 2016-17, the Strong Families program was reviewed. 
The review found that since being introduced in 2000, 
Strong Families served an innovative cross-agency case 
coordination function and contributed to better outcomes 
for many families.

However, in response to the increasing over-representation 
of Aboriginal children in care and the Earlier Intervention 
and Family Support Strategy refocus of services to support 
Aboriginal families to safely care for their children, Strong 
Families ceased operating from 31 January 2017. 
Aboriginal Intensive Family Support Worker positions were 
created within all districts as part of the new Intensive 
Family Support teams. The new role maintains core Strong 
Families principles – empowerment, respect, hearing 
the voices of families, giving choices, taking a strengths-
based and culturally secure approach – and focuses on 
intensively working with vulnerable Aboriginal families to 
prevent their children from entering out-of-home care.  

Between 1 July 2016 and 31 January 2017, Strong 
Families assisted 281 families. 
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Numbers of families and clients families supported by Family Support Networks 2016-17

 
cases

  
clients

  
Aboriginal clients

  Armadale 799 1914 227
  Fremantle 666 1349 278
  Midwest 491 1200 579
  Mirrabooka 432 1180 156

family support networks

intensive family support services

Intensive Family Support Services, operated by community 
sector organisations, played an important role providing 
secondary support, diverting families and preventing 
children from entering out-of-home care. 

Through the Earlier Intervention and Family Support 
Strategy, we undertook state-wide consultations to 
develop new service models with a particular focus on 
increasing the number of Aboriginal families that receive 
a service. One of the new services under design is an 
Aboriginal In-home Support Service for families in the 
Perth metropolitan area. The in-home service will support 
parents to address issues that may impact on their ability 
to safely care for their children at home. These issues may 
include poor school attendance, drug and alcohol misuse, 
family and domestic violence, limited social networks and 

family dysfunction. The services will be aligned to the new 
enhanced Family Support Networks and located across 
four geographical corridors in the Perth metropolitan area.

intensive family support housing program
The Intensive Family Support Housing Program supported 
families who were evicted from public housing under the 
Disruptive Behaviours Management Strategy. The pilot 
program began in July 2015 and involves a partnership 
between us, the Housing Authority, Western Australia Police, 
the Department of Corrective Services, and Noongar Mia 
Mia. Families in the program have a Case Support Officer 
who provides home-maker and mentoring support, and 
a Coordinator who gives tenant support and coaching 
and monitors the safety and wellbeing of the children. 
The Housing Authority provides properties under a head 
lease agreement to Noongar Mia Mia, which manages 
the house lease, and works with families to assist them to 
fulfil their responsibilities in accordance with their tenancy 
agreement. Western Australia Police and the Department 
of Corrective Services work with families to encourage 
positive behaviour and to help address issues as they arise. 
In 2016-17, there were five families (involving 19 children) 
engaged in the program. 

hardship utility grant scheme and 
secondary support
The Hardship Utility Grant Scheme helped people in 
financial hardship to pay their utility bills (water, gas, 
electricity) to maintain connection to essential services 
and avoid eviction. Approximately $15.8 million was paid 
through 39,012 grants to eligible applicants.

family support networks
Family Support Networks have been an alliance between 
the Department and community sector organisations that 
provide a common entry point to services and deliver 
earlier targeted support to families. The networks operate 
in Armadale, Mirrabooka, Geraldton and Fremantle. The 
number of families and clients supported are outlined in the 
table below.

In line with the Earlier Intervention and Family Support 
Strategy, we began preparing for the expansion and 
enhancement of the metropolitan-based networks 
to provide two streams of service: assessment and 
coordination, and intensive case management for families 
most vulnerable to involvement with the child protection 
system.
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emergency services
Under Western Australia emergency management 
arrangements, the Department was responsible for 
coordinating the provision of welfare support services to 
individuals and families affected by emergencies or natural 
disasters. This was achieved in collaboration with partnering 
agencies and key stakeholders at the state and local 
level. 

We responded to 17 emergencies in 2016-17:

 y Fremantle structure fire

 y Fitzroy Crossing Power station fire

 y Gregory/Ellis bushfire

 y Kalumburu flooding

 y Skippers Aviation

 y Boddington bushfire

 y Upper Swan bushfire

 y Welshpool chemical spill

 y Marbelup bushfire

 y Bridgetown bushfire

 y Gwindinup bushfire

 y Skyworks aircraft crash

 y Pilbara/Murchison tropical low

 y Tjuntjunarra Community flooding

 y Armadale/Serpentine bushfire

 y State-wide floods 

 y Cyclone Blanche

Approximately 210 individuals were provided with 
immediate and/or ongoing support including personal 
support, information, alternative accommodation, financial 
assistance and counselling. Information about supports and 
dealing with trauma was also provided to Western Australia 
Police to disseminate to the broader community following 
the Skyworks aircraft crash in January 2017. In April 
2017, we deployed 17 staff over a period of three weeks 
to assist in the provision of welfare support to communities 
in Queensland in the wake of Cyclone Debbie.

Our Community Resilience Officers continued to support 
community members, groups and organisations affected by 
the January 2016 bushfire in the Waroona/Yarloop region. 
Officers worked closely with the Shires of Harvey and 
Waroona, partnering agencies, local service providers and 
organisations to improve self-empowerment and resilience 
in the impacted communities.

We contributed to the ongoing review and refinement 
of emergency management arrangements in Western 
Australia, particularly the provision of welfare support 
services to people affected by an emergency. 

We have continued to build staff capacity 
for working with families from culturally and 
linguistically diverse (CaLD) backgrounds, 
particularly refugee backgrounds, by providing: 

 y Consultation and advice. 

 y Training on working with CaLD and refugee 
families. 

 y Access to relevant resources on immigration 
issues, and family and domestic violence 
within CaLD communities.

We worked with key State and Commonwealth 
Government agencies in organising social 
cohesion activities, such as Harmony 
Week events, and contributing to whole-
of-government approaches to settlement 
services. We regularly engaged in interagency 
meetings and community forums focussing 
on intergenerational issues within CaLD 
communities. 

At the end of June 2017, we held delegated 
guardianship responsibilities for three 
unaccompanied humanitarian minors from 
Burma and Thailand. 

Emergency Service Unit personnel deployed to Queensland 
in 2017 to help recovery efforts in the wake of Cyclone 
Debbie. Personnel helped provide food, clothing, emergency 
accommodation and financial assistance to cyclone-affected 
communities, and visited homes to assess damage and help 
people apply for disaster relief grants.
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In this Outcome Area we report on the following four 
service areas:

 y Family and Domestic Violence Services. 

 y Working with Children Checks. 

 y Child Protection Assessments and Investigations. 

 y Child Centred Family Support Services. 

These services are ordered in accordance with our 
Outcome Based Management Framework. We use 
Signs of Safety practice across all our child protection 
services in this performance outcome area. The Signs 
of Safety approach was developed during the 1990s in 
Western Australia and was formally introduced as our 
Signs of Safety Child Protection Practice Framework (the 
Framework) in 2008. The Framework is now used in more 
than 100 jurisdictions and 17 countries around the world. 

In 2016-17 we began a Signs of Safety Reloaded project 
to revise and further strengthen the Framework. The 
project uses the findings of an independent evaluation of 
the Framework by the Australian Centre for Child Protection 
in South Australia in 2016 and has involved many activities, 
including:

 y Conducting a state-wide audit of child protection cases.

 y Revising the Signs of Safety program logic and 
monitoring framework.

 y Developing Towards Culturally Responsive Practice- An 
Aboriginal Approach within the Signs of Safety Child 
Protection Practice Framework. 

 y Releasing a Signs of Safety film, Keeping Children Front 
and Centre. 

 y Providing advanced practice leadership training.

 y Developing a new risk assessment tool for use in the 
centralised intake team. 

 y Embedding Family Finding in Signs of Safety practice. 

In October 2016, we held a Signs of Safety Gathering 
at Technology Park Bentley which was attended by 580 
people. The gathering, an opportunity for child protection 
experts from around the world to share evidence-based 
practices, is held every second year and this was the 
fourth time Western Australia hosted the conference. The 
theme of the conference was Reflect, Reboot, Renew and 
included interstate and international presentations from 
Tasmania, New Zealand, the Netherlands and Canada. 

It is always our first priority to prevent children entering 
out-of-home care. When it is safe, it is in the best interests 
of children to be brought up with their parents in their 
own community. We achieve this with the vast majority of 
children and families, guided by the Signs of Safety Child 
Protection Practice Framework.

5. family and Domestic violence 
services
We led the coordination of family and domestic violence 
strategic planning across Western Australia. In 2016-17, 
we worked extensively to respond to family and domestic 
violence in the community and to strengthen the family 
and domestic violence service system. See the Case 
Study about the Refuge Service System Model Emergency 
Response for an in-depth example of how we achieved 
this.

Significantly, new governance arrangements were 
introduced to oversee Western Australia’s response to 
family and domestic violence.  The new governance 
structure involved establishing the:

 y Family and Domestic Violence Governance Council 
– a high level advisory group comprising senior 
representatives from State Government and community 
sector organisations. Chaired by our Director General 
and reporting to the Minister for the Prevention of Family 
and Domestic Violence, the Council plans, implements 
and monitors across-government and community 
responses to family and domestic violence in Western 
Australia.

Signs of Safety Gathering – Young Consultants 
from the CREATE Foundation  
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 y Family and Domestic Violence Advisory Network 
– comprising representatives from community 
and government agencies, the Network identifies 
emerging issues and provides advice to the Family and 
Domestic Violence Governance Council to support the 
development and implementation of family and domestic 
violence strategies.

In partnership with Western Australia Police and community 
sector organisations, we operate Family and Domestic 
Violence Response Teams across the state.  These teams 
provide timely and early intervention after a family and 
domestic violence incident is reported to police. Between 
the financial years 2014-15 and 2015-16 there was a 
25 per cent increase in the number of incident reports 
recorded (from 41,225 to 51,681).  To meet increasing 
demand, changes to the operation of the teams were 
piloted in the South East Metropolitan region from 1 July 
2016.  Following a successful evaluation, these changes 
are being implemented state-wide and primarily involve the 
introduction of a threshold that categorises each incident 
according to its level of risk.   

In October 2016, we undertook a competitive tender 
process to establish a peak body to oversee perpetrator 
interventions. The successful tender applicant was 
Stopping Family Violence. The service will also establish 
a professional network for service providers of men’s 
behaviour change programs.

The five year Safer Families, Safer Communities: Kimberley 
Family Violence Regional Plan 2015-2020 prioritises the 
Kimberley region because it has the highest incidence 
of family violence in Western Australia, including victim 
hospitalisations and deaths. The Kimberley Plan involves 

strategies to strengthen and better coordinate family 
and domestic violence services in the region. These 
strategies are entrenched in an Aboriginal law and cultural 
framework.  A key initiative of the Kimberley Plan was the 
implementation of Family Safety Teams in the Kimberley. 
The Teams became operational in July 2016 and provide 
a coordinated multi-agency response to support individuals 
and families experiencing family and domestic violence, 
through an extension to existing partnership arrangements 
to include the Department of Corrective Services and 
dedicated men’s and women’s family violence workers.

We sponsored the Family and Domestic Violence - Pivoting 
to the Perpetrator; Honouring Children’s Experiences 
conference in June 2017. The one-day conference 
brought together local, national and international speakers 
to consider the current research around perpetrator 

In both the 2015-16 and 
2016-17 financial years over 
50,000 incidents of family 
and domestic violence were 
reported to us, increasing 
by 25 per cent

interventions and the impact of violence on children.

As the only White Ribbon-accredited government agency 
in Western Australia, we maintained our accreditation by 
campaigning against violence against women and children. 
Our White Ribbon Ambassadors act to prevent men’s 
violence against women and to drive changes in attitudes 
and behaviours among men and in the broader community. 
As part of White Ribbon Day on 25 November 2016, we 
invited 22 inspirational Western Australian ‘men of note’ 
to be photographed holding signs condemning violence 
against women. Our STAND UP event for White Ribbon 
was held at NIB Stadium to thank the men who took part 
in the project. The images were also displayed at events 
at the Perth Cultural Centre Big Screen, the Northbridge 
Piazza Superscreen, at selected Perth and Fremantle 
stores and cafes and at the State Theatre Centre’s Studio 
Underground Foyer.

Aurelio Costarella, participant in the White Ribbon STAND UP event.
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In October 2015 we started a new Refuge Service System 
Model Emergency Response to help women and children 
at imminent risk of violence. The new service model 
followed a recommendation from the coronial inquest into 
the death of a mother at the hands of her ex-partner in 
2012.

I recommend that the Department for Child Protection 
review the accommodation available to victims of 
domestic and family violence to ensure that  … 
In cases where … the women or children may be 
murdered, procedures should be in place to ensure 
that there can be immediate provision of a place of 
safety (Hope: 2012, p. 47).

To review existing refuge services we drew on the Scoping 
the Domestic & Family Violence Sector in Western Australia 
paper published in 2012 and we consulted the Women’s 
Council for Domestic and Family Violence Services WA 
(Women’s Council) and other relevant agencies. The review 
identified a number of issues including:

 y Different referral pathways into refuges with varied, 
inadequate and inconsistent risk assessment of women 
and perpetrators.

 y Limited information sharing between agencies.

 y Different admission policies and procedures across 
refuges. 

 y High ‘turn away’ rate for women because of a lack of 
available beds. 

 y Women not meeting admission criteria such as having a 
large family.

 y Lack of timeliness in accessing refuge beds. 

 y Use of motel rooms without adequate outreach support. 

To address these issues, in partnership with the Women’s 
Council and the refuge sector, we designed and developed 
the Refuge Service System Model Emergency Response 
- a new referral and emergency accommodation service 
model for integration within existing refuge services in WA. 
The model involved: 

 y Implementing three lead refuges in the Perth 
metropolitan area (Pat Giles, Mary Smith and Lucy Saw), 
with each allocated around 16 beds for women and 
children at the highest risk of domestic violence for up 
to 48 hours. 

 y Centralising all referrals through our Crisis Care Unit for 
consistency of risk assessments, immediate 24 hour 
access to the program and assistance with transport 
when required. 

 y Making lead agencies responsible for liaising with 
refuges in their local area to ensure placement of 
women following the 48 hour period. Where a bed is 
unavailable, the lead agency liaises with the other lead 
agencies to triage access to other refuge beds. Where 
there are no beds available in the metropolitan area, 
the lead agency is responsible for arranging motel 
accommodation for the woman and providing suitable 
outreach support until a refuge bed becomes available. 

The development and implementation of the new model 
involved extensive consultation and planning across 
multiple refuges in the metropolitan area. An unintended, 
though significant benefit of the model has been 
increased communication and awareness of the roles and 
complexities of agency partners and a stronger sense of 
accountability and trust between collaborating agencies.

An independent evaluation by Curtin University found that 
the new service model “has been extremely successful 
for a relatively small financial outlay and has produced 
outcomes benefiting the sector not only the women 
and children at highest risk. This has made a valuable 
contribution to the functioning of the refuge sector 
as a whole and to the lives of women and children 
accommodated by the program.” The evaluation results 
highlighted that in the first 12 months of the new service’s 
operation:

 y 92 women and 136 children in imminent danger were 
referred to the service.  

 y There was improved communication, coordination and 
trust between us and women’s refuges, and improved 
cooperation between refuges across the metropolitan 
area.

 y Bed usage across the metropolitan service system was 
optimised. 

 y Groups of women who had previously not been able to 
access secure emergency accommodation (including 
women without children) were now accessing it through 
the service.

case study refuge service system model emergency response

We support reform in the refuge sector to improve emergency access to crisis accommodation for women and children escaping 
family and domestic violence who are at extreme risk
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6. Working with children checks

The Working with Children Check is a compulsory 
continuous screening strategy that aims to safeguard 
children by deterring people with the kinds of criminal 
histories and other records of behaviour that pose a risk of 
harm to children. The Check identifies and prohibits these 
individuals from engaging in certain types of work that 
involve children. 
In December 2016, the Working with Children Screening 
Unit marked 11 years of operation by issuing its millionth 
Working with Children Card.  Since its start, the scheme 
has received high levels of community support and 
increasing numbers of Working with Children Check 
applications. 

In 2016-17, the unit continued to streamline processes 
and enhance its Information Technology. The recent 
capacity for renewing Cards online is firmly established 
and about 70 per cent of renewals during 2016-17 were 
online with overall positive feedback from applicants about 
the process.

The time taken to finalise Checks has significantly 
improved in recent years:

 y In applications involving no criminal record, the average 
time to finalise a Check was 20 days in 2013-14 and is 
currently four days. 

 y In applications involving a criminal record, the average 
time to finalise a Check was 39 days in 2013-14 and is 
currently 20 days.

In 2016-17, 12 people applied to the State Administrative 
Tribunal for independent reviews of their Negative Notices; 
resulting in 23 Tribunal appearances where all Negative 
Notices were upheld.

Promoting compliance with the compulsory Working with Children screening is an important part of the scheme.  
In 2016-17, the Working with Children Screening Unit continued promoting the Check amidst heightened community 
awareness of child safety issues resulting from the Royal Commission into Institutional Responses to Child Sexual Abuse. 
Information about the Check was distributed through call centre services and community workshops. We worked with 
police and licensing and employer organisations to identify and rectify breaches of the Working with Children (Criminal 
Record Checking) Act 2004 by undertaking investigations, audits and prosecutions. 

In November 2016, the Working with Children Screening Unit hosted the annual National Operators Forum bringing 
together representatives from each Working with Children Check jurisdiction in Australia.  The forum was an opportunity to 
continue the work towards national consistency and the achievement of better outcomes for Working with Children Check 
schemes.

2016-17 As at 30 June 2017

  Applications Received 123,383   Working with Children cardholders 346,401

  Applications Finalised including(*): 124,301  Total persons prohibited from  
      child-related work including:

898

• Working with Children cards issued 122,503 • Current Negative Notices 887
• Negative Notices issued 157 • Current Interim Negative Notices 11

(*) includes some applications made prior to the 2016-17 financial year.  These are also other finalisations such as persons applying in error. 
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7. child protection Assessments 
and investigations

child protection notifications
We are responsible for receiving and assessing notifications 
of allegations of harm to a child. In 2016-17, we received 
18,438 notifications relating to 19,758 children at risk of 
abuse and harm.
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outcome of assessed concerns
Neglect Emotional abuse  

Family and Domestic 
Violence

Emotional abuse  
Other

Physical abuse Sexual abuse Wellbeing concerns Total

Aboriginal Non-Aboriginal Aboriginal Non-Aboriginal Aboriginal Non-Aboriginal Aboriginal Non-Aboriginal Aboriginal Non-Aboriginal Aboriginal Non-Aboriginal

Substantiated 358 457 397 395 123 288 145 260 137 228 0 0 2788
Substantiated likelihood harm 436 530 630 590 192 368 447 565 83 239 0 0 4080
Not substantiated 765 995 636 802 347 818 792 1282 597 1206 0 0 8240
No Concern 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 158 208 366
Concern 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 247 214 461
In process 312 510 347 548 122 257 255 559 239 452 58 99 3758
Unable to complete(a) 148 169 151 190 88 161 114 208 112 169 71 46 1627
Total 2,019 2,661 2161 2525 872 1892 1,753 2,874 1,168 2,294 534 567 21,320

(a) Refers to circumstances such as a young person’s refusal to engage with the Department’s worker; or when a subject child or family has relocated during an assessment and their 
whereabouts were unknown.

Action taken as a result of safety 

and Wellbeing Assessment

Substantiated Not  
substantiated

Other concerns 
assessed

Unable to complete 
assessment(a)

In process Total

Aboriginal Non-Aboriginal Aboriginal Non-Aboriginal Aboriginal Non-Aboriginal Aboriginal Non-Aboriginal Aboriginal Non-Aboriginal

Intervention action 326 307 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 633
Child centred family support 749 962 195 204 18 13 0 0 0 0 2141
Commence family support (s.21) 63 151 72 140 12 2 0 0 0 0 440
Safety issues addressed - No further action 712 1054 1501 2594 52 49 0 0 0 0 5962
Action not possible 64 27 0 0 0 0 385 558 0 0 1034
In process 1 6 0 2 0 0 1 0 1028 1706 2744
Total 1,915 2,507 1,768 2,940 82 64 386 558 1,028 1,706 12,954

A safety and wellbeing assessment may identify more than one concern and the Department assesses each of these concerns individually.

the tables below outline the number, type of concern and outcome of the 12,954 assessments commenced during 2016-17.
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care the priority is to reunify the child with their parents and 
their community. Reunification must be achieved in a timely 
manner to support the best life outcomes for the child. It 
is only after reunification is assessed as not possible, that 
long-term out-of-home care is sought, to provide the child 
with the safety and stability they need.

When parents are assessed to not have the capacity to 
keep their child safe, we apply to the Children’s Court of 
Western Australia for one of four protection orders: 

 y Supervision

 y Time-limited 

 y Until 18 

 y Special Guardianship.

748 656 1,404

600 493 1,093orders  
granted

applications 
lodged

Aboriginal Non Aboriginal Total

protection application lodge and orders granted

safety and Wellbeing Assessments
After an initial assessment of a notification, we may have 
concluded that we have a role to determine if a child’s 
safety is at risk and a Safety and Wellbeing Assessment is 
required. This assessment allows a decision to be made 
about whether harm or a likelihood of significant risk 
of harm is substantiated, whether a family needs more 
support to safely care for their child or whether the child 
needs to be cared for outside the family home.

protection orders
The primary focus of the Department is always to support 
families to provide a safe and nurturing home for their 
children. In the vast majority of cases this is achieved. Only 
when it is not possible for a child to stay at home safely, 
and only as a last resort, do we seek to provide out-of-
home care for children. When a child enters out-of-home 
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A Pre-Hearing Conference is a meeting between the 
Department and families to try to reach agreement about 
how to keep children safe and avoid court. These kinds of 
meetings can be confusing and overwhelming for families. 

We partnered with Legal Aid WA to create the Pre-Hearing 
Conference Signs of Safety Aboriginal Support Project (the 
project). The project aimed to better prepare and increase 
the participation of Aboriginal families in Pre-Hearing 
Conferences to make it easier to reach agreement without 
court intervention. The project ran for 18 months between 
2014 and 2016 in the metropolitan area and three regional 
areas.

A Getting Ready handbook was created for the project. The 
handbook is both verbal and pictorial and has been used by 
staff to talk through with Aboriginal families step-by-step the 
process of a Pre-Hearing Conference. The handbook uses 
clear language to explain why a Pre-Hearing Conference is 
being held, who will be at the meeting and what their role 
will be, and how everyone is there to talk about the children 
and how they can be safe and healthy. A tablecloth-sized 
pictorial map of the pre-hearing conference process was 
also developed for use with the family in either an indoor or 
outdoor environment.

case study signs of safety Aboriginal support project 

A Pre-Hearing Conference is a court mandated meeting between the Department and families to keep children safe without court 
involvement. We want to better prepare and support Aboriginal families involved in Pre-Hearing Conferences.
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The project involved 5 steps:

1.  Selection into the project. Families were referred and 
accepted into the project.

2.  Liaison with district staff. The staff member who was 
best placed to engage with the family was identified 
and an in person, video or telephone conference 
was arranged to show the Getting Ready material 
(handbook and/or map) and how best to use it. 

3.  Engagement of the clients and going through 
Getting Ready. Field staff met with the family 
(sometimes more than once) and any support people 
to talk through the material and help them to prepare 
for their Pre-Hearing Conference. 

4.  Attending the Pre-Hearing Conference.

5.  Evaluation. For the purpose of evaluation, clients 
were interviewed.

Twenty-five families took part in the project in Armadale, 
Cannington, Joondalup, Midland, Perth, East Kimberley, 
West Kimberley, and the Pilbara. An internal evaluation 
found that most of the Aboriginal family members who 
met with us had a transformed view of their capacity to 
participate and relate to Department staff:

“I was empowered. I know what was going to 
happen and it made it less daunting”

 “It broke it down so family … and everyone 
… could understand”

“We were more prepared, we knew we could 
ask questions”

“In the past two and a half years, they have 
invaded my privacy and dictated to me.  This 
was not just ‘Do as you’re told’”

“We were able to speak our mind.  We all had 
a say”

“I felt like I was listened to”

A minority of the participants saw the Getting Ready 
materials as tokenism. In some instances, child protection 
staff found it difficult to engage families because of their 
workloads and family resistance to ‘another’ meeting.  

The key outcome of the project was that when we 
used the Getting Ready materials to proactively engage 
Aboriginal families before the Pre-hearing Conference, they 
were more able to actively participate and reach agreement 
at Pre-hearing Conferences.

Getting Ready project materials are being integrated 
in the practice manual for child protection workers 
and a “Champion” in each district is being identified to 
consistently implement the Getting Ready materials in Pre-
Hearing Conferences.
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pre-birth planning with Aboriginal families
Pre-birth planning happens through a series of meetings 
with parents who are expecting a baby and where there 
are concerns about their capacity to parent safely. We met 
with the parents and people from their support network 
(including service providers) and worked together towards 
the development of a plan to help keep a baby safe in their 
parents’ care. 

We were concerned that some Aboriginal newborn 
babies were coming into care without pre-birth planning 
happening. In 2015, we commenced a project called 
Getting Ready for Pre-Birth Planning. The project aims to: 

 y Increase the number of Aboriginal families actively 
participating in Pre-Birth Signs of Safety planning 
meetings.

 y Promote early collaborative planning to create safety and 
better outcomes for at-risk unborn Aboriginal children.

Early collaboration involves partnerships between us, an 
Aboriginal Community Controlled Organisation and the 
family who all work on safety planning and providing 
supports for the unborn child, parent/s and broader family. 
As part of the project, in 2016-17 we focussed on the 
development of Aboriginal-specific pre-birth resources, 
tools and materials and a pilot in the Mirrabooka trial site. 

crisis care
Our Crisis Care Unit, Mandatory Reporting Service, Men’s 
and Women’s Domestic Violence Helplines and the Family 
Helpline operate 24 hours a day, seven days a week. 
These services provided a state-wide response to child 
protection, family and domestic violence issues and family 
support to vulnerable children and families. The Youth at 

Risk Program operates on weekends in partnership with 
Western Australia Police, Mission Australia and Noonygar 
Outreach Service. Until December 2016, Crisis Care also 
managed the Country Relief Team of staff deployed to 
country offices to assist with case work at short notice. 

mandatory reporting
Six groups (doctors, nurses, midwives, teachers, police 
officers and boarding supervisors) are required to submit 
a report to us if they believe that a child has been, or is 
being, sexually abused. The Mandatory Reporting Service 
works in partnership with Western Australia Police.

The Mandatory Reporting Service also collaborates with 
the Department of Health, Department of Education, 
Association of Independent Schools, Catholic Education 
and Western Australia Police to provide child protection 
training across the state.

crisis care contacts  
2016-17
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training.

940
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2,689

1,481

mandatory reports were received and 
assessed by the service. This led to

new safety and wellbeing assesments.

mandatory reporting
2016-17
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8. child centred family support services
As part of the Earlier Intervention and Family Support Strategy, and our District Structural 
Review project, we developed consistent district processes across all regions to align 
practice and service delivery functions with our strategic priorities and areas of focus. This 
resulted in changes to our team structures and activities, including Child Centred Family 
Support Services and the establishment of Intensive Family Support Teams in districts. 

One of the key activities of the Intensive Family Support teams in districts is to work with 
families where safety and wellbeing assessments have been substantiated for significant 
harm, or likelihood of significant harm. We worked with the family intensively to increase 
their capacity to manage a safety plan and to reduce the risk.  

Of the 4,089 child centred family support cases during the year 49 per cent were with 
Aboriginal children.

multidisciplinary case consultations
We implemented Multidisciplinary Case Consultations to 
consider different professional perspectives needed to 
engage families with multiple problems.  The Consultations 
are held at critical points in the life of a case and involve 
specialist staff, such as Aboriginal Practice Leaders, Senior 
Practice Development Officers, Psychologists, Education 
Officers, Senior Child Protection Workers, and Legal 
Support Officers. Multidisciplinary Case Consultations: 

• Help decide whether a case should be intaked, 
whether harm or risk of harm should be substantiated, 
and which team or service should be provided to a 
family to increase child safety.  

• Consider the possible trajectory for a child based on 
the safety concerns.

• Consider all family/community members who love and 
care for a child and could help make decisions about 
them. 
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Jun 10 Jun 11 Jun 12 Jun 13 Jun 14 Jun 15
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Jun 16

Children and young people in care

Jun 17

In this Outcome Area we report on the following two 
service areas:

 y Care Arrangements for Children in the CEO’s Care. 

 y Support Services for Children in the CEO’s Care.

These services are ordered in accordance with our 
Outcome Based Management Framework. We also provide 
an update to the significant reforms being undertaken in 
the out-of-home care sector. 

In the past 10 years there have been significant changes 
in the Western Australian community and the out-of-home 
care system with children coming into care earlier, staying 

longer and exhibiting increasingly complex behaviours. 
There is a significant over-representation of Aboriginal 
children in out-of-home care and there are also now more 
family carers than any other kind of carer. These changes 
have added significant pressure to the out-of-home care 
sector. Findings from the Royal Commission on Institutional 
Responses to Child Sexual Abuse have also led to 
imperatives for change. 

To adjust to this changing environment, we have worked in 
partnership with community sector organisations to develop 
reforms outlined in The Building a Better Future Out-Of-
Home Care Reform in Western Australia (April 2016). 

These reforms were guided by the Aboriginal Services 
and Practice Framework and outline a complete system 
re-design, including service models and standards. This 
is the largest reform of child protection services in recent 
Western Australian history. 

In 2016-17, considerable work progressed to realign out-
of-home care services (worth approximately $110 million 
per annum, of which $80 million goes to the community 
sector) to the reform outcomes, including a resetting of 
the costs, contracts and service models. We developed a 
Needs Assessment Tool, Care Arrangement Support Cost 
resource model and Carer and Child Connection Hub. The 
Case Study about the Needs Assessment Tool provides 
more information about this specific development. 

Policy initiatives we implemented included the Care Team 
Approach, the Outcomes Framework for Children in out-
of-home care and the revised Better Care Better Services 
Standards as well as reviewing and revising options for 
oversight and external standards review in out-of-home 
care. A number of strategies were applied to support carers 
and children leaving care and we began a review of the 
Children and Community Services Act 2004.

In 2016-17, we worked in partnership with Community 
Sector Organisations who are contracted to provide care 
arrangement services to develop an Exit and Transition 
Implementation Guide. Launched in May 2017, the Guide 
outlines strategies to transition from the existing out-of-
home care service system to the new service system and 
details roles and responsibilities, processes, and guiding 
principles. All transition planning were driven by the needs 
of the children or young persons with a commitment that 
no permanent care arrangement will be compromised by 
the transition. 
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Children in care by Aboriginality and length of time in care
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60

677

345

656

454

93

584

875

275

776
AboriginalNon-Aboriginal

Non-Aboriginal Aboriginal

children and young people in care
On 30 June 2017, there were 4,795 children living in 
out-of-home care in Western Australia: 

 y 54 per cent of these children were Aboriginal. (2,603) 

 y 43 per cent were living with family carers. (2,055)

carers
Carers who provide homes for children who are unable 
to live with their birth parents are vital to our work and our 
community sector partners. 

In line with our out-of-home care reform, in 2016-17 we 
reviewed our Foster Care Partnership Practice Framework 
and developed it into a Care Team Approach Practice 
Framework. This represented both a structural and a 
philosophical shift to district ‘care teams’ and a ‘child’s 

2,192 2,603

2,199 563
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own care team’. The Care Team Approach recognises 
that carers and our staff cannot meet all of a child’s needs 
alone. The approach draws heavily on the value and 
importance of naturally occurring, life time connections 
for the child, which have been closely linked to improved 
resilience, health and other positive life outcomes.

We also began developing new resources for family carers 
including new assessment forms and resources; orientation 
packs for family carers; learning modules for family carers, 
and additional training for staff when conducting family and 
significant other carer assessments. 

Throughout 2016-17, carers and children were provided 
with a variety of supports, including:

 y Volunteer Mentor Program: one-on-one mentoring 
to motivate and engage young people to take part in 
meaningful activities that promote resilience. Twenty 
seven young people were matched with a volunteer 
mentor – eleven of these young people were Aboriginal. 

 y Aboriginal cultural day programs that provided Aboriginal 
children and their carers opportunities to connect with 
and learn about Aboriginal culture from Aboriginal elders. 

 y Respite carers who cared for Aboriginal young people 
from the country who were attending boarding schools 
in Perth and who provided care to other families.

Chris Duschka, Young Consultant from the CREATE Foundation spoke 
at the inaugural WA Foster Carers Celebration Brunch held 12 March 
2017

“I have come today to speak on the great 
things that foster carers have done in my life 
… I want to thank all of you for being there, 
for giving up your time, effort and sometimes 
your sanity caring for children who needed 
your help.”

Together with the Foster Care Association of WA 
and a number of community sector organisations, 
we held the inaugural WA Foster Carers Week 
event in March 2017. A Celebration Brunch for 
metropolitan foster carers launched the week 
in Perth, while regional carers were honoured 
at localised events. The event was created to 
celebrate the efforts of dedicated and hardworking 
foster and family carers, and to raise awareness of 
the need for more foster carers state-wide.
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A new Cross-Sector Foster Carer Panel met for the first 
time in March 2017. The panel consists of an independent 
Chair and two Department for Child Protection and Family 
Support representatives, one Aboriginal community 
member and three representatives from community 
sector organisations. The role of the panel is to review 
carer assessments (and participating community sector 
organisations) to achieve consistently high quality carer 
standards. The panel will be evaluated after 12 months.

carer and child connection hub 
In 2016-17 we introduced a Carer and Child Connection 
Hub to facilitate better matching of carers to children. 
When a carer cannot be found in a child’s local district, the 
Hub provides real-time knowledge of all care options and 
makes referrals based on child needs and carer capacity. 
The Hub is responsible for:

 y Managing the Cross-Sector Foster Carer Panel, which 
reviews and quality assures both our and community 
sector organisation assessments of foster carers.

 y Oversight of all recruitment, assessment, learning and 
skills development with carers. 

 y Maintaining strategic operational relationships with key 
stakeholders in out-of-home care.

 y Aligning care arrangements with the Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander child placement principle.

permanency planning 
We began developing a Maps and Meanings Tool to use when talking with Aboriginal families about Permanency 
Planning. Permanency Planning is a policy that focuses on a child’s need for stability and continuity of relationships 
and describing it can be complicated and confusing. 

Two Maps and Meanings flowcharts were created to help illustrate and explain permanency planning. The maps use 
symbols to show a pathway, which helps users to understand that there is a process driver and allows for a story to 
be told in a collaborative way. A facilitator uses the symbols to spark discussion. 

Map 1 Permanency Planning - talking about kids going home 
safely with parents 

Map 2 Permanency Planning - long-term out-of-home care

In July 2016, we launched a Stakeholder Engagement 
Framework to guide how we engage with community 
sector organisations on reform initiatives. The Framework 
outlines the preferred approach to partnership and 
provides principles for engagement with community sector 
organisations. 
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children in care
Eighteen-year old Nellie was 
one of 25 young people to 
receive a Perth Airport Achiever 
Award in 2017. The awards, 
held annually, provide people 
aged 15 to 25 who are in 
care or have left care, with up 
to $4,000 to support their 

education and training. Nellie has just started a Bachelor of 
Science degree at Edith Cowan University, which she plans 
to use as a pathway to a postgraduate degree in medicine 
or forensic science. Nellie has two jobs in hospitality and 
retail. With the high costs of university study, the award will 
provide her with additional support for expenses such as 
purchasing textbooks.

Nellie, along with her younger sister, came into care in 
2005 when she was five years old because her mum 
was not able to look after them. After two short-term 
placements, the sisters were placed with Sharyn, who 
has cared for them ever since. Nellie describes Sharyn 
as having a “motherly role” in her life. She also considers 
Sharyn’s three biological sons as her “brothers”. For 
around 10 years, Nellie kept in weekly contact with her 
biological mum through visits facilitated by Sharyn. 

In Sharyn’s care, Nellie has travelled internationally to New 
Zealand to meet Sharyn’s extended family; to Bali for a 
holiday and to Estonia to accompany Sharyn’s son to the 
Tae Kwon Do World Championships. Nellie credits her 
academic pursuits to Sharyn who always supported her 
schooling and instilled in her a “You can do it” attitude. 

foster caring
In her early 50s, Sharyn found herself evaluating her 
options for work. With her three adult sons having left 
home, Sharyn saw an advertisement in the newspaper 
about a child protection program looking for carers and 
she became a foster carer. 

The first two children to come into Sharyn’s care as a 
general foster carer were Nellie and her sister in 2005. The 
sisters have become a part of her family. She describes her 
role as “just being a mum” and the number one thing she 
provides is “stability” and a “sense of belonging”, “you have 
to be there for them and accept them. Treat them like your 
own and give them your home.”

In the 12 years since becoming a foster carer, Sharyn 
has had over 100 children come into her care either for 
emergency, respite or general care. These children vary 
in ages from babies up to teenagers and stay with her 
between one night to several years at a time. 

Sharyn explains some of the challenges associated 
with foster caring arise when you develop strong bonds 
with children who stay a long time and who leave to be 
reunified with their parents. Overall, though Sharyn feels 
rewarded for seeing Nellie and her sister thrive and for the 
time she has had with all the other children she has cared 
for.

case study children in care and carers

We rely on the dedication of family and foster carers who provide safe, supportive and stable environments for children. We are 
committed to supporting carers and children in care so that these children have the best chance of reaching their potential and 
becoming fulfilled and contributing members of the community.
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The Homes for Carers program was established in 
September 2016 as a joint venture between us, the 
Housing Authority and Foundation Housing. The program 
identifies family carers who are living in public housing 
and matches them to private rental properties that can 
better accommodate their family size with additional 
children in their care. Family carers receive subsidies for 
rent and Foundation Housing provides them with tenancy 
management and property maintenance. The program 
encourages family carers to nominate rental locations that 
maintain their family’s existing connections to schools, 
sports clubs, and community groups. 

Jon is an Aboriginal family carer looking after his two 
nephews aged 13 and 11 years. When the two boys first 
came to live with Jon and his three teenage daughters in 
February 2017, the family was living in a three-bedroom 
home and the boys had to sleep in the living room. The 
limited space for the six of them made the initial transition 
period difficult. 

Three months later they were able to move into a five-
bedroom home as part of the Homes for Carers program. 
This significantly improved the family’s situation. In the 
larger home, with the boys having their own room and 
space, Jon was able to begin providing more consistent 
boundaries and expectations. For example, he could ask 
the boys to go to their rooms when their behaviour was 
impacting the rest of the family and establish clearer 

expectations around daily chores, such as folding clothes 
and putting them away. 

Accepting his two nephews into his home has been a 
challenging and rewarding experience. The two boys had 
been in general foster care for years prior to coming into 
Jon’s care, though Jon had maintained contact with them 
through regular visits. During one of those visits while 
chatting to his eldest nephew, he asked him how he felt 
about being in care. His nephew responded that when they 
first went into care, he did not think much of it because 
he believed mum and dad would be back in a few days. 
But now that years had gone past without their parents 
returning, he felt like “no-one wanted them.” Jon made 
a decision to care for them when he heard his nephew’s 
response.  

In the role of family carer, Jon works hard to help his 
nephews adjust to a new home and set of expectations, 
as well as juggle his own self-care and other parenting 
and family obligations with his daughters and wider family. 
Jon talked about his own history with alcohol and drug 
misuse, but has since recovered and is currently gaining 
qualifications to work in the Alcohol and Other Drug sector 
while also working for a not-for-profit homelessness 
service.  His nephew’s father (Jon’s brother) sometimes 
visits them and Jon is hoping that the visits will inspire his 
brother to start making different life choices. 

We recognise that the kind of relationship formed between 
children and family carers is unique. Unlike foster carers, 
family carers often agree to care out of a strong sense 
of family obligation and can sometimes have a complex 
relationship with children’s parents.    

Since the Homes for Carer program began, it has placed 
six families in suburbs across Perth, including 18 children 
in care and an additional eight carer’s children. Housing 
is being sought for a further six families and other carer 
families have had housing issues resolved as a result of the 
program. These successes have prompted the program to 
be piloted in regional areas, with funding secured to place 
four families over the next two years in the South-West 
region.

case study homes for carers

Aboriginal children are the majority of children in out-of-home care and more children live with ‘family carers’ than any other 
type of carer. We are making changes to provide more supports to family carers and to keep Aboriginal children, families and 
communities better connected. 



9. care Arrangements for children in the ceo’s 
care

children with complex needs in care
We have contracted community sector organisations to provide wrap-around 
services for individual children and young people with complex needs that cannot 
be met in other placements. These children can have moderate to severe disability 
or challenging and unsafe behaviours. In 2016-17: 

 y One community sector organisation provided a transitional high needs service 
for 34 children and young people who posed a risk to themselves or the 
community. 

 y Nine community sector organisations provided a specialised fostering service 
for 138 children and young people with high to complex needs that could not 
be met through general foster care arrangements but who could live in a family 
setting.

 y Eleven community sector organisations provided a disability placement and 
support service for 80 children and young people with a registered disability.

family finding
In August 2016 a five day training event for over 170 
child protection workers and staff from partner agencies 
was held by Kevin Campbell, a renowned expert in 
childhood trauma and establishing lifelong supports for 
children in care from the National Institute for Permanent 
Family Connectedness in California, America. The training 
was about the Family Finding Model which helps child 
protection workers locate family members of children in 
care so they can maintain family connections and cultural 
identity.  

young people in care sector summit
The inaugural Young People in Care Sector Summit was 
held in November 2016 and was delivered through a 
partnership between us, the Youth Affairs Council of WA 
and the CREATE Foundation. The summit was a platform 
for young people who have been in out-of-home care 
to share their experiences of life in care and after care 
with government and community sector organisations. 
The summit aims to create better understanding of what 
helped young people in care transition to independence, 
as well as where improvements can be made.
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On 1 December 2016 we 
implemented a new Needs 
Assessment Tool and by the 
end of February 2017, all 
children in care had been 
assessed using the tool. As 
a case management tool, 
it helps child protection 
workers to consistently 
identify and assess the 
complex and individual 

needs of children in care. Through the tool we:

 y Gain an overall picture of a child’s needs.

 y Identify a suitable care arrangement for the child.

 y More accurately determine the financial resources 
needed to support a child.

 y Track changes in a child’s needs over time.

 y Identify system-wide needs through aggregated child 
data.

The tool uses 21 questions to capture information covering 
nine dimensions of wellbeing. 

The tool is used within 90 days of a child entering care and 
then either each year or when the needs of a child change. 

The information captured by the tool is readily accessible 
to children’s care teams who use it for their care planning 
and decisions. 

The Needs Assessment Tool was based on the results 
of an evaluation of a similar tool in South Australia and 
existing case management best practice. We also used 
the findings from two consultation focus groups with 
practitioners to inform the Needs Assessment Tool. These 
focus groups discussed the range of complex needs 
amongst children in care and how to meet them. 

focus groups 
Focus groups involved a variety of experts both within our 
Department and from community sector organisations: Key 
Assets, Mercy Care, Parkerville, Salvation Army, UnitingCare 
West, Yorganop, Wanslea, and representatives from our 
district offices including management and frontline staff; 
Psychology Services, Strategy and Reform Unit, Aboriginal 
Practice Leaders and Consultants, Education Services, 
Finance and the Service Delivery and Practice Unit. 

In conjunction with the Tool we also developed a new Care 
Arrangement Support Cost resource model which uses 
the information captured in the Needs Assessment Tools 
to calculate the additional costs of supporting a child in 
care based on their unique needs. The model was trialled 
in December 2016 and January 2017. This needs-based 
model will influence the Department’s demand model and 
aims to better align system costs with children’s individual 
needs.

Photo: Elma Smajic and Sandra McGhie from Midland 
District Office completed the first Needs Assessment Tool 
on 1 December 2016.

case study needs Assessment tool

We are reforming the out-of-home care sector. A key goal is that children who need to enter care have the opportunity to thrive in 
their childhood and beyond.
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Adoption orders granted by the Family Court or country of origin, by type of adoption

Type of adoption 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17

Known  
adoptions

Carer 2 2 0 2

Step-parent 18 12 13 9

Adult 7 5 9 17

Sub-total known adoptions 27 19 22 28

Unrelated  
placement  
adoptions

Local 4 7 3 5

Inter-country 9 3 4 11

Sub-total unrelated adoptions 13 10 7 16

 Total adoption orders 40 29 29 44

Post-adoption information services

Service 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17

Registrations where services were provided(a) 847 846 883 935

Provision of sensitive information 104 105 154 144

Duty enquiry by registered client 374 360 406 380

Facilitated contact between adoption parties 146 139 185 160

Outreach services 99 81 121 107

Death notifications(b) 72 72 111 100

(a) Includes registrations made in previous years as services can be provided over time. 
(b) The Department is legislated to advise parties to an adoption about the death of other parties to the adoption.

Adoption services
We provided adoption and post-adoption services. The 11 
inter-country adoptions during 2016-17 included children 
from Korea, the Philippines, Taiwan and Thailand. 

One of the out-of-home care reforms was to streamline the 
adoption and fostering training and assessment process. 
The streamlining aims to make it easier for adoption 
applicants to also become foster carers for children in care 
with a permanent care arrangement where appropriate. 
The first phase of streamlining has been implemented and 
includes the use of one application form and assessment 
processes for both fostering and adoption applicants. 



51  |  Department for Child Protection and Family Support

therapeutic care services 
We provided therapeutic residential care services for 
children across Western Australia, including Residential 
Care and Secure Care. Psychology Services were also 
provided across all districts and Residential Care facilities. 
There were 56 metropolitan and 64 country Residential 
Care places in group home settings for children with 
challenging behaviours needing out-of-home care. There 
were also six places in Secure Care for children at extreme 
risk of harm to self or others. 

Key activities undertaken by our Therapeutic Care Services 
division in 2016-17 included:

 y Review of the Residential Care Practice manual and 
updates including new procedures.

 y Introducing “Have Your Say” forums which are held four 
times a year to give young people in residential homes 
more opportunity to share their thoughts and ideas 
about being in care.   

 y Collaboration between Secure Care staff and the 
Aboriginal Engagement and Coordination unit to support 
the ClinkAbles project – soft toy animals used with 
Aboriginal children to help start conversations about 
safety, wellbeing and belonging in a culturally meaningful 
way.  Secure Care also held a smoking ceremony in 
respect of the Aboriginal children’s cultural and spiritual 
needs. 

 y The inaugural Sanctuary Social Learning Forum, which 
was attended by Therapeutic Care Services staff and 
district staff  to share skills, knowledge and ideas for 
working within the Sanctuary Framework.

 y Increased involvement of the Psychology Services 
team in consultations regarding children and families 
earlier in the assessment process and giving greater 
focus to children’s long term outcomes. 

support services for children in the 
ceo’s care

child participation and Advocacy
The Advocate for Children in Care supported young people 
in care to know their rights and have a say in decisions that 
affect their lives and in the services provided for them.  The 
Advocate provided young people in care with: 

 y Individual advocacy services so they can have their 
views heard and negotiate changes.  

 y Support accessing formal complaints and appeals 
processes.  

In 2016-17 the Advocate was contacted by, or on behalf 
of, 334 children and young people in care. Of this group, 
39 per cent were Aboriginal and three per cent were from 
a culturally and linguistically diverse background.

Over 1,200 young people gave their views using 
a computer-based self-interviewing program called 
Viewpoint.  Responses were used to develop individual 
care plans as well as to provide group feedback about care 
experiences. Fifty-one per cent of Viewpoint participants 
were Aboriginal. The majority of Viewpoint participants 
reported high levels of satisfaction with their placement 
arrangements and their relationships with carers.  However, 
significant numbers wanted more access to information 
about their personal histories and many were concerned 
about their academic performance, with some indicating 
they would benefit from better access to computers. 

This year the Advocate oversaw the linking of Viewpoint 
with another electronic database to make the views and 
wishes of young people captured in Viewpoint more visible 
to staff engaged in care planning activities. 

    

Stuart, an Aboriginal Elder held a smoking ceremony at Secure 
Care 
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The Advocate also participated in a project to create a 
more child-friendly complaints process for young people 
in care. In the joint project with the Commissioner for 
Children and Young People and the CREATE Foundation, 
the views of young people in care about their experiences 
of raising concerns and making complaints were collected. 
This culminated in October 2016 in a report Speaking Out 
About Raising Concerns in Care.  

native title project
In December 2016, we initiated the Native Title: 
Connecting Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Children 
in Care project. The project aims to strengthen our ability 
to connect Aboriginal children in care to any entitlements 
arising from current or future Native Title claims in Western 
Australia. The project involves using formal legal advice 
to create policy, case practice guidance and tools that 
integrate Native Title claims into existing practices for 
looking after children in care. The project is another 
important opportunity for keeping Aboriginal children in 
care connected to culture and country and for further 
building relationships between our staff and Aboriginal 
children, their families and communities.

towards independent Adulthood trial
During 2016-17, the Commonwealth Government 
Department of Social Services partnered with us to 
develop a new service model for delivering leaving care 
services for young people preparing to transition from care 
to independence. The Towards Independent Adulthood 
Trial is an Australian Government funded initiative from 
the National Framework for Protecting Australia’s Children 
2009-2020.

The trial will run from June 2017 to May 2020 and will 
provide young people in care from 16 years of age with 

one-on-one intensive supports and mentoring over a 
three-year period, to improve their social and economic 
outcomes. Wanslea Family Services is providing the new 
service in the metropolitan area and within 300 kilometres 
from Perth close to Bunbury, Northam and Mandurah. 

education services

We provided support to meet the education needs of 
children in care. Education is vital to the development and 
wellbeing of children and their future life opportunities. 
Children in care often have unique education needs and 
when their education is at risk, Education Officers intervene 
to provide planning and support to bridge any gaps 
between us, the child’s school, carers, and other services.

In 2016-17, Education Services: 

 y Continued to promote children’s literacy development via 
local book clubs. The clubs provide books appropriate to 
the age, ability and culture of children in care. 

 y Maintained important partnerships with institutes, such 
as The University of Notre Dame, through the Whale of a 
Tale reading program that delivers trauma information to 
new teachers and additional reading support for children 
in care. 

 y Accepted a brokerage role proposed by the Department 
of Training and Workforce Development to refer children 
and young people to equity programs. The Department 
of Training and Workforce Development waived fees for 
children in care to study at TAFE between the ages of 
15 and 18 years.

 y Continued to maintain an arrangement between our 
Joondalup district office and Edith Cowan University 
to provide four speech pathology students 13-week 
placements each year. 

 y Continued to hold Collaborative Practice Workshops 
called Sharing Key Messages in the Memorandum Of 
Understanding, attended by representatives from local 
child protection and family support offices, primary and 
secondary schools and local regional education offices.

standards of care

The Standards Monitoring Unit assessed the quality of care 
provided by us and funded community sector organisations 
in line with Better Care, Better Services: Standards for 
Children and Young People in Protection and Care. These 
standards uphold the quality of out-of-home care provision 
in Western Australia and were developed in partnership 
with community sector organisations in 2006. In 2016-17, 
monitoring reviews were conducted in eight district offices 
and 16 residential care services and community sector 
placement services. 

The Royal Commission on Institutional Responses to Child 
Sexual Abuse highlighted the need for greater external 
oversight of the out-of-home care sector in alignment 
with national practice. In response, we reviewed and 
updated the Better Care, Better Services Standards 
with support from a reference group (consisting of our 
staff, other government agencies and community sector 
representatives). The CREATE Foundation consulted with 
children and young people to obtain feedback regarding 
the Standards and we also consulted with Aboriginal 
communities, foster carers and non-government agencies 
for feedback about the Standards.

Where appropriate, the Standards were aligned with the 
Commissioner for Children and Young People’s Child Safe 
Organisations WA: Guidelines. 
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We continued to contribute to the important work of the 
Royal Commission into Institutional Responses to Child 
Sexual Abuse. Our Director General appeared as a witness 
at a public hearing in Sydney in March 2017 and provided 
evidence about our responses to the recommendations of the 
Commission on: 

 y Working with Children Checks.

 y Out-of-home care data collection.

 y Reportable conduct and mandatory reporting.

The Duty of Care Unit investigated allegations of harm to a 
child by an approved carer by assessing the carer against the 
five competencies outlined in the Children and Community 
Services Act 2004.  Investigations were undertaken with 
relevant stakeholders, including district offices, community 
sector organisations, ChildFIRST and Western Australia Police. 
Of the 5,506 children in care during the year, 10 children or 
0.18 per cent had a substantiated allegation of abuse, with 
their caregiver assessed as causing significant harm. This 
compares to five children last year (0.09 per cent). Annual 
figures of children who were the subject of substantiated 
abuse in care in the previous ten year period range from two 
to 16 children.
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perth Airport Achiever Awards 
The Perth Airport Achiever Awards were held on 30 March 
2017. The program awarded 25 young people from 
across Western Australia and was attended by over 150 
guests including politicians, members of the judiciary, foster 
carers, CEOs of community sector organisations, our staff, 
parents and children. The annual event provides financial 
assistance and encouragement to young people aged 15 
to 25 years who have been in care and who are pursuing 
further education and/or training. 

Aspire higher grants program
Our Aspire Higher Grants Program came to an end 
in 2016-17. The program granted special wishes for 
young people leaving care. In 2015, Relationships 
Australia generously provided us with a one-off funding 
amount of $35,000 to create a project to benefit young 
people leaving care. The Aspire Higher grants program 
was created to offer financial assistance to care leavers 
to obtain the ‘little extras’ and to promote feelings of 
belonging and reconnection; provide opportunities to 
develop talents and confidence; and allow development 

of physical fitness, team building and leadership skills. 
In 2016-17, the program distributed its remaining 
$20,644.50 worth of funds to 42 young people leaving 
care. From start to its recent finish, the program granted 
the wishes of 73 young people leaving care.

national child protection Week
In 2016, we marked National Child Protection Week in 
September with a number of initiatives organised across 
Western Australia.

The As Eye See It Photographic Exhibition was held 
from 5-18 September 2016. The exhibition offers the 
opportunity for children and young people living in care 
in Western Australia to express what is important to them 
through photography. Participants were given a camera 
and encouraged to take four photographs of things which 
hold a special significance for them, and one of their 
right eye. The young photographers were also invited to 
submit brief captions describing why they had captured 
each image. The collection of photographs aims to raise 
awareness about what it means to live in out-of-home care 
and provides an insight into the worlds of these young 
people.

 Minister for Child Protection Simone McGurk

“I congratulate our inspirational 
young winners. They have had a 
tough start to life, but found strength 
within themselves to pursue further 
education and training that has the 
potential to significantly transform 
their lives.”
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Workforce
staff profile
On 30 June 2017, we employed 2,741 permanent, fixed term and casual employees. We had a predominantly female 
workforce with women representing 81.7 per cent of total employees. Approximately 78 per cent of permanent and fixed 
term employees were full time and 22 per cent were part-time employees. 

employee numbers by head count on 30 June 2017

employment status 2017 2016 2015
Permanent 2,187 2,205 2,245
Fixed Term 316 286 303
Casual 238 228 217

total 2,741 2,719 2,765

employment type
Full Time 2,180 2,144 2,183
Part Time 561 575 582
 

gender 
Females 2,240 2,205 2,264
Males 501 514 501

staff Attraction and retention
During 2016-17 we progressed our delivery of the Workforce and Diversity Plan 2013–2017. Several workforce 
strategies to build on the capabilities of the current workforce and attract and retain skilled workers and workers from 
diverse backgrounds were implemented. 

Each week, an email recruitment newsletter to make staff aware of work opportunities was distributed. We maintained 
an internal transfer register to record staff who were interested in transferring to another position or location within the 
Department and an Aboriginal Employment Register for Aboriginal people to receive job alerts. On 30 June 2017, there 
were 244 people recorded in the Aboriginal employment register.

We launched an employment microsite 
www.childprotectioncareers.wa.gov.au 
in February 2017. This site incorporated 
our Seek, LinkedIn and Facebook pages 
to attract, retain and monitor interest. 
Between 1 February and 30 June 
2017, the site attracted 19,539 visitors 
with 4,134 clicks through to Jobs WA 
applications. The site was also critical to 
attracting 230 new registrations in our 
Aboriginal Employment Register. 
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We continued to create awareness of our brand and 
employment prospects through several Facebook and 
LinkedIn components. Since July 2015, we have nearly 
tripled our number of followers on LinkedIn, from 6,157 
to 15,167 on 30 June 2016. We have 1,085 employees 
with LinkedIn profiles.

Customised application packs and advertising branding for 
key positions were implemented in the year. This branding 
was also used in Facebook and LinkedIn advertisements 
and has more than doubled the applications received for 
jobs. 

Using targeted recruitment campaigns on our employment 
microsite and social media pages, we established 
recruitment pools for Senior Aboriginal Child Protection 
Workers, Child Protection Workers, Senior Child Protection 
Workers and Team Leader positions in both country and 
metropolitan areas. The pools provide a uniform approach 
and a quick turnaround time to fill vacancies.

We ran an Aboriginal Cadetship Program which supports 
Aboriginal university students studying towards a 
qualification relevant to child protection work. Fourteen 
Cadets have participated in the program since 2010; 
six cadets have progressed towards Specified Callings 
positions. On 30 June 2017, five cadets were participating 
in the program. 

Cadets are provided with employment opportunities during 
their cadetships and positions relevant to their qualification 
are reserved to accommodate them at the completion of 
their cadetship. 

We also supported the Aboriginal Traineeship Program 
provided by the Public Sector Commission by coordinating 
the placement of five trainees in our agency.

Lastly, we implemented strategies to increase the 

participation of people with disabilities as a deliverable to 
the Human Resources Coordinator role. Partnerships were 
formed with Disability Employment Network providers and 
our staff were offered disability awareness training.  

learning and Development
During the year, our Learning and Development Centre 
strengthened the opportunities and pathways for child 
protection practitioners, therapeutic care services and 
carers. 

Our Learning and Development Centre delivered or 
facilitated a total of 391 workshops (relating to one of 

76 available courses), involving 3,461 attendees (2,461 
Department staff and 1,000 community sector staff and 
carers) and amounting to 7,764 person-days of training. 

online learning activities 
Our Learning and Development Centre introduced an 
online Learning Dashboard in 2017 to enable staff and 
carers to record the training programs they complete 
and track their learning pathway progress. There was a 
significant increase in the number of new online Learning 
and Development accounts created by carers and an 
increased use of the Online site Moodle by both our staff 
and external staff.

26 staff completed an Aspiring Cross Cultural Leadership Program. 

23 Department staff and 17 community sector participants completed Steady Walking Talking: Developing 
Partnerships with Noongar People. Training developed and delivered in partnership with the Australian Association of 
Social Workers WA Branch and the Telethon Kids Institute. 

18 Department and eight community sector participants attended a Steady Walking Talking cultural immersion day.

18 Department staff completed a Certificate IV in Child, Youth and Family Intervention.  

17 Department staff were completing the Diploma of Child Youth and Family Intervention of which 10 are Aboriginal.

357 potential new carer families enrolled in foster carer preparation courses. 

729 carers and 454 Department staff attended 66  foster carer extension workshops.

300+ participants attended the 2016 Signs of Safety Gathering with live streaming access for Department regional 
remote staff and external participants.

30 participants attended two “Thinker in Residence” workshops, co-hosted with the Office of Commissioner for 
Children and Young People, with video access for regional and external participants.

170 Department staff and community sector partners attended a Family Finding Bootcamp - a new family intervention 
model being implemented in the Department.

52 Social Work university students completed training placements in the Department.

participation in training and professional development workshops
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the individualised placement needs of young people in 
care who receive services from the Disability Services 
Commission. The Special Needs Loading program 
provides an additional subsidy to foster and relative carers 
of children with disabilities.

We applied the guidelines in the State Government Access 
Guidelines for Information, Services and Facilities to provide 
information accessible to people with disabilities and 
conducted a full audit of publications, resulting in alternative 
format options and the use of more accessible formats in 
our new website.

We monitored our policies and practices to check they 
address the needs of people with disabilities. This included 
reviewing and improving our Employment of People 

Disability Access and inclusion plan

Our Disability Access Inclusion Plan 2013–2017 provides 
people with disabilities, their families and carers equal 
access to our services and facilities. In 2016-17  
we remained committed to the creation of inclusive 
communities and continued to strive to make our services 
more accessible. 
Initiatives undertaken in 2016-17 to fulfil our commitment 
included a continued focus on increasing opportunities for 
people with disabilities and their families to engage with our 
staff about decisions that affect them. 

We established a consistent approach to profiling 
the needs of children and carers with disabilities and 
maintained a Disability Placement Program to meet 

In 2016-17, the Learning and Development Centre offered 44 eLearning 
modules, involving 2,434 online users - 282 carers, 306 community sector 
staff and 1,846 Department staff. 

with Disability policy to align with contemporary disability 
employment practices and terminology.

Staff planned events using an Accessible Events Checklist 
to maximise participation for people with a disability

Child protection workers received information about how 
to work with parents or children with disabilities in the 
Casework Practice Manual, which details disability-related 
policy and practice.

We promoted awareness raising of specific disability issues 
in all core training for new staff and identified disability 
training workshops such as Getting to Yes, Beyond Blue 
and Heads Up for managers and staff. The training helped 
recruitment and employment practices become more 
inclusive and accessible for people with disabilities.
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Where possible, we have made our buildings and facilities 
physically accessible to people with disabilities. This has 
included checking accessibility of reception and client 
contact areas. All future premises either built or leased 
must comply with disability access requirements.

substantive equality

We recognised the unique needs of particular groups of 
people within our workforce and amongst our client base. 
The following frameworks applied substantive equality 
principles:

 y Culturally and Linguistically Diverse Services Framework.

 y Workforce and Diversity Plan 2013–2017.

 y Aboriginal Services and Practice Framework 2016–
2018.

 y Remote Services Framework.

 y Disability Access and Inclusion Plan 2013–2017.

The following programs targeted the professional 
development of Aboriginal staff:

 y Aboriginal Cadetship Program.

 y HECS-HELP scheme.

equal opportunity and valuing 
Diversity 

A key priority identified in our Workforce and Diversity Plan 
2013–2017 is to build the diversity of our workforce by 
implementing initiatives to attract and retain employees 
from diverse groups. We have been committed to providing 
a supportive and inclusive workplace that respects the 
cultural values and beliefs of all employees.

employees by equal employment opportunity group
Employees (head count)

Women culturally 

diverse 

people

Aboriginal 

people

people with 

disability

young people

(<25 years)

30 June 2017 2,240 464 218 50 110
30 June 2016 2,205 308 241 32 101
30 June 2015 2,264 305 244 28 133

comparison of diversity groups as a percentage of total employees
Workforce representation

Women culturally 

diverse 

people

Aboriginal 

people

people with 

disability

young people

(<25 years)

2016-17 Target Plan - 12.0 12.0 2.2 6.7
30 June 2017 81.7 16.9 8.0 1.8 4.0
30 June 2016 81.1 11.3 8.9 1.2 3.7
30 June 2015 81.9 11.0 8.8 1.0 4.8

Harmony Day Event. Group photo, Eduardo J. Farate , Sisonke Msimang (Centre for Stories), Golda Signal (Shout Out speaker); Emma White; Vithan Thillairajah 
(Shout Out speaker); and Ruth Lopez, Senior CaLD Policy Officer, Housing Authority.
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comparison of diversity groups equity index
Equity index

Women culturally 

diverse 

people

Aboriginal 

people

people with 

disability

2016-17 Target Plan 90 100 78 100
30 June 2017 89 92 59 85
30 June 2016 91 100 58 170
30 June 2015 92 101 56 176

The equity index measures the extent to which employees from diversity groups are distributed throughout the 
classifications levels of our agency, in comparison to the total workforce.  An equity index of 100 is optimal.  An index 
below 100 indicates that the equal opportunity group is more distributed at more junior classification levels, whereas an 
index above 100 indicates distribution at more senior levels of the workforce.

Women in management
Women in Management Tiers (per cent)

tier two (a) tier three (b)
tier two & three 

(combined)

2016-17 Target Plan - - 60
30 June 2017 29 63 59
30 June 2016 67 60 60
30 June 2015 67 58 59

(a) Tier two positions report to the Director General

(b) Tier three positions report to tier two

Women are well represented in management positions.  On 30 June 2017, women occupied 59 per cent of senior 
management tiers two and three positions across the Department.

occupational safety, health and 
injury management

We have been committed to providing a safe workplace 
for all employees and acknowledge our obligations under 
the Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984 and the 
Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981. 
We achieved general duty of care by taking all reasonable 
practicable measures to protect the safety and health of 
our employees, clients, visitors and other persons within the 
workplace.
Child protection work involves dealing with families who 
are experiencing trauma or crisis and sometimes their 
behaviours are unpredictable. We investigate serious 
incidents resulting from unpredictable client behaviour to 
determine what happened and to minimise the risk of the 
incident recurring. 

When a workplace injury occurs, we work to minimise the 
impact of the injury through effective claims and injury 
management, including the development of employee 
return to work plans where appropriate. This involves 
applying our occupational safety and health, workers’ 
compensation and injury management policies and 
procedures as well as relevant codes of practice. 

Our executive is committed to occupational safety and 
health and injury management. This is demonstrated 
through monitoring relevant reports and supporting 
occupational safety and health initiatives and training, 
including:

 y Online training modules for management and staff.

 y Wellbeing programs and activities targeted to all staff.

 y Outcomes and corrective actions following incident 
investigations.
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 y Proactively addressing hazards in the workplace.

 y Development of an Occupational Safety and Health 
Management Plan.

 y Development of an Occupational Safety and Health 
Improvement Plan.

 y Provision of funding to provide an extended Employee 
Support Network.

 y Implementation of a new hazard and incident reporting 
and investigation program in June 2017 called 
SafetyMax, which interacts with the InjuryConnect which 
was implemented in June 2016.

We have encouraged occupational safety and health as 
a standing agenda item at team meetings across the 
organisation at all levels. On 30 June 2017, we had 101 
trained occupational safety and health representatives 
across metropolitan and country locations.

In 2016-17, we received a total of 98 workers’ 
compensation claims. Approximately 61.2 per cent of 
claims related to physical injury and 38.8 per cent related 
to psychological injury.

Tragically, we experienced a workplace fatality in July 
2016, as a result of a motor vehicle accident. The result 
of this workplace fatality has resulted in a significant 
commitment by all employees to improve our safety 
practices.

occupational health and safety, and workers’ compensation

indicator Actual target target Achieved
2015-16 2016-17

Number of fatalities 0 1 0 x
Lost time injury/disease incident rate (a) 2.85 2.54 10% reduction x
Lost time injury severity rate (b) 49.2% 18.64% 10% reduction 
Percentage of injured workers returned to 
work within:

13 week

26 weeks
71.4%

78.6%

55.9%

62.7% 80% or more

x

x
Percentage of managers training in 
occupational safety and health, and injury 
management responsibilities

55.2% 61.18% 80% or more x

(a) Lost time injury/disease incidence rate is calculated by the number of lost time injury/disease claims lodged where one day/shift or more was 
lost from work, divided by the number of employees, multiplied by 100.

(b) Lost time injury severity rate is calculated by taking the number of severe injuries divided by the number of lost time injury/disease claims, 
multiplied by 100.
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AccountAbility 
ministerial Directives
No Ministerial directives were received during the financial year. 

conflicts of interest 
At the date of reporting, no senior officers, or firms of which senior 
officers are members, or entities in which senior officers have 
substantial interests, had any interests in existing or proposed 
contracts with the Department other than normal contracts of 
employment service.

Western Australian government 
purchasing card
Under Treasurer’s Instruction 321 ‘Credit Cards - Authorised 
Use’, the Department is required to disclose certain information in 
relation to personal expenditure made using a Western Australian 
government purchasing card.

employee misconduct
Our Integrity Services Unit investigates suspected breaches of discipline, or makes inquiries into matters 
involving suspected employee misconduct.  The Unit also has delegated responsibility for notifying the 
Corruption and Crime Commission of suspected misconduct and notifying police of matters involving potential 
criminality.

Compliance with the Public Sector Code of Ethics and our Code of Conduct is monitored in part through the 
receipt and management of complaints and reports about employee misconduct.  

misconduct allegations and improvement actions

misconduct type
Allegations 
received

improvement 
actions completed (b)

Personal behaviour (a) 149 31

Communication and Official information 21 6

Fraudulent or corrupt behaviour 11 0

Use of public resources 3 2

Record keeping and use of information 11 1

Conflict of interest and gifts and benefits 8 6

Reporting suspected breaches of the code 0 0

total 203 46

 
(a) Personal behaviour includes inappropriate physical contact, threatening behaviour and unprofessional conduct.

(b) Improvement actions are made through a Local Management Resolution process and only relate to minor matters. Misconduct 
allegations may also be handled via different processes, such as disciplinary investigation or consultation. Completed 
improvement actions include cases commenced in the previous year.

key information 2016-17

Number of times a Western Australian 
government purchasing card was used for 
personal use expenditure

21

Total value of personal use expenditure $1,052.29

Total value of personal use expenditure 
settled by due date (within 5 days)

$538.77

Total value of personal use expenditure 
settled after due date

$513.52

Total value of personal use expenditure 
settled outstanding as at 30 June 2016

nil

Referrals for disciplinary action during the 
reporting period

nil
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Discipline investigations

misconduct type Allegations

outcomes

substantiated

not 
substantiated/
no further 
action

resigned/ 
contract 
ended(b)

Personal behaviour(a) 100 21 79 3

Communication and 
Official information

16 1 15 0

Fraudulent or corrupt 
behaviour

9 1 8 1

Use of public resources 1 0 1 0

Record keeping and use 
of information

17 3
14 0

Conflict of interest and 
gifts and benefits 

8 2 6 0

Reporting suspected 
breaches of the code

0 0 0 0

total 151 28 123 4

(a) Personal behaviour includes inappropriate physical contact, threatening behaviour and unprofessional conduct.

(b) In most cases, a discipline process is suspended upon the employee’s resignation or contract completion.

The table records the number of disciplinary matters with outcomes in 2016-17, which may include matters from the previous 
year. The remainder are carried over.

complaints management
The Complaints Management Unit received 103 pre-
complaint enquiries and provided 68 complaint kits. The 
average time to complete locally managed complaint 
investigations was 30 days and the average time to 
complete centrally managed investigations was 115 days. 
No complaints progressed to formal investigation by the 
State Ombudsman, and 89 general State Ombudsman 
enquiries were received.

complaint statistics 2016-17

  Action initiated (a)  

Complaint 
recipient

Tier one 
response

Tier two 
response

Tier 
three

Total

Minister 24 1 0 25

Director 
General

2 1 0 3

Complaints 
Management 
Unit

304 87 0 391

District Office/
work unit

54 0 0 54

totAl 384 89 0 473

(a) Tier one response is undertaken by the district to investigate and 
achieve resolution. 

Tier two response is undertaken by the Complaints Management Unit 
when the complaint is unresolved in tier one.

Tier three response happens when complaints cannot be resolved and 
information is provided to the complainant about the role of the State 
Ombudsman. 
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recordkeeping plans
Our Recordkeeping Plan was approved by the State 
Record Commission in 2013. The Plan establishes our 
recordkeeping program including its recordkeeping 
systems, disposal arrangements, policies, and practices. 

In 2016-2017, we retrieved historical records to assist: 

 y The Royal Commission into Institutional Responses to 
Child Sexual Abuse.

 y The Department of the Premier and Cabinet in Native 
Title research. 

We returned Native Welfare records (electronic and 
hardcopy) to the Department of Aboriginal Affairs to 
coincide with the 20th Anniversary of “Sorry Day” and 
to support plans to enable Western Australian Aboriginal 
people to have greater ease of access to their family 
history information.  

In line with the principles and standards for electronic 
recordkeeping established by the State Records 
Commission, we continued to assess how our 
recordkeeping practices could be improved. In 2016-17, 
this included:

 y Continued progress in the transition of business 
information into electronic format, increasing the 
number of corporate records to well over one million. 
Corporate Information teams engaged all Department 
business units, both metropolitan and regional, to help 
them establish processes for destroying primary paper 
records after their digitisation.

 y Restructuring our Corporate Information Section by 
amalgamating the existing Corporate Information Branch 
with the Knowledge Management Team. A new Manager 

Corporate Knowledge and Information position was 
created to further assist in the provision of services 
for Records Management and to align these with our 
Knowledge Management Strategy. 

 y Implementing an online History Digest portal which 
provides employees with access to historical Department 
documents.

 y Implementing a Restricted Archive Preservation 
Database for Corporate Information employees to 
provide information about our historical records as 
stored in the State Records Office of Western Australia.

 y Adding Workflow functions in Objective (our Electronic 
Document and Records Management System) for 
document deletion and privilege restriction/exception 
changes.

training
In 2016-17, we trained 410 employees in the use of 
Objective. This training includes employee obligations 
arising from our organisation’s Recordkeeping Plan and a 
hands-on demonstration using Objective. 

We conducted Records Awareness Training with 162 
employees as part of our induction training. This has 
a strong emphasis on highlighting with employees 
recordkeeping obligations and their roles and 
responsibilities to comply with the Recordkeeping Plan. 

The efficiency and effectiveness of our recordkeeping 
system and recordkeeping training has been subject to 
ongoing evaluation. 

freedom of information

Under the Freedom of Information Act 1992 (FOI Act) we 
release information to members of the public. Our average 
number of days to process an application was 40, falling 
within the State Government’s requirement of no more than 
45 days. 

Outside the FOI Act, some limited additional family and 
personal information is also available to Aboriginal people, 
former state wards, and British and Maltese child migrants.

completed information applications

Application 
type

2016-17 2015-16

Family  
History  
Sheet

42 54

Proof of  
Aboriginality

26 37

Proof date  
of birth

93 151

Public  
Trustee

12 12

valid applications for information  
under the FOI Act

applications were subsequently withdrawn 
(of which 89 proceeded informally)

average days to process

366 

93

40



64  |  Department for Child Protection and Family Support

finAnciAl 
Disclosures
expenditure on Advertising, market 
research, polling and Direct mail

category organisation Amount

Media 
Advertising 
Organisations

Adcorp  
Australia Ltd

$36,936 

The Brand Agency $2,598 

LinkedIn $63,862 

Facebook Inc $6,104 

Advertising 
Agencies

Direct Mail 
Organisation

Market 
Research 
Organisation

totAl $109,500

Act of grace payments
In 2016-17 there were no Act of Grace payments made by the Department.

pricing policies of services provided
The Department charges for goods and services rendered on a partial cost recovery basis. These fees and 
charges were determined in accordance with Costing and Pricing Government Services: Guidelines for Use by 
Agencies in the Western Australian Public Sector published by the Department of Treasury. 

capital Works projects
The following office accommodation expansion and upgrade projects were completed in 2016-17:

• Replacement of a metropolitan residential care home.

• Construction of a new government shared office in Mirrabooka.

• Minor works to existing service delivery accommodation in metropolitan and regional areas.

Information technology projects in 2016-17 were:

• Deployment of “Follow-you” printing into larger metropolitan offices.

• Migration to newer servers and subsequent decommissioning of obsolete equipment.

• Virtualisation of the Assist and Objective applications to improve performance and mitigate risk.

• Continued desktop replacement at multiple sites.

• Upgrades to the latest version of Enterprise Vault.

• Replacement of aging critical network infrastructure.

government building training policy 
The Department does not have any maintenance contracts over the value of $2 million and the Department’s 
construction contracts are managed by the Department of Finance’s Building Management and Works. 
Accordingly, disclosure requirements of this policy will be met by the Department of Finance.
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boards and committee remuneration

position name type of 
remuneration

period of 
membership

gross/actual 
remuneration 
2015/16 
financial year

Chairperson: Joanne Eggleston $150 p.hr  12 months $9,650

Deputy Chairperson: Margaret van Keppel $120 p.hr  12 months $9,471

Independent Member: Kerry Sommerville-
Brown

$120 p.hr   12 months $6,840

Independent Member: Deborah Foster-
Gaitskell

$120 p.hr   12 months $7,425

Independent Member: Annette Bilic $120 p.hr    12 months $8,910

Member: Eduardo Farate N/A 12 months $0

Member: Jane Simmons N/A 12 months $0

Member: Sooyin Wiegele N/A 12 months $0

total $42,296.00

Adoption Applications committee
The functions of the Adoption Applications Committee 
are outlined in Section 13 of the Adoptions Act 1994 
and include considering the suitability of prospective 
adoptive parents. In 2016-17, the committee assessed 
an increasing number of applicants involving complex 
considerations, including:

 y Mental health difficulties.

 y Experiences of early childhood family disruption or of 
marital breakdowns as adults.

 y Multiple traffic infringements and convictions such as 
driving under the influence.

 y Conservative religious affiliations amid the culturally 
diverse identities of prospective adoptive parents.

 y More requests to review and challenge committee 
decisions about the approved criteria for potential 
placements.
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care plan review panel 
The Care Plan Review Panel is an independent Panel 
established to review care planning decisions made for 
children in care. The Panel is guided by the best interests 
of the child. 

In 2016-17, the Panel received 30 applications to review 
a decision, including from 17 biological parents; four foster 
carers; one family carer; one maternal grandparent; three 
paternal grandparents; one maternal uncle; and, three 
maternal aunts.

The Panel held seven hearings, with six hearings upholding 
our care planning decisions and one hearing resulting 
in the decision not being upheld. Two applications are 
pending and 18 applications were withdrawn or did not 
meet the criteria for a hearing. The main reasons for appeal 
concerned contact decisions. 

All members of the Panel were appointed by the CEO of 
the Department for Child Protection and Family Support. 
Each Panel hearing comprises, at a minimum, three 
independent members with relevant expertise including the 
Chairperson or Deputy Chairperson.

The Panel is made up of the following appointees:

• The Chairperson (who has legal qualifications)

• Deputy Chairperson (who also has legal qualifications) 

• Independent Panel members who have either a 
qualification in Social Work or Psychology and who 
have experience in, and knowledge of, child and family 
welfare.

position type of remuneration period of 
membership

gross/Actual 
remuneration

Chair $1400/Full day hearing 
$  920/Half day hearing

3 years to 31.03.2018 $8,360

Deputy Chair 1 $1400/Full day hearing 
$  920/Half day hearing

3 years to 31.03.2018 $0

Deputy Chair 2 $1400/Full day hearing 
$  920/Half day hearing

3 years to 31.03.2018 $0

position type of remuneration period of 
membership

gross/Actual 
remuneration

Member 1 $920/Full day hearing

$600/Half day hearing

3 years to 31.03.2018 $920

Member 2 $920/Full day hearing

$600/Half day hearing

3 years to 31.03.2018 $920

Member 3 $920/Full day hearing

$600/Half day hearing

3 years to 31.03.2018 $3,040

Member 4 $920/Full day hearing

$600/Half day hearing

3 years to 31.03.2018 $3,040

Member 5 $920/Full day hearing

$600/Half day hearing

3 years to 30.09.2016 $1,200

Member 6 $920/Full day hearing

$600/Half day hearing

3 years to 31.03.2018 $1,840

totAl $19,320

Member names have been withheld because of the sensitive nature of their decisions and to protect their anonymity.
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ministerial Advisory council on child 
protection
The Ministerial Advisory Council is an advisory body to the 
Minister on child protection matters. Its terms of reference 
are to:

 y Provide the Minister with expert advice on child 
protection policies and practices in Western Australia.

 y Identify current and emerging child protection issues that 
impact on children and young people in care and their 
families.

 y Undertake other tasks requested by the Minister.

position name type of 
remuneration

period of 
membership

gross/actual 
remuneration 
2016-17

Chair Person Hon Michael Board Annual 12 months $13,400

Deputy 
Chairperson

Hon Kay Hallahan Full day $300

Half day $200

12 months $1,000

Member Dawn Wallam Full day $300

Half day $200

12 months $1,400 

Member Tricia Murray Full day $300

Half day $200

12 months $800

Member Donna Chung Full day $300

Half day $200

12 months $0

Member Aisha Dixon Full day $300

Half day $200

12 months $0

Member Fay Alford Full day $300

Half day $200

12 months $800

Member Debbie Henderson Full day $300

Half day $200

12 months $1000

Member Katherine Browne Full day $300

Half day $200

9 months $200

Member Kay Benham Not Applicable 1 Month $0
Member Mandy Gadsdon Not Applicable 11 Months $0

totAl  $18,600
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Western Australian council on 
homelessness
The Western Australian Council on Homelessness was 
established by the Minister for Child Protection as an 
external advisory body to government on homelessness 
matters. The new term of the council commenced on 1 
January 2017 and has met on three occasions.

The terms of reference for the council are to:

Contribute to the development and ongoing review of 
state and regional homelessness action plans, ensuring 
integrated responses with non-government, government 
and mainstream services to ensure a more connected and 
responsive service system.

Undertake sector consultation, examine current and 
emerging pertinent issues affecting homelessness in 
Western Australia. 

Provide accurate timely advice and support to the Minister.

position name type of 
remuneration

period of membership gross/actual 
remuneration 
2016-17

Chair Person Kathleen 
Gregory

Annual 6 months* $3,350

Community 
Representative

Yvette 
Carolin

Half day meeting $200 6 months* $0

Community 
Representative

Louise 
Giolitto

Half day meeting $200 6 months* $600

Community 
Representative

Anne 
Moore

Half day meeting $200 6 months* $600

Local Government 
Representative

Jo Burges Half day meeting $200 1 months $0

Government 
Representative

Stuart 
Clarke

Not applicable 6 months* $0

Government 
Representative

Tanya 
George

Not applicable 6 months* $0

Government 
Representative

Steve 
Glew

Not applicable 6 months* $0

Government 
Representative

Julia 
Knapton

Not applicable 6 months* $0

totAl $4,550

*Members were appointed to the Council commencing 1 January 2017, however due to the State Election, meetings did 
not commence until April 2017.
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other boards and committees
These boards and committees are not listed on the register published by the Department of the Premier and Cabinet and they receive no remuneration.

 name organisation

Chair: Basil Hanna Parkerville Children and Youth Care Inc 
Emma White Department for Child Protection and Family Support
Mandy Gadsdon Department for Child Protection and Family Support
Ian Carter Anglicare WA
Louise Giolitto Western Australian Council of Social Service Inc
Steve Glew Department for Child Protection and Family Support
David Harrison Department for Child Protection and Family Support
Debbie Henderson Family Inclusion Network of Western Australia
Andrew Hyland Lifestyle Solutions
Amanda Hunt UnitingCare West
Glenn Mace Department for Child Protection and Family Support
Shaun Mays Mission Australia
Daniel Morrison Aboriginal Alcohol and Drug Service
Tricia Murray Wanslea Family Services Inc 

Melissa Perry Communicare Inc
Tony Pietropiccolo Centrecare Inc
Scott Smallacombe The Salvation Army
Dawn Wallam Yorganop Association Inc
Debra Zanella Ruah Community Services

community sector roundtable
The Community Sector Roundtable is a partnership 
between the Department and the community services 
sector that provides an opportunity to enhance shared 
understanding and to strengthen our funding and service 
arrangements. The combined expertise assists in providing 
ideas, accountability, and the opportunity to test issues and 
strategies in a constructive environment.
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child safety Directors’ group 
This group is chaired by the Director General and comprises senior officers from relevant State Government agencies. 
The group provides a coordinated response across services for vulnerable children and their families, including children in 
care. In 2017 it was determined that the group meet quarterly. 

 name organisation

Emma White      Department for Child Protection and Family Support
Mandy Gadsdon Department for Child Protection and Family Support
Elke Brown         Department of Aboriginal Affairs
Tanya Castellas Department of Corrective Services
Helen Nys           Disability Services Commission
Catherine Shepherd       Department of Education
Trevor Gregory Housing Authority
Lisa Brennan      Child and Adolescent Health Service
Julia Knapton     Mental Health Commission
Tracey Gillett     Regional Services Reform Team
Jon Pilkington    Department of Local Government and Communities
Lucy Gunn           Department of Aboriginal Affairs
Teresa Tagliaferri             Department of the Attorney General
Richard Miles     Department of Education Services
Richard Aspinall                Department of the Prime Minister and Cabinet
Louise Giolitto   Western Australian Council of Social Services
Ian Trust              Western Australian Aboriginal Advisory Council
Sharron Leonhardt Western Australia Police
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Outcome Based Management Framework
The Department for Child Protection and Family Support (the Department) is funded to provide a range of services to the Western Australian community based on 10 key services.  These 
services aim to reach three broad outcomes which contribute to the government goal listed in the Outcome Based Management (OBM) framework.

Key PerFOrMance IndIcatOrS

Greater focus on achieving results in key service delivery 
areas for the benefit of all Western Australians.

Families and individuals are assisted to overcome their risks  
and crises, are kept safe and are diverted from the child  
protection system.

Children and young people needing protection are safe  
from abuse and harm.

Children and young people in the Chief Executive Officer’s (CEO’s) care 
receive a high quality of care and have much improved life chances.

1.  Homelessness Services
2.  Responsible Parenting Services
3.  At Risk Youth Services
4.  Family Support Services

5.  Family and Domestic Violence Services
6.  Working with Children Checks
7.  Child Protection Assessments and Investigations
8.  Child Centred Family Support Services

9.  Care Arrangements for Children in the CEO’s Care
10.  Support Services for Children in the CEO’s Care

The Department’s OBM framework includes 14 effectiveness and 14 efficiency indicators that measure the extent to which its services achieved their intended outcomes.  The 28 Key Performance 
Indicators (KPIs) are used by the Department’s Corporate Executive to inform decision-making and meet the accountability requirements set by legislation.  Several of the Department’s KPIs are 
based on child protection performance indicators reported nationally by all Australian jurisdictions.  The efficiency indicators focus on the unit costs of key activities within the ten key service areas.

Results with significant variances of 10 per cent or more compared to the target or to the prior year results are explained in greater detail.

Government goal Agency Level Outcomes Services
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certification of key performance indicators

I hereby certify that the key performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant and 
appropriate for assisting users to assess the Department for Child Protection and Family Support’s 
performance, and fairly represent the performance of the Department for Child Protection and 
Family Support for the financial year ended 30 June 2017.

Philippa Beamish Burton 
Reporting Officer 
16 August 2017
Philippa Beamish Burton 
Reporting Officer 
16 August 2017
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Outcome: Families and individuals are assisted to overcome their risks and crises, are kept safe and are diverted from the child 
protection system.

Percentage of clients with some or all goals achieved at the completion of a 
homelessness service support period
This indicator reports on the proportion of clients who have received a homelessness service (excluding family and domestic violence 
services) and the extent to which the client achieved the case management plan goals at the end of their support.  The indicator is 
drawn from the specialist homelessness services data collection provided by the Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW).  The 
indicator reports on the proportion of completed cases where the specialist homelessness service worker assesses that ‘up to half’, 
’half or more’ or ‘all’ goals of clients have been achieved.

The result for this KPI is always based on previous financial year data.  This is due to the timeframe of data supplied by specialist 
homelessness services to AIHW. 

The result for 2016-17 was slightly below the target and the same as the 2015-16 result.

Percentage of Parent Support clients who demonstrated positive gains in their 
parenting skills that resulted in improved child behaviour
The indicator is presented as a proportion of all completed Parent Support cases where the child’s parents made either ‘some’ or 
‘significant’ gains in their parenting skills and the consequence of such gains was the improved behaviour of the child.  The indicator is 
measured as a proportion of all completed Parent Support cases during the reporting period.

The result for 2016-17 was slightly below the target and below the 2015-16 result.

effectiveness Indicators

Target

Target

85%

80%

84%
84%
84%

2015-16
2016-17

2014-15

82%
79%

2015-16
2016-17

2014-15 86%
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Percentage of family support service clients who reported confidence to manage as 
a result of receiving services
This indicator represents the proportion of family support service clients who reported an improved confidence to manage as a result 
of receiving services(1). The indicator is drawn from the results of the Department’s Annual Customer Perception Survey conducted 
between 31 October and 25 November 2016. It is calculated as the percentage of respondents answering either of the top two 
ratings of ‘very confident’ or ‘confident’ on a five point(2) response scale to a question about their confidence to manage in the future 
as a result of receiving a service. 

The Department funds a number of community sector organisations to provide family support services.

The result for 2016-17 was slightly below the target and above the 2015-16 result.

Percentage of at risk youth clients with some or all case management goals 
achieved on case closure
The Department funds a number of community sector organisations to provide services to at risk young people in the community as 
part of the Department’s At Risk Youth Strategy.  These services are an important response to community concerns about at risk youth, 
and are aimed at reconnecting at risk youth with their families, education, training and employment. Outcomes data on case closure is 
now included in service agreements with these organisations and is being collected and reported on.  

This indicator reports on the proportion of clients who have received service from the funded community sector organisations and the 
extent to which the client achieved the case management plan goals at the time of case closure. The indicator reports on the proportion 
of completed cases where the community sector organisation worker assesses those ‘less than half’, ‘half or more’ or ‘all’ goals of 
clients have been achieved. The KPI results for 2016-17 and 2015-16 results are based on the 2016 and 2015 calendar year.  This 
is because the community sector organisations report data to the department two months after the end of the financial year.

This is a new indicator for 2016-17 and the result was slightly below the target and above the 2015-16 result.

Target
95%

89%2016-17

Target
90%

2015-16 88%

(1)     The 2016-17 survey results have a confidence interval of ±6.62 per cent at the 95 per cent confidence level.  Other survey statistics include: 
       • Estimated population size: 14,440 •     Customers invited to take part: 379 
       • Number of respondents: 216  •     Response rate: 57 per cent
(2)     Very confident, Confident, Neither, Not confident and Not at all confident.

92%
94%

2015-16
2015-16

2014-15 93%
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95%

efficiency Indicators

Average cost per homelessness client
 Total cost ! Number of clients $  Average cost per client

Target Result Target Result Target Result
2016-17 $51,984,000 $50,686,704 14,000 15,227 $3,713 $3,329

2015-16 $56,812,000 $50,474,692 13,900 14,858 $4,087 $3,397

2014-15 N/A $49,167,268 N/A 13,819 N/A $3,558

This indicator reports the average cost per homelessness client (excluding family and domestic violence services), who was supported by a community sector organisation funded by the Department.  

The result for this KPI is always based on previous financial year data.  This is due to the timeframe of data supplied by specialist homelessness services to AIHW. 

There was a larger than anticipated increase in the number of homelessness clients who received support during 2016-17 and as a result the average cost per client was significantly lower than the 
2016-17 target and slightly lower than the 2015-16 result.  The lower than anticipated expenditure was primarily due to the downwards adjustment to both Commonwealth and State indexation rates 
during 2016-17.

Average cost per Responsible Parenting case
 Total cost    Number of Responsible Parenting cases  $           Average cost per case

Target Result Target Result Target Result
2016-17 $22,079,000 $13,898,695 2,000 1,109 $11,040 $12,533

2015-16 $27,699,000 $24,774,401 2,500 2,233 $11,080 $11,095

2014-15 N/A $25,587,052 N/A 2,447 N/A $10,456

This indicator reports the average cost per Responsible Parenting case completed during the year. 

During 2016-17, the Responsible Parenting Service (RPS) was restructured due to the finalisation of the Royalties for Regions funded RPS expansion project in 2017-18 and the Department’s 
overarching service delivery reforms which included the implementation of the Earlier Intervention and Family Support Strategy as well as the establishment of a dedicated Intensive Family Support team 
in each district to enable consistent district processes across all regions. Activities previously completed by the specific RPS teams were transitioned to the Intensive Family Support teams from October 
2016. 

Although the restructure and transition of activities had been anticipated in setting the 2016-17 target, unexpected delays in establishing full caseloads in the Intensive Family Support teams and an 
increased number of vacant positions in regional areas due to difficulties in attracting and retaining staff has had a significant effect on the number of RPS cases during the year and  a reduction in total 
cost of RPS in 2016-17. Consequently, the 2016-17 result was significantly above the target and the 2015-16 result.
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Average cost per at risk youth client
 Total cost ! Number of clients  $  Average cost per client

Target Result Target Result Target Result
2016-17 $13,063,000 $13,449,4260 14,000 13,688 $933 $983

2015-16 $12,989,000 $12,603,631 15,000 15,363 $866 $820

2014-15 N/A $12,465,723 N/A 16,174 N/A $771

This indicator reports the average cost per at risk youth client, who was supported by a community sector organisation funded by the Department.  

The KPI results for 2016-17 and 2015-16 results are based on the 2016 and 2015 calendar year.  This is because the community sector organisations report data to the department two months 
after the end of the financial year.

The result for 2016-17 was above the target and the 2015-16 result mainly due to fewer clients accessing youth services in this period. The increased expenditure in 2016-17 compared to the 
2016-17 target is predominately due to the additional funding allocated to the Department following the October 2016 transfer of responsibility for five funded youth drop-in centres previously 
contracted by the Department of Corrective Services.

Average cost per family support case
 Total cost    Number of family support cases  $           Average cost per case

Target Result Target Result Target Result
2016-17 $19,435,000 $14,006,560 13,000 14,440 $1,495 $970

2015-16 $27,866,000 $20,968,626 30,000 18,090 $930 $1,159

2014-15 N/A $26,508,868 N/A 31,112 N/A $852

This indicator reports the average cost per family support case which was either supported by the Department or a community sector organisation funded by the Department.
Assisting families early, when they seek help to overcome a significant issue or crisis has significant benefits for the individual and for the community.  There are long-term cost efficiencies of this earlier 
intervention and support, which prevent families and children needing more expensive and intensive services such as children coming into the care of the CEO.
The family support case data is a combination of data derived from the Department’s system and data provided by community sector organisations. The Department’s data is based on the 2016-17 
financial year; however, data from community sector organisations is based on the 2016 calendar year.  This is because the community sector organisations report data to the department two months 
after the end of the financial year.
The result for 2016-17 was significantly below the target and the 2015-16 result.
There was a significant reduction in expenditure in 2016-17 compared to the 2016-17 target primarily due to the implementation of a number of the Department’s service delivery reforms during 
2016-17. As a result of these reforms there has been a shift in district staff time away from non-intensive family support services towards intensive family support services, child centred family support 
services and child protection activities. 
Furthermore a reduction in expenditure due to the cessation of the Strong Families program in January 2017, changes  to the delivery of the Aboriginal Student Accommodation Service, and one-off 
savings due to the Family Support Networks transitioning to a new service model in early 2018 have also contributed to the reduced expenditure. 
.
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Outcome: children and young people needing protection are safe from abuse and harm

Improved safety - Proportion of clients who were assessed and received a response 
as a result of a family and domestic violence (FDV) incident and did not require 
another FDV related response within 12 months
This indicator shows the extent to which FDV related child protection interventions were successful in preventing further such 
interventions occurring.  The indicator reports the proportion of clients who received a child protection service response to a FDV 
related incident, and did not require another similar response within 12 months.

The Department adjusted the measure in 2015-16 by excluding clients who remained in an open case for 12 months after the first 
response to avoid counting those in an ongoing case as successfully not requiring another service.  This resulted in the Department 
reporting a significantly lower performance over the last two years than the original target.  However, a review of the OBM structure in 
March 2017 has resulted in the continuation of this KPI in 2017-18 with the target adjusted down to 80 per cent.

The result for 2016-17 is lower than the target and the same as the 2015-16 result.  

Proportion of Working with Children cards issued within 30 days of 
lodgement where the applicant had no criminal record
This indicator reports on the proportion of Working with Children cards issued within 30 days of lodgement where 
the applicant did not have a criminal record.  The measure uses a proportion of all notices issued within the reporting 
period.

The result for 2016-17 is higher than the target and lower than the 2015-16 result.

effectiveness indicators

Target

Target

90%

90%

76%2016-17
2015-16
2014-15

2014-15

76%
75%

91%
99%
98%

2015-16
2016-17
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Target
90%

Proportion of decisions finalised within 60 days where the applicant for a 
Working with Children card had a criminal record
This indicator reports on the proportion of decisions finalised within 60 days for Working with Children card applications 
where the applicant has a criminal record.  The measure uses a proportion of all notices issued within the reporting 
period.

The result for 2016-17 is higher than the target and the same as the 2015-16 result.

Improved safety – Proportion of children not subject to a subsequent 
substantiation of harm within 12 months of a previous substantiation of 
harm
This indicator shows the effectiveness of the Department’s responses to substantiated cases of child abuse and 
neglect in preventing further harm occurring.  The indicator shows the proportion of children who were the subject 
of a substantiation of harm in the previous year and who were not the subject of a subsequent substantiation of 
harm within the following 12 months. Achievements for this indicator are affected by multiple and complex family-
related factors which can be beyond the Department’s control.

The result for 2016-17 indicates that 90 per cent of children were kept safe for the 12 months following a 
substantiation of harm. The Department’s performance was higher than all other Australian child protection 
jurisdictions with the exception of Victoria as shown on Table16A.12 of the Report on Government Services 2017.

Target
95%

93%2015-16
2014-15
2013-14

94%
94%

2011-12 93%
2012-13 92%

97%
97%

2015-16
2016-17

2014-15 89%

90%2016-17
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90%

95%

Improved safety – Proportion of children not subject to a substantiation 
of harm 12 months after an assessment of harm that was 
unsubstantiated
This indicator measures the effectiveness of safety and wellbeing assessments in identifying risks to children and 
the adequacy of the intervention undertaken to protect children from harm in the future.  The indicator shows the 
proportion of children who were the subject of an assessment of harm that was unsubstantiated in the previous year 
and who were not the subject of a substantiation of harm within the subsequent 12 months.

The result for 2016-17 shows that 93 per cent of children were kept safe in the 12 months following an assessment 
that was unsubstantiated. The Department’s performance was higher than all other Australian child protection 
jurisdictions, Table16A.11 of the Report on Government Services 2017. Target

95%

2014-15
2013-14

95%
95%

2011-12 96%
2012-13 95%

Proportion of children who received a Child Centred Family Support 
(CCFS) service and did not enter care within 12 months of service 
completion
This indicator shows the extent to which a CCFS service is successful in preventing the child from entering the care 
of the CEO.  The indicator reports on the proportion of children who received a CCFS service and did not enter the 
care of the CEO within 12 months of the completion of that service.

The result for 2016-17 was slightly below the target and the same as the 2015-16 result.
Target
90%

2014-15 87%

95%
93%

2015-16
2015-16

88%
88%

2015-16
2016-17
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efficiency Indicators

Average cost per family and domestic violence (FDV) services client

 Total cost ! Number of clients receiving FDV services $  Average cost per client

Target Result Target Result Target Result
2016-17 $41,484,000 $43,136,226 11,400 12,366 $3,639 $3,488

2015-16 $36,597,000 $39,697,895 12,000 11,906 $3,050 $3,334

2014-15 N/A $35,966,909 N/A 11,264 N/A $3,188

This indicator reports the average cost per client who received FDV services provided by the Department during the financial year.

The result for 2016-17 was slightly below the target and above the 2015-16 result.

Average cost per ‘Working with Children Checks’ application processed

 Total cost    Number of applications
 $           Average cost per 

application

Target Result Target Result Target Result
2016-17 $5,280,000 $4,624,789 120,000 123,383 $44 $37

2015-16 $5,340,000 $5,186,955 100,000 123,555 $50 $42

2014-15 N/A $4,918,607 N/A 111,932 N/A $44

The Working with Children Check aims to screen and prevent people who are a risk to children from gaining employment in work involving children.  The indicator reflects the average cost per ‘Working 
with Children Checks’ application processed.

The result for 2016-17 was below the target and the 2015-16 result and this was mainly due to a higher than anticipated number of Working with Children card applications received in 2016-17. 
The lower than anticipated expenditure in 2016-17 compared to the target was due primarily to the increased number of online card renewals which have lower external service provider costs than 
in-person card renewals. 
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Average cost per ‘Working with Children Checks’ screening completed

 Total cost    Number of screenings
$           Average cost per 

screening

Target Result Target Result Target Result
2016-17 $7,920,000 $6,332,138 120,000 122,503 $66 $52

2015-16 $7,302,000 $7,996,068 100,000 124,062 $73 $65

2014-15 N/A $7,075,413 N/A 114,144 N/A $62

The Working with Children Check screening activities occur at the application stage, with subsequent screenings undertaken to assess the ongoing validity of a person’s Working with Children card.  The 
indicator reflects the average cost per ‘Working with Children Checks’ screening completed.

The result for 2016-17 was below the target and the 2015-16 result.  This was mainly due to a higher than anticipated number of Working with Children card screenings required in 2016-17. The 
lower than anticipated expenditure in 2016-17 compared to the target was a result of the implementation of improved screening processes including automation of processes through the enhanced 
use of information systems. These factors in combination, resulted in overall cost reductions.

Average cost per child involved in child protection cases

 Total cost ! Number of children in child protection cases $  Average cost per case

Target Result Target Result Target Result
2016-17 $77,388,000 $80,917,398 18,000 18,438 $4,299 $4,389

2015-16 $79,844,000 $78,827,595 18,000 18,446 $4,436 $4,273

2014-15 $128,515,515 $118,241,367 18,500 18,223 $6,947 $6,489

2013-14 $122,507,363 $120,422,175 18,522 17,929 $6,614 $6,717

2012-13 $109,988,535 $118,590,676 16,841 17,376 $6,531 $6,825

2011-12 $103,768,292 $105,707,208 13,826 16,368 $7,505 $6,458

This indicator reports the average cost per child involved in a child protection initial inquiry, safety and wellbeing assessment and/or protection application that commenced during the year or that 
commenced in a prior year and was ongoing during 2016-17.

The result for 2016-17 was slightly above the target and the 2015-16 result.
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Average cost per child centred family support services

 Total cost    Number of child centred family support cases  $           Average cost per case

Target Result Target Result Target Result
2016-17 $35,894,000 $39,895,014 4,200 4,072 $8,546 $9,797

2015-16 $37,478,000 $35,720,023 4,000 4,236 $9,370 $8,432

2014-15 N/A $37,514,541 N/A 3,896 N/A $9,629

This indicator reports the average cost per child centred family support services that commenced during the year or that commenced in a prior year and was ongoing during 2016-17.  

The Department’s strategic direction 2016–19 completed a full year of activity during 2016-17 and this emphasised the provision of targeted support to the needs of families that are vulnerable to 
their children coming into care.  

The result for 2016-17 was significantly above the target and the 2015-16 result due to the higher than anticipated district expenditure attributed to the service following the implementation of the 
Department’s Earlier Intervention and Family Support Strategy and the creation of dedicated Intensive Family Support teams in each district. Unexpected delays in establishing full caseloads in the 
Intensive Family Support teams and the increased number of vacant positions in regional areas due to difficulties in attracting and retaining staff has resulted in a lower than anticipated number of child 
centred family support cases in 2016-17 and contributed to the higher 2016-17 result.
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Outcome: children and young people in the chief executive Officer’s care receive a high quality of care and have much 
improved life chances

Proportion of Aboriginal children in the CEO’s care placed in accordance 
with the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Child Placement Principle

This indicator shows the proportion of Aboriginal children in placements that met the first three of the four placement 
options under the Aboriginal child placement principle contained in the Children and Community Services Act 2004.  
These include placements with the child’s extended family, members of their community or other Aboriginal people or 
services, as a proportion of all Aboriginal children in the CEO’s care.  It is important for Aboriginal children who come into 
care to maintain a connection with family and culture.  The indicator is based on the nationally reported ‘Placement in 
accordance with the Aboriginal child placement principle.’

The result of 64 per cent in 2016-17 was comparable to other Australian child protection jurisdictions, with 68 per cent 
result achieved nationally on 30 June 2016, Table16A-23 of the Report on Government Services 2017.

As of 30 June 2017, there are 123 more Aboriginal children in care when compared with numbers on 30 June 2016, of 
which 86 per cent are in the metropolitan area. The 2016-17 result is below the 2015-16 result and reflects the impact 
of the increasing numbers of Aboriginal children entering care and the difficulty the Department continues to experience 
in recruiting and retaining Aboriginal foster carers.

effectiveness indicators

Target
80%

2014-15
2013-14

66%
68%

2011-12 71%
2012-13 69%

*

* Reflects previous target of 85%.

66%
64%

2015-16

2015-16
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Proportion of children and young people in care who felt safe in their care 
arrangement
This is the first of two effectiveness indicators that measures survey responses that uses Viewpoint software from 
children in the CEO’s care.(3)  Viewpoint is an interactive software program for children and young people aged between 
five and 17, which they can use to provide the Department with information about their experiences, wishes and worries.  
It is an easy-to-use, enjoyable way for children and young people to contribute to their individual care plans and to join 
with others in providing feedback about what is going well for them and where the Department needs to improve the 
services and support provided to them as partners in their care.

This indicator reports on the proportion of children in the care of the CEO who indicate in their Viewpoint survey that they 
felt safe in their care arrangement. The measure uses the Viewpoint survey responses during the reporting period to the 
question ‘Do you feel safe where you live?’  The calculation is the percentage of respondents answering either of the top 
two ratings (‘yes’ or ‘most of the time’) on a four point response scale(4) to the question.

The result for 2016-17 was above the target and the 2015-16 result.

94%2015-16

Target
95%

2014-15 93%

(3)     The 2016-17 survey results have a confidence interval of ±2.21 per cent at the 95 per cent confidence level.  Other survey statistics include: 
       • Estimated population size: 3,194 •     Children and yong people invited to take part: 2,491 
       • Number of respondents: 1,215 •     Response rate: 49 per cent
(4)     Yes, Most of the time, Not really and Not at all.

96%2016-17
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95%

Proportion of children in the CEO’s care with comprehensive care planning 
undertaken within set timeframes
This indicator shows the proportion of children in care with comprehensive care planning completed within set timeframes.  
When children enter care, the Department seeks to reduce the impacts caused by abuse and neglect and the effect of 
this trauma on the child’s development.  The care plan identifies the child’s educational, health and cultural needs and the 
steps required to address those needs.

The indicator incorporates:
• Children in care who had a care plan completed in the last 12 months (excluding children in provisional protection 

and care); and

• Children who entered provisional protection and care and had a provisional care plan completed within seven days 
of entering care.

The target takes into account factors outside the Department’s control which may impact on its ability to provide timely 
care planning including vast geographic distances and the availability of the child’s carers, family and other professionals 
involved in the child’s care.  

The result in 2016-17 indicates that 80 per cent of children in the CEO’s care had up to date care planning in place on 
30 June 2017 and this was below both the target and the 2015-16 result.  The lower result is predominately due to 
the implementation of the Needs Assessment Tool (NAT) in December 2016 and the Department’s focus to ensure that 
every child in the CEO’s care had their individual needs assessed through the NAT by February 2017.  The NAT is a part 
of the Department’s out of home care reforms and identifies the individual needs of the child across all dimensions of the 
child’s life, which are the same dimensions addressed in the care plan.  The effort required to complete this activity during 
2016-17 has adversely impacted on the Departments performance against this indicator.

Target
90%

84%
80%

2015-16
2016-17

2014-15
2013-14

82%
85%

**
2012-13 90%

** Reflects previous target of 85%.
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Proportion of children and young people in care who felt supported in their 
care arrangement
This is the second of the effectiveness indicators that measures survey responses through Viewpoint software from 
children in the CEO’s care.(5)

This indicator reports on the proportion of children in the care of the CEO who indicated in their Viewpoint survey that they 
felt supported in their care arrangement.  The measure uses the Viewpoint survey responses during the reporting period 
from children aged between five and 17 years to the question ‘Does your caseworker help you?’  The calculation is the 
percentage of respondents answering either of the top two ratings (‘yes’ or ‘sometimes, but I’d like more help’) on a four 
point response scale(6) to the question.

The result for 2016-17 was below the target and the 2015-16 result.

85%
83%

2015-16
2016-17

Target
90%

2014-15 85%

(5)      The 2016-17 survey results have a confidence interval of ±2.35 per cent at the 95 per cent confidence level.  Other survey statistics include:
        •   Estimated population size: 3,194 •   Children and young people invited to take part: 2,491 
        •   Number of respondents: 1,123 •   Response rate: 45 per cent
(6)      Yes, Sometimes but I’d like more help, Not really and Not at all.
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efficiency Indicators

Average cost per day of a foster care arrangement

 Total cost  Total number of days
$  Average cost per child per 

day in foster care

Target Result Target Result Target Result
2016-17 $179,334,000 $180,417,690 1,458,000 1,463,245 $123 123

2015-16 $171,717,000 $166,569,227 1,370,000 1,416,897 $125 $118

2014-15 N/A $165,582,326 N/A 1,353,755 N/A $122

This indicator shows the average cost per child per day in foster care.  Foster carers receive a subsidy towards the ordinary day-to-day costs of caring for a child.  The level of subsidy depends on the 
child’s age and level of complexity of needs.

The result for 2016-17 was below the target and above the 2015-16 result.

Average cost per day of a residential care living arrangement

 Total cost  Total number of days
$  Average cost per child per 

day in residential care

Target Result Target Result Target Result
2016-17 $49,400,000 $49,564,461 40,000 32,290 $1,235 $1,535

2015-16 $49,535,000 $48,463,154 41,000 36,074 $1,208 $1,343

2014-15 N/A $49,880,321 N/A 40,017 N/A $1,246

This indicator shows the average cost per child per day in residential care.  Residential care services provide temporary therapeutic residential care, which focuses on creating and sustaining care 
environments capable of healing the traumatic impact of abuse and neglect and the disrupted attachment that ensues.  It is an environment intended to be healing for the child, and safe for the child and 
staff.

The result for 2016-17 was above the target and the 2015-16 result due primarily to the lower than anticipated number of residential care living arrangement days in 2016-17. This reduction in the 
number of days was a result of a number of residential care homes operating on reduced bed capacity during the year to allow staff to adequately manage the risks associated with the challenging 
behaviours of an increased number of children and young people with extreme behaviours and complex needs that were placed in residential care homes as emergency placements.

90%
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Average cost per day of an exceptionally complex needs care living arrangement

 Total cost  Total number of days
$  Average cost per child per 
day in exceptionally complex 

needs care

Target Result Target Result Target Result
2016-17 $13,909,000 $11,690,722 7,000 7,229 $1,987 $1,617

2015-16 $14,423,000 $11,185,539 9,700 6,492 $1,487 $1,723

2014-15 N/A $13,101,021 N/A 9,383 N/A $1,396

This indicator shows the average cost per child per day in exceptionally complex needs care.  The Department’s Transitional High Needs Program caters for children and young people with extremely 
complex behaviours and high needs who often pose a risk to themselves and the broader community.  These placements provide individualised and specialised care. 

The result for 2016-17 was significantly below the target and slightly below the 2015-16 result due to the implementation of improved procurement and contracting processes that have reduced the 
anticipated costs associated with a number of the individualised and specialised placement contractual arrangements.  

Average cost per day of a secure care living arrangement

 Total cost  Total number of days
$  Average cost per child per 

day in secure care

Target Result Target Result Target Result
2016-17 $5,311,500 $5,688,798 1,500 1,518 $3,541 $3,748

2015-16 $4,946,000 $5,427,222 1,300 1,586 $3,805 $3,422

2014-15 N/A $5,021,802 N/A 1,483 N/A $3,386

This indicator shows the average cost per child per day in secure care.  Secure care is a therapeutic care service, providing planned, short-term intensive intervention for young people aged 12 – 17 
years who are considered to be at immediate and substantial risk of causing significant harm to themselves and/or others, and there are no other options for managing that risk and meeting their needs.

The result for 2016-17 was above the target and the 2015-16 result.
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Annual Report 2015 - 2016  |  PB

Average cost per day to plan for and support a child in the CEO’s care

 Total cost  Total number of days
$  Average cost per child per 

day in the CEO’s care

Target Result Target Result Target Result
2016-17 $89,313,000 $93,673,283 1,708,000 1,708,235 $52 $55

2015-16 $82,728,000 $88,010,800 1,624,000 1,662,254 $51 $53

2014-15 N/A $80,415,841 N/A 1,586,786 N/A $51

This indicator shows the average cost per child per day in the CEO’s care.

Expenditure includes case support costs, contract costs for community service organisations funded to provide reunification and leaving care services and Viewpoint survey management costs.  These 
costs are coupled with the caseworker time allocated to address a child’s health, education and other needs as detailed in their care plan, including maintaining a child’s connection with their family through 
ongoing contact arrangements.

The result for 2016-17 was slightly above the target and the 2015-16 result.
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Certification of financial statements

The accompanying financial statements of the Department for Child Protection and Family 
Support have been prepared in compliance with the provisions of the Financial Management 
Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial transactions for the 
reporting  period ended 30 June 2017 and the financial position as at 30 June 2017.

At the date of signing I am not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars 
included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.     
     

         

Philippa Beamish Burton 
Reporting Officer 
16 August 2017

Financial StatementS
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Statement of Comprehensive Income 
For the year ended 30 June 2017

Note 2017
($’000)

2016
($’000)

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses
Employee benefits expense 6 243,509 242,181 
Supplies and services 7 52,175 54,112 
Depreciation and amortisation expense 8 8,765 8,553 
Accommodation expenses 9 30,455 30,083 
Grants and subsidies 10 130,635 115,932 
Funding for services 11 171,865 167,224 
Loss on disposal of non-current assets 17   173 11 
Other expenses 12 5,477 6,498 

Total cost of services 643,054 624,594 

Income
Revenue
User charges and fees 14 7,048 7,084 
Commonwealth grants and contributions 15 42,009 40,732 
Other revenue 16 2,492 1,672 

Total revenue 51,549 49,488 

Total income other than income from State Government 51,549 49,488

NET COST OF SERVICES 591,505 575,106

Income from State Government 18
Service appropriation 582,511 567,465 
Services received free of charge 1,633 2,567 
Royalties for Regions Fund 7,298 13,527 
Other funds received from State Government 1,372 850 

Total income from State Government 592,814 584,409 

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD 1,309 9,303 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Items not reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Changes in asset revaluation surplus 33 (6,626) (3,099)

Total other comprehensive income (6,626) (3,099)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD (5,317) 6,204 

See also the ‘Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service’.

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Financial Position 
As at 30 June 2017

Note 2017
($’000)

2016
($’000)

ASSETS
Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 34 19,400 18,270 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 19, 34 1,360 1,652 
Receivables 20 4,312 3,884 
Other current assets 22 5,777 2,527 
Non-current assets classified as held for sale or for distribution to owners 23 7,062 8,399 

Total Current Assets 37,911 34,732 

Non-Current Assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 19, 34   813 0
Amounts receivable for services 21 77,441 68,485 
Property, plant and equipment 24, 27 81,424 88,630 
Leasehold improvements 25, 27 10,400 11,855 
Work in progress 26, 27 249 2,084 
Intangible assets 29, 27 19,615 20,711 

Total Non-Current Assets 189,942 191,765 

TOTAL ASSETS 227,853 226,497 

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities

Payables 31 14,338 5,837 
Provisions 32 44,503 46,959 

Total Current Liabilities 58,841 52,796 

Non-Current Liabilities
Payables 31 1,887 1,260
Provisions 32 12,162 13,627 

Total Non-Current Liabilities 14,049 14,887 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 72,890 67,683 

NET ASSETS 154,963 158,814 

EQUITY 33
Contributed equity 102,181 100,715 
Reserves 64,591 71,217 
Accumulated (deficit) (11,809) (13,118)

TOTAL EQUITY 154,963 158,814 

See also the 'Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service'.

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Changes in Equity  
For the year ended 30 June 2017

Note

Contributed
 equity

 ($’000)
Reserves

($’000)

Accumulated
surplus/
(deficit)
($’000)

Total
equity

($’000)

Balance at 1 July 2015 33 97,051 74,316 (22,421) 148,946
Surplus 0 0 9,303 9,303 
Other comprehensive income 0 (3,099) 0 (3,099)

Total comprehensive income for the period 0 (3,099) 9,303 6,204 
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Capital appropriations 4,090 0 0 4,090 
Other contributions by owners 323 0 0 323 
Distribution to owners (749) 0 0 (749)

Total 3,664 0 0 3,664 

Balance at 30 June 2016 100,715 71,217 (13,118) 158,814 

Balance at 1 July 2016 100,715 71,217 (13,118) 158,814
Surplus 0 0 1,309 1,309 
Other comprehensive income 0 (6,626) 0 (6,626)

Total comprehensive income for the period 0 (6,626) 1,309 (5,317)
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Capital appropriations 2,306 0 0 2,306 
Distribution to owners (840) 0 0 (840)

Total 1,466 0 0 1,466 

Balance at 30 June 2017 102,181 64,591 (11,809) 154,963 

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Cash Flows 
For the year ended 30 June 2017

Note 2017
($’000)

2016
($’000)

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Receipts

Service appropriation 18 573,555 556,860 
Capital appropriations 33 2,306 4,090 
Royalties for Regions Fund 7,298 13,527 
Other funds received from State Government 1,372 850 

Net cash provided by State Government 584,531 575,327 

Utilised as follows:

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Payments
Employee benefits (245,660) (243,975)
Supplies and services (52,031) (52,144)
Accommodation (30,643) (29,993)
Grants and subsidies (127,249) (115,451)
Funding for services (170,183) (167,304)
GST payments on purchases (31,687) (28,632)
Other payments (5,245) (6,332)

Receipts
User charges and fees 7,050 7,084 
Commonwealth grants and contributions 42,033 40,712 
GST receipts on sales 529 310 
GST receipts from taxation authority 30,123 28,479 
Other receipts 3,456 536 

Net cash (used in) operating activities 34 (579,507) (566,710)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments

Purchase of non-current assets (3,373) (7,315)
Net cash (used in) investing activities (3,373) (7,315)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,651 1,301 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 19,922 18,620 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 34 21,573 19,922 

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with accompanying notes.
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Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service 
For the year ended 30 June 2017

Homelessness
Services

Responsible
Parenting
Services

At Risk
Youth Services

Family Support
Services

Family and
Domestic

Violence Services

Working with
Children Checks

2017 
($’000)

2016 
($’000)

2017 
($’000)

2016 
($’000)

2017 
($’000)

2016 
($’000)

2017 
($’000)

2016 
($’000)

2017 
($’000)

2016 
($’000)

2017 
($’000)

2016 
($’000)

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses

Employee benefits expense 2,458 2,264 9,444 17,810 1,841 2,008 9,234 14,982 3,290 2,842 5,371 5,330
Supplies and services 732 821 2,738 4,382 420 462 1,965 2,916 783 701 6,108 6,891
Depreciation and amortisation expense 45 28 239 266 48 35 237 539 48 31 74 132
Accommodation expenses 96 85 990 1,538 100 111 1,364 2,053 213 195 778 1,284
Grants and subsidies 1 90 154 245 1 1 19,110 9,901 431 46 2 0
Funding for services 47,303 47,127 0 0 10,982 9,917 6,053 9,030 38,305 35,826 0 0
Loss on disposal of non-current assets 2 0 9 1 2 0 6 1 2 0 0 0
Other expenses 50 60 325 534 56 69 182 337 65 57 126 127

Total cost of services 50,687 50,475 13,899 24,776 13,450 12,603 38,151 39,759 43,137 39,698 12,459 13,764

Income
User charges and fees 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 6,973 7,015
Commonwealth grants and contributions 28,539 28,516 0 0 0 0 378 362 13,092 11,854 0 0
Other revenue 18 871 74 41 19 5 53 152 668 167 0 0

Total income other than income from State Government 28,557 29,387 74 42 19 5 432 515 13,760 12,021 6,973 7,015

NET COST OF SERVICES 22,130 21,088 13,825 24,734 13,431 12,598 37,719 39,244 29,377 27,677 5,486 6,749

Income from State Government
Service appropriation 20,560 19,782 9,084 15,702 13,413 12,721 36,921 38,467 29,338 27,949 5,479 6,815
Services received free of charge 7 9 35 83 7 11 48 134 7 9 0 0
Royalties for Regions Fund 1,457 1,504 4,616 10,627 0 0 32 86 0 0 0 0
Other funds received from State Government 13 0 69 0 14 0 47 850 14 0 0 0

Total income from State Government 22,037 21,295 13,804 26,412 13,434 12,732 37,048 39,537 29,359 27,958 5,479 6,815

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD (93) 207 (21) 1,678 3 134 (671) 293 (18) 281 (7) 66

The Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service 
For the year ended 30 June 2017 (continued)

Child Protection
Assessments and

Investigations

Child Centred
Family Support

Services

Care Arrangements
for Children in
the CEO’s Care

 Support Services
for Children in
the CEO’s Care

TOTAL

2017 
($’000)

2016 
($’000)

2017 
($’000)

2016 
($’000)

2017 
($’000)

2016 
($’000)

2017 
($’000)

2016 
($’000)

2017 
($’000)

2016 
($’000)

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses

Employee benefits expense 55,121 52,119 22,596 19,562 78,508 73,357 55,646 51,907 243,509 242,181
Supplies and services 10,596 11,147 4,318 3,792 13,362 12,397 11,153 10,603 52,175 54,112
Depreciation and amortisation expense 1,847 1,858 867 802 3,259 2,820 2,101 2,042 8,765 8,553
Accommodation expenses 7,077 7,285 3,138 2,673 9,246 8,072 7,453 6,787 30,455 30,083
Grants and subsidies 225 172 1,267 1,218 98,968 94,359 10,476 9,900 130,635 115,932
Funding for services 4,844 4,876 7,198 7,136 51,628 48,005 5,552 5,307 171,865 167,224
Loss on disposal of non-current assets 39 2 17 1 54 3 42 3 173 11
Other expenses 1,166 1,369 495 536 1,761 1,947 1,251 1,462 5,477 6,498

Total cost of services 80,915 78,828 39,896 35,720 256,786 240,960 93,674 88,011 643,054 624,594

Income
User charges and fees 6 8 0 1 67 57 1 1 7,048 7,084
Commonwealth grants and contributions 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 42,009 40,732
Other revenue 428 105 181 44 595 178 456 109 2,492 1,672

Total income other than income from State Government 434 113 181 45 662 235 457 110 51,549 49,488

NET COST OF SERVICES 80,481 78,715 39,715 35,675 256,124 240,725 93,217 87,901 591,505 575,106

Income from State Government
Service appropriation 80,028 79,077 39,477 35,824 255,549 242,861 92,662 88,267 582,511 567,465
Services received free of charge 425 578 210 263 397 485 497 995 1,633 2,567
Royalties for Regions Fund 346 403 185 198 234 220 428 489 7,298 13,527
Other funds received from State Government 313 0 132 0 436 0 334 0 1,372 850

Total income from State Government 81,112 80,058 40,004 36,285 256,616 243,566 93,921 89,751 592,814 584,409

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD 631 1,343 289 610 492 2,841 704 1,850 1,309 9,303

The Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service 
As at 30 June 2017

Homelessness
Services

Responsible
Parenting
Services

At Risk
Youth Services

Family Support
Services

Family and
Domestic

Violence Services

Working with
Children Checks

2017 
($’000)

2016 
($’000)

2017 
($’000)

2016 
($’000)

2017 
($’000)

2016 
($’000)

2017 
($’000)

2016 
($’000)

2017 
($’000)

2016 
($’000)

2017 
($’000)

2016 
($’000)

ASSETS
Current Assets 348 407 3,065 4,095 367 383 1,370 1,953 454 327 389 346
Non-Current Assets 1,398 1,289 7,194 11,589 1,487 1,632 5,059 8,428 1,482 1,410 2,642 2,722

Total Assets 1,746 1,696 10,259 15,684 1,854 2,015 6,429 10,381 1,936 1,737 3,031 3,068

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities 656 731 1,239 3,897 251 548 5,767 3,589 1,110 670 1,778 1,945
Non-Current Liabilities 154 143 310 992 41 147 353 944 149 202 318 664

Total Liabilities 810 874 1,549 4,889 292 695 6,120 4,533 1,259 872 2,096 2,609

NET ASSETS 936 822 8,710 10,795 1,562 1,320 309 5,848 677 865 935 459

The Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service 
As at 30 June 2017 (continued)

Child Protection
Assessments and

Investigations

Child Centred
Family Support

Services

Care Arrangements
for Children in
the CEO’s Care

 Support Services
for Children in
the CEO’s Care

TOTAL

2017 
($’000)

2016 
($’000)

2017 
($’000)

2016 
($’000)

2017 
($’000)

2016 
($’000)

2017 
($’000)

2016 
($’000)

2017 
($’000)

2016 
($’000)

ASSETS
Current Assets 8,031 7,064 3,394 2,757 11,824 9,783 8,669 7,617 37,911 34,732
Non-Current Assets 34,526 31,814 14,777 12,599 84,301 86,211 37,076 34,071 189,942 191,765

Total Assets 42,557 38,878 18,171 15,356 96,125 95,994 45,745 41,688 227,853 226,497

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities 13,151 11,561 5,177 4,304 17,005 13,909 12,707 11,642 58,841 52,796
Non-Current Liabilities 5,029 3,573 1,258 1,236 3,388 3,754 3,049 3,232 14,049 14,887

Total Liabilities 18,180 15,134 6,435 5,540 20,393 17,663 15,756 14,874 72,890 67,683

NET ASSETS 24,377 23,744 11,736 9,816 75,732 78,331 29,989 26,814 154,963 158,814

The Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income Estimates 
For the year ended 30 June 2017

2017
Estimate

($’000)

2017
Actual 
($’000)

Variance

($’000)

2017
Actual
($’000)

2016
Actual
($’000)

Variance

($’000)

DELIVERY OF SERVICES
Item 119 Net amount appropriated to deliver services 582,534 582,155 (379) 582,155 570,383 11,772

Section 25 Transfer of service appropriation to the Department of Local Government and Communities 0 0 0 0 (3,269) 3,269

Amount authorised by other statutes - Salaries and Allowances Act 1975 351 356 5 356 351 5

Royalties for Regions Fund 8,871 7,298 (1,573) 7,298 13,527 (6,229)

Total appropriations provided to deliver services 591,756 589,809 (1,947) 589,809 580,992 8,817

CAPITAL
Item 168 Capital appropriations 699 2,306 1,607 2,306 4,090 (1,784)

GRAND TOTAL 592,455 592,115 (340) 592,115 585,082 7,033

Details Of Expenses by Service
Homelessness Services 51,984 50,687 (1,297) 50,687 50,475 212

Responsible Parenting Services 22,079 13,899 (8,180) 13,899 24,776 (10,877)

At Risk Youth Services 13,063 13,450 387 13,450 12,603 847

Family Support Services 37,950 38,151 201 38,151 39,759 (1,608)

Family and Domestic Violence Services 41,484 43,137 1,653 43,137 39,698 3,439

Working with Children Checks 13,854 12,459 (1,395) 12,459 13,764 (1,305)

Child Protection Assessments and Investigations 77,388 80,915 3,527 80,915 78,828 2,087

Child Centred Family Support Services 35,894 39,896 4,002 39,896 35,720 4,176

Care Arrangements for Children in the CEO's Care 257,164 256,786 (378) 256,786 240,960 15,826

Support Services for Children in the CEO's Care 89,313 93,674 4,361 93,674 88,011 5,663

Total cost of services 640,173 643,054 2,881 643,054 624,594 18,460

Less total income (45,787) (51,549) (5,762) (51,549) (49,488) (2,061)

Net cost of services 594,386 591,505 (2,881) 591,505 575,106 16,399

Adjustments (a) (2,630) (1,696) 934 (1,696) 5,886 (7,582)

Total appropriations provided to deliver services 591,756 589,809 (1,947) 589,809 580,992 8,817

Capital expenditure
Purchase of non-current physical assets 1,150 3,373 2,223 3,373 7,315 (3,942)

Adjustments for other funding sources (451) (1,066) (615) (1,066) (3,225) 2,159

Capital appropriations 699 2,306 1,607 2,306 4,090 (1,784)

(a) Adjustments comprise movements in cash balances and other accrual items such as receivables, payables and superannuation.

Note 39 'Explanatory statement' provides details of any significant variations between estimates and actual results for 2017 and between the actual results for 2017 and 2016.
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1 Australian Accounting Standards
General
The Department’s financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2017 have been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards.  The term ‘Australian Accounting Standards’ includes Standards and Interpretations issued by the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB).

The Department has adopted any applicable new and revised Australian Accounting Standards from their operative dates.

Early adoption of standards
The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application of 
Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements.  There has been no early adoption of Australian Accounting 
Standards that have been issued or amended (but not operative) by the Department for the annual reporting period ended 
30 June 2017.

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
a General Statement

The Department is a not-for-profit reporting entity that prepares general purpose financial statements in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative 
pronouncements of the AASB as applied by the Treasurer’s instructions.  Several of these are modified by the 
Treasurer’s instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and wording.

The Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s instructions impose legislative provisions that govern the 
preparation of financial statements and take precedence over Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, 
Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB.

Where modification is required and has had a material or significant financial effect upon the reported results, details of 
that modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

b Basis of Preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost convention, 
except for land and buildings which have been measured at fair value.

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently applied 
throughout all periods presented unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars 
($’000).

Note 3 ‘Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies’ discloses judgements that have been 
made in the process of applying the Department’s accounting policies resulting in the most significant effect on 
amounts recognised in the financial statements.

Note 4 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ discloses key assumptions made concerning the future, and other key 
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next reporting period.

The Department for Child Protection and Family Support was abolished on 30 June 2017 and became part of the 
Department of Communities, which was established on 1 July 2017. All assets and liabilities of the Department for 
Child Protection and Family Support as at 30 June 2017 were transferred to the Department of Communities as 
opening balances on 1 July 2017 together with all the employees.

c Reporting Entity
The reporting entity is solely comprised of the Department for Child Protection and Family Support.

Mission
The Department’s mission is to enable children and young people in the CEO’s care to live in safe, stable and nurturing 
environments, supporting them to achieve good life outcomes; to protect children and young people from abuse and 
neglect; and to support families and individuals who are at risk or in crisis.

The Department is primarily funded by Parliamentary appropriations. The financial statements encompass all funds 
through which the Department controls resources to carry on its functions.

Services
The Department provides the following services:

Service 1: Homelessness Services
Accommodation and related support services for individuals and families who are homeless or at risk of homelessness.

Service 2: Responsible Parenting Services
Responsible parenting support services are aimed at increasing families’ capacity to care for children and young 
people whose safety and wellbeing are at risk.

Service 3: At Risk Youth Services
Services to disadvantaged young people aged 12 to 18 years that assist them to connect with appropriate support 
services, family members, peers and their communities.

Service 4: Family Support Services
Family support services that strengthen families’ ability to overcome crisis in their lives and improve family functioning.

Service 5: Family and Domestic Violence Services
A range of services to people experiencing family and domestic violence, including the provision of crisis 
accommodation, counselling and community based response teams that provide coordinated agency responses to 
family and domestic violence incidents.

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2017
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Service 6: Working with Children Checks
Working with Children Checks increase child safety by helping to prevent people from working with children where they 
have a criminal history that indicates they may harm children.

Service 7: Child Protection Assessments and Investigations
Assessing concerns reported to the Department about the wellbeing of children and young people and responding 
appropriately, including child protection assessments, investigations and making applications for court orders.

Service 8: Child Centred Family Support Services
Intensive support services for families of children and young people who are at risk of entering the care of the Chief 
Executive Officer (CEO) and require these services to promote or safeguard their safety and wellbeing.

Service 9: Care Arrangements for Children in the CEO’s Care
Provision of safe and stable care arrangements for children and young people in the care of the CEO.

Service 10: Support Services for Children in the CEO’s Care
Services for the safety, support and wellbeing of children and young people in the care of the CEO.

d Contributed Equity
AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities requires transfers 
in the nature of equity contributions, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, to be 
designated by the Government (the owner) as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to transfer) before such 
transfers can be recognised as equity contributions.  Capital appropriations have been designated as contributions 
by owners by TI 955 Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities and have been credited 
directly to Contributed equity.

The transfers of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, 
are designated as contributions by owners where the transfers are non-discretionary and non-reciprocal.

e Income
Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable.  Revenue is recognised 
for the major business activities as follows:

Provision of services
Revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction.

Service Appropriations
Service Appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair value in the period in which the Department gains control of 
the appropriated funds.  The Department gains control of appropriated funds at the time those funds are deposited to 
the bank account or credited to the  ‘Amounts receivable for services’ (holding account) held at Treasury.

Net Appropriation Determination
The Treasurer may make a determination providing for prescribed receipts to be retained for services under the 
control of the Department.  In accordance with the most recent determination, as quantified in the 2016/17 Budget 
Statements, the Department retained $51.549 million in 2017 ($49.488 million in 2016) from the following:

-   Proceeds from fees and charges;
-  Commonwealth specific purpose grants and contributions;
-  State Government grants and contributions; and
-  Other departmental revenue.

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions
Revenue is recognised at fair value when the Department obtains control over the assets comprising the contributions, 
usually when cash is received.

Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are recognised at their fair value.  Contributions 
of services are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and the services would be purchased if 
not donated.

Royalties for Regions funds are recognised as revenue at fair value in the period in which the Department obtains 
control over the funds.  The Department obtains control of the funds at the time the funds are deposited into the 
Department’s bank account.

Gains
Realised and unrealised gains are usually recognised on a net basis.  These include gains arising on the disposal of 
non-current assets and some revaluations of non-current assets.

f Property, Plant and Equipment and Leasehold Improvements
Capitalisation/Expensing of assets
Items of property, plant and equipment and leasehold improvement costing $5,000 or more are recognised as 
assets and the cost of utilising assets is expensed (depreciated) over their useful lives.  Items of property, plant and 
equipment and leasehold improvement costing less than $5,000 are immediately expensed direct to the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income (other than where they form part of a group of similar items which are significant in total).

Initial recognition and measurement
Property, plant and equipment and leasehold improvement are initially recognised at cost.

For items of property, plant and equipment and leasehold improvement acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the 
cost is the fair value at the date of acquisition..
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Subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the revaluation model is used for the measurement of land and buildings 
and historical cost for all other property, plant and equipment.  Land and buildings are carried at fair value less 
accumulated depreciation (buildings only) and accumulated impairment losses.  All other items of property, plant and 
equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Where market-based evidence is available, the fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of current 
market values determined by reference to recent market transactions.  When buildings are revalued by reference to 
recent market transactions, the accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset 
and the net amount restated to the revalued amount.

In the absence of market-based evidence, fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of existing use. 
This normally applies where buildings are specialised or where land use is restricted. Fair value for existing use 
buildings is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future economic benefits embodied in 
the asset, i.e. the depreciated replacement cost. Where the fair value of buildings is determined on the depreciated 
replacement cost basis, the accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset 
and the net amount restated to the revalued amount. Fair value for restricted use land is determined by comparison 
with market evidence for land with similar approximate utility (high restricted use land) or market value of comparable 
unrestricted land (low restricted use land).

Land and buildings are independently valued annually by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation 
Services) and recognised annually to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially from the asset’s fair 
value at the end of the reporting period.

Leasehold improvements are carried at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses. 

The most significant assumptions and judgements in estimating fair value are made in assessing whether to apply 
the existing use basis to assets and in determining estimated economic life.  Professional judgement by the valuer is 
required where the evidence does not provide a clear distinction between market type assets and existing use assets.

Derecognition
Upon disposal or derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment any revaluation surplus relating to that 
asset is retained in the asset revaluation surplus.

Asset Revaluation Reserve
The asset revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-current assets 
on a class of assets basis.

Depreciation
All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated useful lives in a 
manner that reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method, using rates which are reviewed annually.  Estimated useful 
lives for each class of depreciable asset are:

Buildings       25 years
Office machines, furniture and equipment  5 years
Computer equipment     4 years

Leasehold improvements are depreciated on a straight line basis over the life of the lease or the life of the asset, 
whichever is less.  The estimated useful life for leasehold improvements is between 1 to 25 years.

Land is not depreciated.

g Intangible Assets
Capitalisation/Expensing of assets
Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more and internally generated intangible assets costing $50,000 
or more are capitalised.  The cost of utilising the assets is expensed (amortised) over their useful lives.  Costs incurred 
below these thresholds are immediately expensed directly to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost.  For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their 
fair value at the date of acquisition. The Department does not have any intangible assets with an indefinite useful life.

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated for the period of the expected benefit (estimated 
useful life which is reviewed annually) on the straight line basis.  All intangible assets controlled by the Department have 
a finite useful life and zero residual value.

The expected useful lives for each class of intangible asset are:

Computer software      3-15 years
Licences       2-5 years
Website costs      3-7 years

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2017



106  |  Department for Child Protection and Family Support

Computer software
Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is recognised as property, plant and equipment.  Software that 
is not an integral part of the related hardware is recognised as an intangible asset.  Software costing less than $5,000 
is expensed in the year of acquisition.

Licences
Licences have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment 
losses.

Website costs
Website costs are charged as expenses when they are incurred unless they relate to the acquisition or development 
of an asset when they may be capitalised and amortised. Generally, costs in relation to feasibility studies during the 
planning phase of a website, and ongoing costs of maintenance during the operating phase are expensed. Costs 
incurred in building or enhancing a website that can be reliably measured, are capitalised to the extent that they 
represent probable future economic benefits.

h Impairment of Assets
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are tested for any indication of impairment at the end of each 
reporting period.  Where there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated.  Where the 
recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to the 
recoverable amount and an impairment loss is recognised.  Where an asset measured at cost is written down to 
recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.  Where a previously revalued asset is written 
down to recoverable amount, the loss is recognised as a revaluation decrement in other comprehensive income. 
As the Department is a not-for-profit entity, unless a specialised asset has been identified as a surplus asset, the 
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost.

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is materially understated, 
where the replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant change in useful life.  Each relevant class of assets 
is reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of consumption or 
expiration of the asset’s future economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from falling replacement costs.

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment 
at the end of each reporting period irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment. The Department does 
not have any such intangible assets for the reporting period.

The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and the 
present value of future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset.  Surplus assets carried at fair value have 
no risk of material impairment where fair value is determined by reference to market-based evidence.  Where fair 
value is determined by reference to depreciated replacement cost, surplus assets are at risk of impairment and the 
recoverable amount is measured.  Surplus assets at cost are tested for indications of impairment at the end of each 
reporting period.

i Non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale or for distribution to owners
Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held for sale or for distribution to owners are recognised at the lower of 
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell or distribute, and are disclosed separately from other assets in the 
Statement of Financial Position. Assets classified as held for sale or for distribution to owners are not depreciated or 
amortised. 

All Crown land holdings are vested in the Department by the Government.  The Department of Lands (DoL) is the only 
agency with the power to sell Crown land.  The Department transfers the Crown land and any attached buildings to 
DoL when the land becomes available for distribution.

j Leases
The Department holds operating leases for motor vehicles, residential care facilities, head office and a number of 
branch office buildings. Operating leases are expensed on a straight line basis over the lease term as this represents 
the pattern of benefits derived from the leased properties.

The Department has no finance lease commitments at this time.

k Financial Instruments
In addition to cash, the Department has two categories of financial instrument:
- Receivables; and
- Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

Financial instruments have been disaggregated into the following classes:
Financial Assets
- Cash and cash equivalents
- Restricted cash and cash equivalents
- Receivables
- Amounts receivable for services
Financial Liabilities
- Payables

Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which normally equates to the transaction 
cost or the face value.  Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value because there is no 
interest rate applicable and subsequent measurement is not required as the effect of discounting is not material.

l Cash and Cash Equivalents
For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash and cash equivalent) 
assets comprise cash on hand which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.
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m Accrued Salaries
Accrued salaries [see note 31 ‘Payables’] represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the reporting 
period.  Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight of the reporting period end.  The Department considers the 
carrying amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to its fair value.

The accrued salaries suspense account [See note 19 ‘Restricted cash and cash equivalents’] consists of amounts paid 
annually into a suspense account over a period of 10 reporting periods to largely meet the additional cash outflow 
in each eleventh year when 27 pay days occur instead of the normal 26.  No interest is received on this account.

n Amounts Receivable for Services (Holding Account)
The Department receives funding on an accrual basis.  The appropriations are paid partly in cash and partly as an asset 
(holding account receivable).  The holding account receivable balance, resulting from service appropriation funding 
is accessible on the emergence of the cash funding requirement to cover leave entitlements and asset replacement.

o Receivables
Receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment).  
The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any receivables identified as uncollectible are 
written off against the allowance account.  The allowance for uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when 
there is objective evidence that the Department will not be able to collect the debts.  The carrying amount is equivalent 
to fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 days.

p Payables
Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Department becomes obliged to make future payments as 
a result of a purchase of assets or services.  The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as settlement is generally 
within 30 days.

q Provisions
Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount and are recognised where there is a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of a past event and when the outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is probable 
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  Provisions are reviewed at the end of each 
reporting period.

Provisions - employee benefits
All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting 
period.

Annual Leave
Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the reporting period and is therefore 
considered to be ‘other long-term employee benefits’. The annual leave liability is recognised and measured at the 
present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected to 
apply at the time of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels including 
non-salary components such as employer superannuation contributions, as well as the experience of employee 
departures and periods of service.  The expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the end 
of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the 
estimated future cash outflows.

The provision for annual leave is classified as a current liability as the Department does not have an unconditional right 
to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

Long service leave
Long service leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the reporting period and is 
therefore recognised and measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled 
using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels including 
non-salary components such as employer superannuation contributions, as well as the experience of employee 
departures and periods of service.  The expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the end 
of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the 
estimated future cash outflows.

Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the Department does not have an 
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.  
Pre-conditional and conditional long service leave provisions are classified as non-current liabilities because the 
Department has an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability until the employee has completed the 
requisite years of service.

Sick Leave
Liabilities for sick leave are recognised when it is probable that sick leave paid in the future will be greater than the 
entitlement that will accrue in the future.

Past history indicates that on average, sick leave taken each reporting period is less than the entitlement accrued. This 
is expected to continue in future periods. Accordingly, it is unlikely that existing accumulated entitlements will be used 
by employees and no liability for unused sick leave entitlements is recognised. As sick leave is non-vesting, an expense 
is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income for this leave as it is taken.

Deferred Leave
The provision for deferred leave relates to Public Service employees who have entered into an agreement to self-fund 
an additional 12 months leave in the fifth year of the agreement.  The provision recognises the value of salary set aside 
for employees to be used in the fifth year.  This liability is measured on the same basis as annual leave.  Deferred leave 
is reported as a current provision as employees can leave the scheme at their discretion at any time.
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Purchased Leave
The provision for purchased leave relates to Public Service employees who have entered into an agreement to  
self-fund up to an additional 10 weeks leave per calendar year.  The provision recognises the value of salary set aside 
for employees and is measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. 

Superannuation
The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) and other funds administer public sector superannuation 
arrangements in Western Australia in accordance with legislative requirements.  Eligibility criteria for membership in 
particular schemes for public sector employees varies according to commencement and implementation dates.

Eligible employees contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme closed to new members 
since 1987, or the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit lump sum scheme closed to new 
members since 1995.

Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were not members of either the Pension Scheme 
or the GSS became non-contributory members of the West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS).  Employees 
commencing employment on or after 16 April 2007 became members of the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS).  From 
30 March 2012, existing members of the WSS or GESBS and new employees became able to choose their preferred
superannuation fund.  The Department makes concurrent contributions to GESB or other funds on behalf of 
employees in compliance with the Commonwealth Government’s Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 
1992.  Contributions to these accumulation schemes extinguish the Department’s liability for superannuation charges 
in respect of employees who are not members of the Pension Scheme or GSS.

The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole-of-government reporting.  However, it 
is a defined contribution plan for agency purposes because the concurrent contributions (defined contributions) made 
by the Department to GESB extinguishes the agency’s obligations to the related superannuation liability.

The Department has no liabilities under the Pension Scheme or the GSS. The liabilities for the unfunded Pension 
Scheme and the unfunded GSS transfer benefits attributable to members who transferred from the Pension Scheme, 
are assumed by the Treasurer.  All other GSS obligations are funded by concurrent contributions made by the 
Department to the GESB.

The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension Scheme and GSS, and is recouped from the Treasurer 
for the employer’s share. See also note 2(r) ‘Superannuation expense’.

Provisions - other
Employment on-costs
Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not employee benefits and are recognised 
separately as liabilities and expenses when the employment to which they relate has occurred.  Employment on-costs 
are included as part of ‘Other expenses’ and are not included as part of the Department’s ‘Employee benefits expense’.  
The related liability is included in ‘Employment on-costs provision’. See also note 12 ‘Other expenses’ and note 32 
‘Provisions’.

r Superannuation Expense
Superannuation expense is recognised in the profit or loss of the Statement of Comprehensive Income and comprises 
of employer contributions paid to the GSS (concurrent contributions), the WSS, the GESBS, or other superannuation 
fund.  The employer contribution paid to the GESB in respect of the GSS is paid back into the Consolidated Account 
by the GESB.

s Assets and services received free of charge or for nominal cost
Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost that the Department would otherwise purchase if not 
donated, are recognised as income at the fair value of the assets or services where they can be reliably measured. 
A corresponding expense is recognised for services received. Receipts of assets are recognised in the Statement of 
Financial Position.

Assets or services received from other State Government agencies are separately disclosed under Income from State 
Government in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

t Comparative Figures
Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the figures presented in the current 
reporting period.

3 Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements about the application of accounting 
policies that have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.  The Department evaluates these 
judgements regularly.

Operating lease commitments
The Department has entered into a number of leases for buildings for branch office accommodation.  Some of these leases 
relate to buildings of a temporary nature and it has been determined that the lessor retains substantially all the risks and 
rewards incidental to ownership.  Accordingly, these leases have been classified as operating leases.

Intangible Asset
The Department has capitalised development costs of a client management system (Assist). This is recognised as an 
internally generated intangible asset. The amortisation and estimated useful life reflects the pattern in which the asset’s future 
economic benefits are expected to be consumed by the Department.

4 Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical experience and various other factors that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next reporting period.

Long Service Leave
Several estimations and assumptions used in calculating the Department’s long service leave provision include expected 
future salary rates, discount rates, employee retention rates and expected future payments.  Changes in these estimations 
and assumptions may impact on the carrying amount of the long service leave provision.
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5 Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates
Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard
The Department has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective, or adopted, for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 July 2016 that impacted on the Department.

AASB 1057 Application of Australian Accounting Standards

This Standard lists the application paragraphs for each other Standard (and Interpretation), grouped 
where they are the same. There is no financial impact.

  
AASB 2014-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation 

and Amortisation [AASB 116 & 138]

The adoption of this Standard has no financial impact for the Department as depreciation and 
amortisation is not determined by reference to revenue generation, but by reference to consumption of 
future economic benefits.
  

AASB 2015-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Annual Improvements to Australian Accounting 
Standards 2012 2014 Cycle [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 11, 110, 119, 121, 133, 134, 137 & 140]

These amendments arise from the issuance of International Financial Reporting Standard Annual 
Improvements to IFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle in September  2014, and editorial corrections. The  
Department has determined that the application of the Standard has no financial impact.

  
AASB 2015-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to AASB  101 

[AASB 7, 101, 134 & 1049]

This Standard amends AASB  101 to provide clarification regarding the disclosure requirements in 
AASB 101.  Specifically, the Standard proposes narrow-focus amendments to address some of the 
concerns expressed about existing presentation and disclosure requirements and to ensure entities are 
able to use judgement when applying a Standard in determining what information to disclose in their 
financial statements.  There is no financial impact.
  

AASB 2015-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Extending Related Party Disclosures to Not-for-Profit 
Public Sector Entities  [AASB 10, 124 & 1049]

The amendments extend the scope of AASB 124 to include application by not-for-profit public sector 
entities. Implementation guidance is included to assist application of the Standard by not-for-profit public 
sector entities. There is no financial impact.
  

AASB 2015-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Effective Date of Amendments to AASB 10 & 128 

This Standard defers the mandatory effective date (application date) of amendments to AASB 10 & 
AASB 128 that were originally made in AASB 2014-10 so that the amendments are required to be 
applied for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 instead of 1 January 2016. 
There is no financial impact.

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative
The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application 
of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements or by an exemption from TI 1101.  Consequently, the 
Department has not applied early any of the following Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued that may 
impact the Department.  Where applicable, the Department plans to apply the following Australian Accounting Standards 
from their application date.

Operative for 
reporting periods 
beginning on/after

AASB 9 Financial Instruments

This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement, introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments. 

The mandatory application date of this Standard is currently 1 January 2018 
after being amended by AASB 2012-6, AASB 2013-9 and AASB 2014-1 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards.  The Department has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

This Standard establishes the principles that the Department shall apply to report 
useful information to users of financial statements about the nature, amount, 
timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from a contract with 
a customer.

The Department’s income is principally derived from appropriations which will 
be measured under AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities and will be 
unaffected by this change. However, the Department has not yet determined the 
potential impact of the Standard on ‘User charges and fees’ and ‘Sales’ revenues. 
In broad terms, it is anticipated that the terms and conditions attached to these 
revenues will defer revenue recognition until the Department has discharged its 
performance obligations.

1 Jan 2019
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AASB 16 Leases

This Standard introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a 
lessee to recognise assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than  
12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. The Department has not 
yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

Whilst the impact of AASB 16 has not yet been quantified, the entity currently has 
operating lease commitments for $47,483,665 over five years. The Department 
anticipates most of this amount will be brought onto the statement of financial 
position, excepting amounts pertinent to short-term or low-value leases. Interest 
and amortisation expense will increase and rental expense will decrease.

1 Jan 2019

AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities

This Standard clarifies and simplifies the income recognition requirements that 
apply to not-for-profit (NFP) entities, more closely reflecting the economic reality 
of NFP entity transactions that are not contracts with customers. Timing of income 
recognition is dependent on whether such a transaction gives rise to a liability, a 
performance obligation (a promise to transfer a good or service), or, an obligation 
to acquire an asset. The Department has not yet determined the application or 
the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2019

AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 
2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 
131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127]

This Standard makes consequential amendments to other Australian Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 9 in December 2010.  

The mandatory application date of this Standard has been amended by AASB 
2012-6 and AASB 2014-1 to 1 January 2018.  The Department has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards

Part E of this Standard makes amendments to AASB 9 and consequential 
amendments to other Standards.  It has not yet been assessed by the Department 
to determine the application or potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 2014-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 15

This Standard gives effect to the consequential amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards (including Interpretations) arising from the issuance of 
AASB 15. The mandatory application date of this Standard has been amended 
by AASB 2015-8 to 1 January 2018. The Department has not yet determined 
the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 2014-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 
(December 2014)

This Standard gives effect to the consequential amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards (including Interpretations) arising from the issuance 
of AASB 9 (December 2014). The Department has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 2014-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Sale or Contribution of Assets 
between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture [AASB 10 & 128]

This Standard amends AASB 10 and AASB 128 to address an inconsistency 
between the requirements in AASB 10 and those in AASB 128 (August 2011), 
in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its 
associate or joint venture. The mandatory effective date (application date) for the 
Standard has been deferred to 1 Jan 2018 by AASB 2015-10.  The Department 
has determined that the Standard has no financial impact.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 2015-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Effective Date of AASB 15

This Standard amends the mandatory effective date (application date) of AASB 
15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers so that AASB 15 is required to 
be applied for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 
instead of 1 January 2017. For Not-For-Profit entities, the mandatory effective 
date has subsequently been amended to 1 January 2019 by AASB 2016-7.  
The Department has not yet determined the application or the potential impact 
of AASB 15.

1 Jan 2019
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AASB 2016-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure Initiative: 
Amendments to AASB 107

This Standard amends AASB 107 Statement of Cash Flows (August 2015) to 
require disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes 
in liabilities arising from financing activities, including both changes arising from 
cash flows and non-cash changes. There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2017

AASB 2016-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Clarifications to AASB 15

This Standard clarifies identifying performance obligations, principal versus agent 
considerations, timing of recognising revenue from granting a licence, and, 
provides further transitional provisions to AASB 15. The Department has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 2016-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Recoverable Amount of  
Non-Cash-Generating Specialised Assets of Not-for-Profit Entities

This Standard clarifies that the recoverable amount of primarily non-cash-
generating assets of not-for-profit entities, which are typically specialised in nature 
and held for continuing use of their service capacity, is expected to be materially 
the same as fair value determined under AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement. The 
Authority has not yet determined the application or the potential impact.

1 Jan 2017

AASB 2016-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Deferral of AASB 15 for  
Not-for-Profit Entities

This Standard amends the mandatory effective date (application date) of AASB 
15 and defers the consequential amendments that were originally set out in 
AASB 2014-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 
AASB 15 for not-for-profit entities to annual reporting periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2019, instead of 1 January 2018. There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2017

AASB 2016-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Australian Implementation 
Guidance for Not-for-Profit Entities

This Standard inserts Australian requirements and authoritative implementation 
guidance for not-for profit entities into AASB 9 and AASB 15. This guidance 
assists not-for-profit entities in applying those Standards to particular transactions 
and other events. There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2019

AASB 2017-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Further Annual  
Improvements 2014-2016 Cycle

This Standard clarifies the scope of AASB 12 by specifying that the disclosure 
requirements apply to an entity’s interests in other entities that are classified 
as held for sale, held for distribution to owners in their capacity as owners or 
discontinued operations in accordance with AASB 5. There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2017

2017
($’000)

2016
($’000)

6 Employee benefits expense
Wages and salaries (a) 221,996 221,181 
Superannuation - defined contribution plans (b) 21,513 21,000 

243,509 242,181 

(a) Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefits tax component, leave entitlements 
including superannuation contribution component.

(b) Defined contribution plans include West State, Gold State, GESB and other eligible funds.

Employment on-costs expenses, such as workers’ compensation insurance, are included at note 12 ‘Other expenses’.  
Employment on-costs liability is included at note 32 ‘Provisions’.

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2017
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2017
($’000)

2016
($’000)

7 Supplies and services
Communications 3,750 4,168
Consultants and contractors 23,851 23,450
Consumables 4,373 3,665

Leased equipment   488 526 

Motor vehicle costs 5,469 5,894 
Staffing costs 8,714 10,062 
Training 1,724 1,642 
Travel 2,031 2,034 
Other 1,775 2,671 

52,175 54,112 

8 Depreciation and amortisation expense
Depreciation
Buildings 1,943 1,994 
Office machines, furniture and equipment   451 542 
Computer equipment   236 279 
Leasehold improvements 3,346 3,954 

Total depreciation 5,976 6,769 

Amortisation
Intangible assets 2,789 1,784 

Total amortisation 2,789 1,784 
Total depreciation and amortisation 8,765 8,553 

9 Accommodation expenses
Lease rentals 19,007 18,910 
Repairs and maintenance - buildings 3,358 2,889 
Insurance - general 2,819 2,779 
Minor works   620 780 
Cleaning, gardening, security, rates and taxes 2,458 2,482 
Power, water and gas 2,193 2,243 

30,455 30,083 

2017
($’000)

2016
($’000)

10 Grants and subsidies
Bereavement assistance   995 946 
Natural disaster assistance   252 741 
Case support costs 25,341 22,164 
Children's and leaving care subsidies 55,572 52,277 
Hardship utility grant scheme 17,508 7,703  
High needs placement programs 29,997 31,294
Other   970 807

130,635 115,932 

11 Funding for services

Homelessness services 47,303 47,127 
At risk youth services 10,982 9,917 
Family support services 6,053 9,030 
Family and domestic violence services 38,305 35,825 
Child protection assessments and investigations 4,844 4,876 
Child centred family support services 7,198 7,137 
Care arrangements for children in the CEO's care 51,628 48,005 
Support services for children in the CEO's care 5,552 5,307 

171,865 167,224 

12 Other expenses
Repairs and maintenance - equipment   28 31 
Doubtful debts expense   125 99 
Employment on-costs (a) (see note 6 ‘Employee benefits expense’) 5,051 5,007 
Audit fees   273 173 
Net assets transferred out (b)   0 1,188

5,477 6,498 

(a) Includes workers’ compensation insurance. The on-costs liability associated with the recognition of annual and long 
service leave liability is included at note 32 ‘Provisions’. Superannuation contributions accrued as part of the provision for 
leave are employee benefits and are not included in employment on-costs.

(b) Return of unspent Royalties for Regions funds for the expansion of the Responsible Parenting Services project.

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2017
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13 Related Party Transactions
The Department is a wholly owned and controlled entity of the State of Western Australia. In conducting its activities, the 
Department is required to pay various taxes and levies based on the standard terms and conditions that apply to all tax and 
levy payers to the State and entities related to State.

Related parties of the department include:

– all Ministers and their close family members, and their controlled or jointly controlled entities; 

– all senior officers and their close family members, and their controlled or jointly controlled entities;

– other departments and public sector entities, including related bodies included in the whole of government consolidated 
financial statements;

– associates and joint ventures, that are included in the whole of government consolidated financial statements; and

– the Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB).

The Department had no material related party transaction with Ministers/senior officers or their close family members or their 
controlled (or jointly controlled) entities for disclosure.

Significant transactions with government related entities

Significant transactions include: 

– service appropriations (Note 18);

– capital appropriations (Note 33);

– Royalties for Regions Fund (Note 18);

– grants provided to government owned utilites (Note 10); and

– capital and lease rentals payments to the Department of Finance (Note 36)

Material transactions with related parties

Material transactions include: 

– superannuation payments to GESB (Note 6)

2017
($’000)

2016
($’000)

14 User charges and fees
Adoption fees   67 55
Working with children screening fees 6,972 7,015
Other   9 14

7,048 7,084

2017
($’000)

2016
($’000)

15 Commonwealth grants and contributions
Recurrent
National Affordable Housing Agreement 22,759 22,454
National Partnership Agreement - Homelessness 14,970 14,970
National Partnership Agreement on Pay Equity for Social and Community Services Sector 2,369 2,631
National Initiatives Program – Women’s Safety Package 1,399 0
National Outcome Standards for Perpetrator Interventions 135 314
Indian Ocean Territories Service Delivery Program 353 330
Unaccompanied Humanitarian Minors 24 33

42,009 40,732

16 Other revenue
Contributions by officers to the Executive Motor Vehicle Scheme 114 112
Rebates and reimbursements 1,446 308
Miscellaneous 932 1,252

2,492 1,672

2016/17 miscellaneous gains ($0.932 million) includes funding from the Department of the Attorney General for the 
Kimberley Family Violence Service ($0.650 million).

17 Net gain/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets
Proceeds from 

disposal of 
non-current 

assets

Carrying amount 
of non-current 

assets disposed

Net gain/(loss)  
on disposal

2017 
($’000)

2016 
($’000)

2017 
($’000)

2016 
($’000)

2017 
($’000)

2016 
($’000)

Buildings 0 0   171 0 ( 171) 0

Office machines, furniture & equipment 0 0   1 9 ( 1) (9)

Computer equipment 0 0   1 2 ( 1) (2)

0 0   173 11 ( 173) (11)

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2017
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18 Income from State Government (continued)

(a) Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered.  Appropriation revenue comprises a cash component and 

a receivable (asset).  The receivable (holding account) comprises the depreciation expense for the year and any agreed 

increase in leave liability during the year.

(b) Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost are recognised as revenue at fair value of the assets and/

or services that can be reliably measured and which would have been purchased if they were not donated.  Contributions 

of assets or services in the nature of contributions by owners are recognised direct to equity.

(c) This is a sub-fund within the over-arching ‘Royalties for Regions Fund’.  The recurrent funds are committed to projects 
and programs in WA regional areas.

2017
($’000)

2016
($’000)

19 Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Current

Royalties for Regions Fund (a) 1,233 1,477

Indian Ocean Territories Service Delivery Program (b)   77 59

Commonwealth Paid Parental leave Scheme (c)   50 116

1,360 1,652

Non-Current

Accrued salaries suspense account (d) 813 0

2,173 1,652

(a) These unspent funds are committed to projects and programs in WA regional areas.

(b) Funds held for the provision of Child Protection Programs for the Indian Ocean Territories.

(c) Funds held in this account are to be used for purposes of meeting payments to eligible working parents with 18 weeks 
of Parental Leave Pay

(d) 27th pay in a financial year that occurs every 11 years.  This will become due in the 2026-2027 financial year.

The 2015/16 comparative has been reclassified to reflect the Commonwealth Paid Parental Leave Scheme included in 
Restricted Cash.

See also Note 34 ‘Notes to the Statement of Cash Flow’.

2017
($’000)

2016
($’000)

18 Income from State Government

Appropriation received during the period:

Service Appropriation (a) 573,555 556,860 

Amount receivable for services (a) 8,956 10,605 

582,511 567,465 

Services received free of charge from other State government agencies during the 
financial period:

Determined on the basis of the following estimates provided by agencies: (b)

Department of Finance - Building Management & Works - Leasing Services 370 406 

Department of Finance - Building Management & Works - Maintenance Services 0 431 

Department of Finance - Integrated Procurement Services 0 96 

State Solicitor's Office - Legal Services 964 1,292 

Landgate - Land Information & Valuation Services 16 17 

Department of Health - Health Assessments for Children in Care 281 305 

Department of Education - Provide Training and Maintenance of Students 2 20 

1,633 2,567

Royalties for Regions Fund:

Regional Community Services Account (c) 7,298 13,527

Other funds received from State Government:

Natural Disaster Relief 877 850

Funding for Local Projects 434 0

Funding for Homeless Advisory Service 61 0

1372 850

592,814 584,409

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2017
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20 Receivables

Gross
Provision for 

Doubtful Debts
Net

2017 
($’000)

2016 
($’000)

2017 
($’000)

2016 
($’000)

2017 
($’000)

2016 
($’000)

Current

Receivables

Foster subsidy   152 230   98 131   54 99 

Salary overpayments   111 96   80 71   31 25 

Workers compensation   682 362   0 0   682 362 

Other   967 1,816   105 122   862 1,694 

GST recoverable 2,683 1,704   0 0 2,683 1,704 

Total Current 4,595 4,208   283 324 4,312 3,884 

2017
($’000)

2016
($’000)

Reconciliation of changes in the allowance for impairment of receivables:

Balance at start of period 324 331

Doubtful debts expense recognised in the income statement 125 99

Amounts written off during the period (166) (106)

Balance at end of period 283 324

The Department does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements as security for receivables.

21 Amounts receivable for services

Non-current 77,441 68,485

77,441 68,485

Represents the non-cash component of service appropriations. It is restricted in that it can only be used for asset 
replacement or payment of leave liability.

2017
($’000)

2016
($’000)

22 Other current assets

Prepayments 5,666 2,423

Other (a) 111 104

5,777 2,527

(a) Prepaid cards

23 Non-current assets classified as held for sale or for distribution to owners

Crown land

Opening balance 6,161 6,650 

Assets reclassified as held for sale or for distribution to owners   2 701 

Revaluation increments/(decrements) recognised in Other Comprehensive Income (590) (1,190)

Assets sold (701) 0

Closing balance 4,872 6,161

Crown buildings

Opening balance 2,238 2,123

Assets reclassified as held for sale or for distribution to owners 0 139 

Revaluation increments/(decrements) recognised in Other Comprehensive Income 91 (24)

Assets sold (139) 0

Closing balance 2,190 2,238 

7,062 8,399 

 

Various properties have been identified as Crown land and buildings held for future sale or for distribution to owners.  The 
Department of Lands is the only agency with the power to sell Crown land.  The land is transferred to the Department 
of Lands for sale and the Department accounts for the transfer as a distribution to owner.  The Department anticipates 
that all land and buildings held for sale or for distribution to owners in the closing balance will be disposed of in the next 
reporting period. 

See also note 2(i) ‘Non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale or for distribution to owners’.

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2017
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2017
($’000)

2016
($’000)

24 Property, plant and equipment

Land

At fair value (a) 37,330 38,603

37,330 38,603

Buildings

At fair value (a) 42,303 48,578 

Accumulated depreciation (282) (242)

42,021 48,336 

Office machines, furniture and equipment

At cost 3,876 3,496 

Accumulated depreciation (2,326) (2,298)

1,550 1,198 

Computer equipment

At cost 3,401 3,727 

Accumulated depreciation (2,878) (3,234)

  523 493 

81,424 88,630 

(a) Land and buildings were revalued as at 1 July 2016 by the Western Australian Land Information Authority  

(Valuation Services). The valuations were performed during the year ended 30 June 2017 and recognised at  

30 June 2017. In undertaking the revaluation, fair value was determined by reference to market values for land: 

$25,915,000 (2016: $26,476,000); current use for land: $11,415,000 (2016: $12,127,000); market values  

for buildings: $22,581,000 (2016: $25,041,000) and current use for buildings: $19,440,000 (2016:  
$23,295,000).   

Information on fair value measurements is provided in Note 28.

2017
($’000)

2016
($’000)

25 Leasehold improvements

At cost 30,014 29,354 

Accumulated depreciation (19,614) (17,499)

10,400 11,855 

26 Work in progress

At cost:

Office accommodation and upgrades 249 2,084

249 2,084
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27 Reconciliation of property, plant & equipment, leasehold improvements, work in progress and intangible assets

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant, equipment, leasehold improvements, work in progress and intangible assets at the beginning and end of the current financial period.

2017 Land
($’000)

Buildings
($’000)

Office machines,
furniture and

 equipment
($’000)

Computer
equipment

($’000)

Leasehold
improvements

($’000)
Intangible assets

($’000)

Work in
progress (b)

($’000)
Total

($’000)

Carrying amount at start of period 38,603 48,336 1,198   493 11,855 20,711 2,084 123,280 

Additions   0   0   577   266   0   754 1,877 3,474 

Transfers (a)   0   0   0   0   0   0   0   0 

Transfers to/(from) work in progress   400   255   227   0 1,891   939 (3,712)   0 

Disposals   0 (171) (1)   0   0   0   0 (172)

Classified as held for sale or for distribution to owners (2)   0   0   0   0   0   0 ( 2)

Revaluation increments/(decrements) (1,671) (4 456)   0   0   0   0   0 (6,127)

Depreciation   0 (1 943) (451) (236) (3,346) (2,789)   0 (8,765)

Carrying amount at end of period 37,330 42,021 1,550   523 10,400 19,615   249 111,688 

2016 Land
($’000)

Buildings
($’000)

Office machines,
furniture and

 equipment
($’000)

Computer
equipment

($’000)

Leasehold
improvements

($’000)
Intangible assets

($’000)

Work in
progress (c)

($’000)
Total

($’000)

Carrying amount at start of period 42,375 49,699 1,182 519 12,834 20,905 609 128,123 

Additions 0 323 478 255 0 327 5,812 7,195 

Transfers (a) (630) (119) 0 0 0 0 0 (749)

Transfers to/(from) work in progress 10 0 89 0 2,975 1,263 (4,337) 0 

Disposals 0 0 (9) (2) 0 0 0 (11)

Classified as held for sale or for distribution to owners (701) (139) 0 0 0 0 0 (840)

Revaluation increments/(decrements) (2,451) 566 0 0 0 0 0 (1,885)

Depreciation 0 (1,994) (542) (279) (3,954) (1,784) 0 (8,553)

Carrying amount at end of period 38,603 48,336 1,198 493 11,855 20,711 2,084 123,280 

(a)  The Department of Lands is the only agency with the power to sell Crown land.  The land is transferred to the Department of Lands for sale and the Department accounts for the transfer as a distribution to the owner.  The work in Progress includes 
transfers due to capitalisation of assets.

(b) The work in progress includes transfers due to capitalisation of assets.

Information on fair value measurements is provided in Note 28.
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28 Fair Value Measurements
Assets measured at fair value: 
 
 
2017

Level 1 
 
 

($’000)

Level 2 
 
 

($’000)

Level 3 
 
 

($’000)

Fair value 
At end of 

period 
($’000)

Non-current assets classified as held for sale 
or for distribution to owners (Note 23)   0   0 7,062 7,062 

Land (Note 24)   0 25,915 11,415 37,330 

Buildings (Note 24)   0 22,581 19,440 42,021 

  0 48,496 37,917 86,413 

Assets measured at fair value: 
 
 
2016

Level 1 
 
 

($’000)

Level 2 
 
 

($’000)

Level 3 
 
 

($’000)

Fair value 
At end of 

period 
($’000)

Non-current assets classified as held for sale 
or for distribution to owners (Note 23) 0 0 8,399 8,399 

Land (Note 24) 0 26,476 12,127 38,603 

Buildings (Note 24) 0 25,041 23,295 48,336 

0 51,517 43,821 95,338 

One property was transferred from Level 2 to Level 3 during the current period due to the property not 
having an active liquid market for fair value measurement.

Valuation techniques to derive Level 2 fair values
Level 2 fair values of Non-current assets held for sale or for distribution to owners, Land and Buildings   
(Office Accommodation) are derived using the market approach.  Market evidence of sales prices of 
comparable land and buildings (office accommodation) in close proximity is used to determine price per 
square metre.

Non-current assets held for sale or for distribution to owners have been written down to fair value less  
costs to sell.  Fair value has been determined by reference to market evidence of sales prices of  
comparable assets.

28 Fair Value Measurements (continued)
Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)

 
2017

NCAHFS* 
($'000)

Land 
($’000)

Buildings 
($’000)

Fair Value at start of period 8,399 12,127 23,295 

Additions   2   0   0 

Revaluation increments/(decrements) recognised in  
Other Comprehensive Income

(499) (458) (3,377)

Transfers from/(to) Level 2   0 (254)   527 

Disposals (840)   0   0 

Transfers (a)   0   0   0 

Depreciation Expense   0   0 (1,005)

Fair Value at end of period 7,062 11,415 19,440 

Total gains or losses for the period included in profit or loss,  
under ‘Other Gains’   0 0 0

 
2016

NCAHFS* 
($’000)

Land 
($’000)

Buildings 
($’000)

Fair Value at start of period 8,773 13,208 22,454 

Additions   840 0 329 

Revaluation increments/(decrements) recognised in Other 
Comprehensive Income

(1,214) (992) 70 

Transfers from/(to) Level 2   0 612 1,480 

Disposals   0 0 0 

Transfers (a)   0 (701) (139)

Depreciation Expense   0 0 (899)

Fair Value at end of period 8,399 12,127 23,295 

Total gains or losses for the period included in profit or loss,  
under ‘Other Gains’   0 0 0

(a) Assets reclassified as held for sale or for distribution to owners.

*Non-current assets classified as held for sale or for distribution to owners (see Note 23).
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28 Fair Value Measurements (continued)
Valuation processes
There were no changes in valuation techniques during the period.

Transfers in and out of a fair value level are recognised on the date of the event or change in circumstances that caused 
the transfer.  Transfers are generally limited to assets newly classified as non-current assets held for sale or for distribution 
to owners as Treasurer’s instructions require valuations of land and buildings to be categorised within Level 3 where the 
valuations will utilise significant Level 3 inputs on a recurring basis.

Fair value for existing use specialised buildings is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future 
economic benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the depreciated replacement cost.  Depreciated replacement cost is the 
current replacement cost of an asset less accumulated depreciation calculated on the basis of such cost to reflect the 
already consumed or expired economic benefit, or obsolescence, and optimisation (where applicable) of the asset. Current 
replacement cost is generally determined by reference to the market-observable replacement cost of a substitute asset of 
comparable utility and the gross project size specifications.

Fair value for restricted use land is based on market value, by either using market evidence of sales of comparable land 
that is unrestricted less restoration costs to return the site to a vacant and marketable condition (low restricted use land), 
or, comparison with market evidence for land with low level utility (high restricted use land).

Significant Level 3 inputs used by the Department are derived and evaluated as follows:

Consumed economic benefit/obsolescence of asset
These are estimated by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services).

Selection of land with restricted utility
Fair value for restricted use land is determined by comparison with market evidence for land with low level utility. Relevant 
comparators of land with low level utility are selected by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation 
Services).

Information about significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) in fair value measurements

Description Fair value 
2017 

($’000)

Fair value 
2016 

($’000)

Valuation 
technique(s)

Unobservable inputs

Land 11,415 12,127 Market Approach
Selection of land with similar  
approximate utility

Buildings 19,440 23,295
Depreciated 
Replacement Cost

Consumed economic benefit/
obsolescence of asset

28 Fair Value Measurements (continued)

Reconciliations of the opening and closing balances are provided in Notes 24 and 27.

Basis of Valuation
In the absence of market-based evidence, due to the specialised nature of some non-financial assets, these assets are 
valued at Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy on an existing use basis.  The existing use basis recognises that restrictions or 
limitations have been placed on their use and disposal when they are not determined to be surplus to requirements.  These 
restrictions are imposed by virtue of the assets being held to deliver a specific community service.

2017
($’000)

2016
($’000)

29 Intangible assets
Computer software

At cost 32,335 32,542 

Accumulated amortisation (13,716) (12,370)

18,619 20,172 

Licenses

At cost 918 260 

Accumulated amortisation (225) (78)

693 182 

Website costs

At cost 454 406 

Accumulated amortisation (151) (49)

303 357 

19,615 20,711 

30 Impairment of assets
There were no indications of impairment to property, plant and equipment or intangible assets at 30 June 2017.

The Department held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the reporting period.  At the end 
of the reporting period there were no intangible assets not yet available for use.

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2017
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2017
($’000)

2016
($’000)

31 Payables
Current

Accounts payables 7,196 4,009

Accrued expenses 6,302 1,828

Accrued salaries (a)   840 0

14,338 5,837

Non-current

Lease incentive liability 1,887 1,260

1,887 1,260

(a) Amounts owing for zero working days (2016: eight working days)

32 Provisions
Current

Employee benefits provision

Annual leave (a) 16,395 16,489 

Leave loading 1,386 1,419 

Long service leave (b) 24,873 27,209 

Annual leave travel concession   202 83 

Time off in lieu   46 114 

Commuted time off in lieu   414 401 

Public holidays   442 456 

Purchased leave   106 111 

43,864 46,282 

Other provisions

Employment on-costs (d)   639 677

  639 677

44,503 46,959

2017
($’000)

2016
($’000)

32 Provisions (continued)
Non-current

Employee benefits provision

Long service leave (b) 11,760 13,254 

Deferred Leave (c) 219 167 

11,979 13,421 

Other provisions

Employment on-costs (d) 183 206 

183 206 

12,162 13,627 

(a) Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least  
12 months after the end of the reporting period.  Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected 
to occur as follows:

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 16,106 15,915

More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period 290 574

16,396 16,489

(b) Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for 
at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.  Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is 
expected to occur as follows:

Within 12   months of the end of the reporting period 17,944 15,615

More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period 18,690 24,848

36,634 40,463

(c) Deferred salary scheme liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement 
for at least 12 months after the reporting period.  Actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:

More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period 219 167

219 167
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2017
($’000)

2016
($’000)

32 Provisions (continued)
(d) The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment on-costs including 

workers’ compensation insurance.  The provision is the present value of expected future payments.  The associated 
expense, apart from the unwinding of the discount (finance cost), is disclosed in note 12 ‘Other Expenses’.

Movements in Other Provisions
Movements in each class of provisions during the financial year, other than employee benefits, are set out below.

Employee on-cost provision

Carrying amount at start of period 883 840 

Additional provisions recognised 337 402 

Payments/other sacrifices of economic benefits (398) (359)

Carrying amount at end of period 822 883 

33 Equity
The Government holds the equity interest in the Department on behalf of the community.  Equity represents the residual 
interest in the net assets of the Department.  The asset revaluation surplus represents that portion of equity resulting from 
the revaluation of non-current assets.

Contributed equity
Balance at the start of period 100,715 97,051

Contributions by owners

Capital appropriation 2,306 4,090

Transfer of net assets from other agencies

Transfer of building 0 323

Total contributions by owners 2,306 4,413

Distributions to owners

Transfer of net assets to other agencies

Transfer of land and buildings to the Department of Lands (840) (749)

Total distributions to owners (840) (749)

Balance at end of period 102,181 100,715

2017
($’000)

2016
($’000)

33 Equity (continued)
Reserves
Asset revaluation surplus

Balance at the start of period 71,217 74,316

Net revaluation increments/(decrements)

Land (2,262) (3,642)

Buildings (4,364) 543

Balance at end of period 64,591 71,217

Accumulated surplus/(deficit)
Balance at the start of period (13,118) (22,421)

Result for the period 1,309 9,303

Balance at end of period (11,809) (13,118)

Total equity at end of period 154,963 158,814

34 Notes to the Statement of Cash Flow
Reconciliation of cash
Cash at the end of the reporting period as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items in the 
Statement of Financial Position as follows:

Current
Cash and cash equivalents (see note 2(l)) 19,400 18,270 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents (see note 2(l) & 19) 1,360 1,652 

20,760 19,922 

Non-Current
Restricted cash and cash equivalents (see note 2(l) & 19) 813 0

813 0

The 2015/16 comparative has been restated to account for the reclassification  
of the Commonwealth Paid Parental Leave Scheme to Restricted Cash.

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2017
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2017
($’000)

2016
($’000)

34 Notes to the Statement of Cash Flow (continued)

Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided by/ 
(used in) operating activities
Net cost of services (591,505) (575,106)

Non-cash items
Depreciation and amortisation expense (note 8) 8,765 8,553 

Doubtful debts expense (note 12)   125 99 

Resources received free of charge (note 18) 1,633 2,567 

Net loss on sale of property, plant and equipment (note 17)   173 11 

Adjustment for other Non-Cash Items (104) 443 

(Increase)/decrease in assets
Current receivables (a)   427 (1,142)

Current prepayments (3,250) (720)

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities
Current payables (a) 8,501 (5,898)

Current provisions (2,455) 2,330 

Non-current provisions (838) 1,905 

Change in GST in receivables/payables (b) (979) 248 

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities (579,507) (566,710)

(a) Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/payable in respect of GST and the receivable/payable in 
respect of the sale/purchase of non-current assets are not included in these items as they do not form part of the 
reconciling items.

(b) This is the net GST paid/received, i.e. cash transactions.

2017
($’000)

2016
($’000)

35 Services provided free of charge
During the period the following services were provided to other agencies free of charge for functions outside the normal 
operations of the Department:

Department of Local Government and Communities - Corporate Support and 
Accommodation

3 25

3 25

The decrease in services provided free of charge is due to the cessation of the Service Level Agreement with the 
Department of Local Government and Communities.

36 Commitments
Capital expenditure commitments
Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure additional to the amounts reported in the financial 
statements, are payable as follows:

- Within 1 year 2,308 47 

- Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 236 2,150 

2,544 2,197 

The capital commitments include amounts for:

Leasehold improvements to office accommodation 2,544 2,197 

2,544 2,197 

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments
Commitments for minimum lease payments are payable as follows:

- Within 1 year 11,662 10,354 

- Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 22,391 19,558 

- Later than 5 years 13,430 11,026 

47,483 40,938 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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2017
($’000)

2016
($’000)

36 Commitments (continued)
The Department leases its motor vehicle fleet and certain office premises. The lease expenditure is expensed as it is 
incurred. Motor vehicle leasing arrangements are under the terms of the State Fleet Funding Facility Contract administered 
by State Fleet - State Supply Commission.

Other expenditure commitments
Other expenditure commitments relating to consumables contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not 
recognised as liabilities, are payable as follows:

- Within 1 year 540 1,115

540 1,115

Total Commitments 50,567 44,250

37 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
Contingent liabilities
The Department’s policy is to disclose as a contingency any obligations which may arise due to special circumstances or 
events. At the date of this report the Department is not aware of any material future obligations, except for the following:

There are currently a number of legal cases pending for which the outcomes are not 
certain. The State Solicitor’s Office has estimated that a total amount of $4,976,736 
may be payable as compensation to claimants at some future point in time. While this 
is acknowledged as a contingent liability of the Department, it has yet to be determined 
whether the Department will ultimately be responsible for funding the actual amounts 
paid as compensation, if any.

4,977 4,671

Liability for payments to Technology One for potential contractual obligations for the 
Financial Management Information System project.

1,254 0

6,231 4,671

Contingent assets
A rebate from Riskcover for adjustments in insurance cover premiums in relation to 
Motor Vehicle adjustments for 2015/16 is estimated at $111,913 112 0

A rebate from Riskcover for adjustments in insurance cover in relation to Worker’s 
Compensation. 167 0

279 0

38 Events occurring after the end of the reporting period
The Department for Child Protection and Family Support was abolished on 30 June 2017 and became part of the 
Department of Communities, which was established on 1 July 2017.  All assets and liabilities of the Department for Child 
Protection and Family Support as at 30 June 2017 were transferred to the Department of Communities as opening 
balances on 1 July 2017 together with all the employees. 

39 Explanatory statement
All variances between estimates (original budget) and actual results for 2017, and between the actual results for 2016 
and 2017 are shown below. Narratives are provided for key variations selected from observed major variances, which are 
generally greater than:

-       5% and $12.5 million for the Statements of Comprehensive Income and Cash Flows; and
-       5% and $4.3 million for the Statement of Financial Position.

Variance 
Note

Estimate 

2017 (a) 

($’000)

Actual 
2017 

($’000)

Actual 
2016 

($’000)

Variance 
between 
estimate 

and actual 
($’000)

Variance 
between 

actual 
results 

for 2017 
and 2016 

($’000)

Statement of Comprehensive 
Income

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses
Employee benefits expense 243,225 243,509 242,181   284 1,328 

Supplies and services 46,384 52,175 54,112 5,792 (1,937)

Depreciation and amortisation 
expense

8,456 8,765 8,553   309   212 

Accommodation expenses 30,457 30,455 30,083 (2)   372 

Grants and subsidies A 125,792 130,635 115,932 4,843 14,703 

Funding for services 180,092 171,865 167,224 (8,227) 4,641 

Loss on disposal of non-current 
assets

  0   173   11   173   162 

Other expenses 5,768 5,477 6,498 (290) (1,019)

Total cost of services 640,174 643,054 624,594 2,882 18,462 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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39 Explanatory statement (continued)
Variance 

Note
Estimate 

2017 (a) 

($’000)

Actual 
2017 

($’000)

Actual 
2016 

($’000)

Variance 
between 
estimate 

and actual 
($’000)

Variance 
between 

actual 
results 

for 2017 
and 2016 

($’000)

Income
Revenue
User charges and fees 6,923 7,048 7,084 125 (36)

Commonwealth grants and 
contributions

38,624 42,009 40,732 3,385 1,277 

Other revenue 240 2,492 1,672 2,252 820 

Total revenue 45,787 51,549 49,488 5,762 2,061 

Total income other than income 
from State Government

45,787 51,549 49,488 5,762 2,061 

NET COST OF SERVICES 594,387 591,505 575,106 (2,882) 16,401 

Income from State Government
Service appropriation 582,885 582,511 567,465 (374) 15,046 

Services received free of charge 1,499 1,633 2,567 134 (934)

Royalties for Regions Fund 8,871 7,298 13,527 (1,573) (6,229)

Other funds received from State 
Government

0 1,372 850 1,372 522 

Total income from State 
Government

593,255 592,814 584,409 (441) 8,405 

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE 
PERIOD

(1,132) 1,309 9,303 2,439 (7,996)

39 Explanatory statement (continued)
Variance 

Note
Estimate 

2017 (a) 

($’000)

Actual 
2017 

($’000)

Actual 
2016 

($’000)

Variance 
between 
estimate 

and actual 
($’000)

Variance 
between 

actual 
results 

for 2017 
and 2016 

($’000)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Items not reclassified 
subsequently to profit or loss

Changes in asset revaluation 
surplus

(1) (6,626) (3,099) (6,625) (3,527)

Total other comprehensive 
income

(1) (6,626) (3,099) (6,625) (3,527)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE PERIOD

(1,133) (5,317) 6,204 (4,186) (11,523)

(a) The budget estimates have been reclassified to align with the financial statement classification.

Major Estimate and Actual (2017) Variance Narratives
There were no major variances between actual and estimated results.

Major Actual (2017) and Comparative (2016) Variance Narratives
(A) Grants and subsidies was $13.7 million (11.8%) higher than the 2016 Actual due to increased expenditure in the 

Hardship Utility Grant Scheme, childrens’ subsidies and client costs.   

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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39 Explanatory statement (continued)
Variance 

Note
Estimate 

2017 (a) 

($’000)

Actual 
2017 

($’000)

Actual 
2016 

($’000)

Variance 
between 
estimate 

and actual 
($’000)

Variance 
between 

actual 
results 

for 2017 
and 2016 

($’000)

Statement of Financial Position

ASSETS
Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 7,137 19,400 18,270 12,263 1,130 

Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents

46 1,360 1,652 1,314 (292)

Receivables 3,090 4,312 3,884 1,222 428 

Other current assets 1,807 5,777 2,527 3,970 3,250 

Non-current assets classified as 
held for sale or for distribution 
to owners

8,773 7,062 8,399 (1,711) (1,337)

Total Current Assets 20,853 37,911 34,732 17,058 3,179 

Non-Current Assets
Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents

708 813 0 05 813 

Amounts receivable for services 77,441 77,441 68,485 0 8,956 

Property, plant and equipment 1, B 89,594 81,424 88,630 (8,170) (7 206)

Leasehold improvements 9,648 10,400 11,855 752 (1,455)

Work in progress 609 249 2,084 (360) (1,835)

Intangible assets 16,828 19,615 20,711 2,787 (1,096)

Total Non-Current Assets 194,828 189,942 191,765 (4,886) (1,823)

TOTAL ASSETS 215,681 227,853 226,497 12,172 1,356 

39 Explanatory statement (continued)
Variance 

Note
Estimate 

2017 (a) 

($’000)

Actual 
2017 

($’000)

Actual 
2016 

($’000)

Variance 
between 
estimate 

and actual 
($’000)

Variance 
between 

actual 
results 

for 2017 
and 2016 

($’000)

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities

Payables 6,110 14,338 5,837 8,228 8,501 

Provisions 43,981 44,503 46,959 522 (2,456)

Total Current Liabilities 56,201 58,841 52,796 2,640 6,045 

Non-Current Liabilities
Payables 0 1,887 1,260 1,887 627 

Provisions 12,149 12,162 13,627 13 (1,465)

Total Non-Current Liabilities 12,149 14,049 14,887 1,900 ( 838)

TOTAL LIABILITIES 68,350 72,890 67,683 4,540 5,207 

NET ASSETS 147,331 154,963 158,814 7,632 (3,851)

EQUITY
Contributed equity 101,840 102,181 100,715 341 1,466 

Reserves 2, C 74,316 64,591 71,217 (9,725) (6 626)

Accumulated (deficit) (22,715) (11,809) (13,118) 10,906 1,309 

TOTAL EQUITY 153,441 154,963 158,814 1,522 (3,851)

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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39 Explanatory statement (continued)
a) The budget estimates have been reclassified to align with the financial statement classification.

Major Estimate and Actual (2017) Variance Narratives
1) Property, plant and equipment is $8.2 million (9.1%) lower than the original budget mainly due to a devaluation of 

property assets.

2) Reserves is $9.7 million (13.1%) lower than the original budget mainly due to a devaluation of property assets.

Major Actual (2017) and Comparative (2016) Variance Narratives
B) Property, plant and equipment is $7.2 million (8.1%) lower than the 2016 Actual mainly due to a devaluation of 

property assets.

C) Reserves is $6.6 million (9.3%) lower than the 2016 Actual mainly due to a devaluation of property assets. 

39 Explanatory statement (continued)
Variance 

Note
Estimate 

2017 (a) 

($’000)

Actual 
2017 

($’000)

Actual 
2016 

($’000)

Variance 
between 
estimate 

and actual 
($’000)

Variance 
between 

actual 
results 

for 2017 
and 2016 

($’000)

Statement of Cash Flows

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE 
GOVERNMENT
Receipts

Service appropriation 573,929 573,555 556,860 (374) 16,695 

Capital appropriations 699 2,306 4,090 1,607 (1,784)

Royalties for Regions Fund 8,871 7,298 13,527 (1,573) (6,229)

Other funds received from  
State Government

0 1,372 ,850 1,372 522 

Net cash provided by State 
Government

583,499 584,531 575,327 1,032 9,204 

Utilised as follows:
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING 
ACTIVITIES
Payments

Employee benefits (241,811) (245,660) (243,975) (3,849) (1,685)

Supplies and services (47,178) (52,031) (52,144) (4,853) 113 

Accommodation (30,057) (30,643) (29,993) (586) (650)

Grants and subsidies (125,792) (127,249) (115,451) (1,457) (11,798)

Funding for services (178,204) (170,183) (167,304) 8,021 (2,879)

GST payments on purchases (31,865) (31,687) (28,632) 178 (3,055)

Other payments (5,701) (5,245) (6,332) 456 1,087 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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39 Explanatory statement (continued)
(a) The budget estimates have been reclassified to align with the financial statement classification.

Major Estimate and Actual (2017) Variance Narratives
There were no major variances between actual and estimated results.

Major Actual (2017) and Comparative (2016) Variance Narratives
There were no major variances between actual and comparative results.

40 Financial instruments
(a) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
Financial instruments held by the Department are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, 
receivables and payables. The Department has limited exposure to financial risks. The Department’s overall risk 
management program focuses on managing the risks identified below.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Department’s receivables defaulting on their contractual obligations 
resulting in financial loss to the Department.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period in relation to each class of recognised financial 
assets is the gross carrying amount of those assets inclusive of any allowance for impairment as shown in the table at 
note 40(c) ‘Financial instruments disclosures’ and note 20 ‘Receivables’.

Credit risk associated with the Department’s financial assets is minimal because the main receivable is the amounts 
receivable for services (holding account). In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the 
result that the Department’s exposure to bad debts is minimal.  At the end of the reporting period there were no significant 
concentrations of credit risk.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises when the Department is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.The Department is 
exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business. The Department has appropriate procedures 
to manage cash flows including drawdowns of appropriations by monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient 
funds are available to meet its commitments.

39 Explanatory statement (continued)
Variance 

Note
Estimate 

2017 (a) 

($’000)

Actual 
2017 

($’000)

Actual 
2016 

($’000)

Variance 
between 
estimate 

and actual 
($’000)

Variance 
between 

actual 
results 

for 2017 
and 2016 

($’000)

Receipts
User charges and fees 6,923 7,050 7,084 127 (34)

Commonwealth grants and 
contributions

38,624 42,033 40,712 3,409 1,321 

GST receipts on sales 12 529 310 517 219 

GST receipts from taxation 
authority

31,853 30,123 28,479 (1,730) 1,644 

Other receipts 240 3,456 536 3,216 2,920 

Net cash (used in) operating 
activities

(582,956) (579,507) (566,710) 3,448 (12,797)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING 
ACTIVITIES
Payments

Purchase of non-current assets (1,150) (3 373) (7,315) (2,223) 3,942 

Net cash (used in) investing 
activities

(1,150) (3,373) (7,315) (2,223) 3,942 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash 
and cash equivalents

(607) 1,651 1,301 2,258 349 

Cash and cash equivalents at the 
beginning of the period

8,557 19,922 18,620 11,365 1,301 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
AT THE END OF THE PERIOD

7,950 21,573 19,922 13,623 1,650 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect the 
Department’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The Department does not trade in foreign 
currency and is not materially exposed to other price risks. The Department is not exposed to interest rate risk because all 
other cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash are non-interest bearing, and have no borrowings.

40 Financial instruments (continued)
(b) Categories of Financial Instruments
The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at the end of the 
reporting period are:

2017
($’000)

2016
($’000)

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents   19,400 18,270 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 2,173 1,652 

Receivables (a) 1,912 2,504 

Amounts receivable for services 77,442 68,485 

100,927 90,911

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 14,117 5,837 

14,117 5,837 

(a) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

(c) Financial Instrument disclosures
Credit risk

The following tables details the Department’s maximum exposure to credit risk, and the ageing analysis of financial assets. 
The Department’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of financial 
assets as shown below. The table discloses the ageing of financial assets that are past due but not impaired and impaired 
financial assets. 

The Department does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements relating to the financial assets it 
holds.

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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40 Financial instruments (continued)
Ageing analysis of financial assets

Past due but not impaired

Carrying amount
($’000)

Not past due and
 not impaired

($’000)

Up to 
1 month
($’000)

1-3 months
($’000)

3 months to 
1 year

($’000)
1-5 years

($’000)

Impaired
financial assets

($’000)

2017      
Cash and cash equivalents 19,400 19,400   0   0   0   0 0 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 2,173 2,173   0   0   0   0 0 
Receivables (a) 1,912   711   73   192   282   371 283 
Amounts receivable for services 77,442 77,441   0   0   0   0 0 

100,927 99,725   73   192   282   371 283 

2016
Cash and cash equivalents 18,270 18,270 0 0 0 0 0 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 1,652 1,652 0 0 0 0 0 
Receivables (a) 2,504 1,159 474 34 77 436 324 
Amounts receivable for services 68,485 68,485 0 0 0 0 0 

90,911 89,566 474 34 77 436 324 

(a) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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40 Financial instruments (continued)
Liquidity Risk
The following table details the Department's contractual maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities.

Maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities

Interest Rate Exposure Maturity Dates

Carrying 
amount
($’000)

Fixed
interest rate

($’000)

Variable
interest rate

($’000)

Non-interest
bearing
($’000)

Nominal
amount
($’000)

Up to 1 month
($’000)

1-3 months
($’000)

3 months to
1 year

($’000)
1-5 years

($’000)

2017
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 19,400 0 0 19,400 19,400 19,400 0 0 0
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 2,173 0 0 2,173 2,173 2,173 0 0 0 
Receivables (a) 1,912 0 0 1,912 1,912 1,912 0 0 0 

Amounts receivable for services 77,442 0 0 77,442 77,442 0 0 0 77,442 

100,927 0 0 100,927 100,927 23,485 0 0 77,442 

Financial Liabilities
Payables 14,117 0 0 14,117 14,117 14,117 0 0 0

14,117 0 0 14,117  14,117  14,117  0 0 0
2016
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 18,270 0 0 18,270 18,270 18,270 0 0 0
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 1,652 0 0 1,652 1,652 1,652 0 0 0
Receivables (a) 2,504 0 0 2,504 2,504 2,504 0 0 0
Amounts receivable for services 68,485 0 0 68,485 68,485 0 0 0 68,485

90,911 0 0 90,911 90,911 22,426 0 0 68,485

Financial Liabilities
Payables 5,837 0 0 5,837 5,837 5,837 0 0 0

5,837 0 0 5,837 5,837 5,837 0 0 0

(a) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

Fair values
All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the Statement of Financial Position, whether they are carried at cost or fair value,  
are recognised at amounts that represent a reasonable approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated in the applicable notes.
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41 Compensation of Key Management Personnel
The Department has determined that key management personnel include responsible Minister(s) and senior officers of the 
Department. However, the Department is not obligated to compensate the responsible Minister(s) and therefore disclosures 
in relation to Ministers’ compensation may be found in the Annual Report on State Finances.

Total compensation for key management personnel, comprising the accountable authority and other senior officers of the 
Department for the reporting period are presented within the following bands: 

Compensation Band $ 2017 2016
410,001 - 420,000 1 0

370,001 - 380,000 1 0

360,001 - 370,000 1 1

340,001 - 350,000 2 0

220,001 - 230,000 1 3

210,001 - 220,000 1 0

200,001 - 210,000 0 1

190,001 - 200,000 0 2

10,001 - 20,000 1 0

2017
($’000)

2016
($’000)

Short-term employee benefits 1,175 1,305

Post-employment benefits 136 160

Other long-term benefits 158 156

Termination benefits 835 0

Total compensation of senior officers 2,304 1,621

Total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Department in respect of senior officers. 
The number of senior officers increased in the current year due to cease of services of employees, resulting in acting 
arrangements.

No senior officers are members of the Pension Scheme.

2017
($’000)

2016
($’000)

42 Remuneration of auditor
Remuneration payable to the Auditor General for the financial year is as follows:

Auditing the accounts, controls, financial statements and key performance indicators 181 180

Auditing Royalties for Regions 4 4

185 184

43 Special Purpose Accounts
Special Purpose Account section 16(1)(c) of FMA

Trust Statement No 3
Community Services Trust

The purpose of the account is to hold monies in trust for children under the care of the Department and such other 
monies as are received from any other person or organisation for the provision of amenities in Departmental facilities 
which house and for such other children specific purposes as directed by the donors.

Balance at the start of period 287 319

Receipts 556 719

Payments (687) (751)

Balance at the end of period 156 287

Trust Statement No 27
Children and Young People in Chief Executive Officer's Care Private Cash Account

The purpose of the account is to hold private funds on behalf of individual children under the guardianship of the 
Director General, Department for Child Protection and Family Support.

Balance at the start of period 115 156

Receipts 49 3

Payments (27) (44)

Balance at the end of period 137 115

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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2017
($’000)

2016
($’000)

43 Special Purpose Accounts (continued)
Special Purpose Account section 16(1)(d) of FMA

Trust Statement No 28
Indian Ocean Territories Service Delivery Program

The purpose of the account is to hold funds received from the Commonwealth for funding for the Indian Ocean 
Territories Service Delivery Program.

Balance at the start of period   59 45

Receipts   353 330

Payments (336) (316)

Balance at the end of period   76 59

44 Special Purpose Accounts created, amended or closed during the year
Trust Statement No 15
Bill Paying Service

The purpose of the special purpose account is to hold funds received by the Department on behalf of pensioners and 
Centrepay recipients in accordance with their authority.

This trust account was closed during the reporting period as a result of nil activity for a number of years. 

45 Related Bodies
The Department did not have any related bodies during the financial period.

2017
($’000)

2016
($’000)

46 Affiliated Bodies
The Department provides grants to the following non-government affiliated bodies:

Forgotten Australians Coming Together (FACT) Inc. 286 215

Kinship Connections Aboriginal Corporation 226 60

Stopping Family Violence Inc. 318 0

830 275

The organisations listed above are not subject to operational control by the Department.

47 Supplementary financial information
(a) Write-offs
During the reporting period, $169,000 (2016: $111,000) was written off the Department’s asset register under the 
authority of:

The Accountable Authority

Salary overpayments   7   5 

Subsidy overpayments (foster carers)   156   91 

Portable and attractive items   0   1 

Fringe Benefits Tax shortfalls   0   3 

Other   6   11 

  169   111 

(b) Gifts of public property   
Gifts of public property provided by the Department 1 1

(c) Act of grace payments
     During the reporting period there were no Act of Grace payments made under the authority of The Minister (2016: Nil).

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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